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In 2012, British American Tobacco 
Malaysia placed its foot solidly into a 

historical territory rarely reached by most 
organisations. It celebrated its 100 years 

of continuous operations in Malaysia.
From 1912 to 2012 the Company has 

grown together with the nation into one 
that is involved in the full spectrum of 

the tobacco industry, with an unrivalled 
portfolio of highly successful 

international brands, and is ranked 
amongst the top 25 public listed entities 

in the country.
Throughout these years, British American 

Tobacco Malaysia has strived to create 
value for all its stakeholders, and most 
importantly its shareholders. This was 

achieved through exemplary leadership 
that has led to a century of growth 

supported by the efficient productivity of 
a winning organisation that has 

conducted the business in a responsible 
manner.



1912 

Establishment of British 
American Tobacco Co. (Straits) 
Limited to distribute British 
American Tobacco cigarettes in 
Malaya, Singapore and Borneo. 
British American Tobacco Co. 
(Straits) Limited establish its first 
office at 9 MacArthur Street in 
Kuala Lumpur.

1926 

British American 
Tobacco’s first 
manufacturing facility in 
Malaya was established 
in 1926. The Company 
took over a building 
which was previously 
used as a depot by 
Fraser & Neave to set up 
its first manufacturing 
facility in the country. The first Chairman 

of British American 
Tobacco in the United 
Kingdom, James ‘Buck’ 
Duke.

1957 

 Malaya declares independence on 31st August!

1961

British American 
Tobacco was listed on 
the Malaysian Stock 
Exchange on 27th 
October 1961, with 
6,375,000 of ordinary 
shares issued.

1961

Official opening of the Malaysian 
Tobacco Company Berhad (MTC) 
manufacturing facility in Sungai 
Besi, Kuala Lumpur officiated by 
the first Prime Minister of Malaysia 
Tunku Abdul Rahman. 

1962 

Official opening 
of Rothmans 
manufacturing facility 
in Petaling Jaya, 
Selangor officiated by 
the first Prime Minister 
of Malaysia Tunku 
Abdul Rahman. 

1999 

Merger of Malaysian 
Tobacco Company 
Berhad (MTC) and 
Rothmans of Pall Mall 
(Malaysia) Berhad on 
3rd November 1999 to 
form British American 
Tobacco Malaysia. 

2012 

British American Tobacco Malaysia employees celebrate the Company’s 
100 year presence in the country, cementing its leadership in the Malaysian 
tobacco industry.

2012

Centennial celebration 
graced by H.R.H The 
Sultan of Selangor.
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BRiTiSH AMERiCAN TOBACCO 
(MALAySiA) BERHAD CAN TRACE 
iTS HERiTAgE AS FAR BACK AS 
1912 wiTH THE ESTABLiSHMENT 
OF BRiTiSH AMERiCAN TOBACCO 
CO. (STRAiTS) LiMiTED. FROM iTS 
HUMBLE BEgiNNiNg, BRiTiSH 
AMERiCAN TOBACCO MALAySiA 
HAS COME A LONg wAy TO 
BECOME A COMPANy wHiCH iS 
iNvOLvED iN THE FULL 
SPECTRUM OF THE TOBACCO 
iNDUSTRy, FROM LEAF BUyiNg 
AND PROCESSiNg TO 
MANUFACTURiNg, MARKETiNg 
AND DiSTRiBUTiON. 

Today, British American Tobacco Malaysia 
manufactures and markets an unrivalled 
portfolio of highly successful international 
brands, designed to meet diverse consumer 
preferences. 

in 2012, British American Tobacco Malaysia 
celebrated its 100 years in Malaysia. More 
importantly, what is significant throughout 
these 100 years is the effort that British 
American Tobacco Malaysia has demonstrated 
to being a corporate citizen that adds value to 
the communities in which it operates. 



we share British American tobacco p.l.c’s vision to 
achieve leadership of the global tobacco industry in 
order to create long-term shareholder value. we believe 
that delivering growth is key to achieving this vision to 
lead in the tobacco industry. however, leadership is 
not an end in itself. A company that leads its industry 
and is seen to have a sustainable business will also be 
valued more highly.

we define leadership in both a quantitative and 
qualitative sense. Quantitively, we seek volume 
leadership among our competitors and in the longer 
term, value leadership. however, quantitative measures 
do not in themselves address all the things we must 

do as a company. we take a long-term view, focusing on 
the quality of our business and how we work. As a result, 
qualitatively, we seek to be recognised as an industry 
leader and to be the partner of first choice for our valued 
stakeholders.

we will do this by continuing to demonstrate that we are 
a responsible tobacco company with a sustainable business 
and outstanding people. our strategy is designed to 
deliver our vision and as a result, build shareholder value. 
it is based on growth, funded by productivity and delivered 
by a winning organisation that acts responsibly at all 
times.

   strong  foundation 
                                        for tomorrow’s business growth.
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group financial year ended 31 december 2012

revenue

4,365
(rm million)

profit before tax

1,054
(rm million)

results
at a glance

our vision
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standards of Business conduct

statement on corporate governance

Audit committee report

statement on risk management and internal control

driving towards sustainable growth

enhancing operational performance and deploying 
resources effectively to fuel business growth
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net profit

798
(rm million)

shareholders’ fund

485
(rm million)

net returns on 
shareholders’ fund

165
(%)

net earnings 
per share

279
(sen)

net dividend 
per share

272
(sen)

form of proxy

Administrative details for British American tobacco malaysia
fifty-second Annual general meeting

notice of Annual general meeting

corporate directory

particulars of properties

Analysis of shareholdings

notes to the financial statements

summary of significant Accounting policies

statements of cash flows

company statement of changes in equity

consolidated statement of changes in equity

Balance sheets

statements of comprehensive income

income statements

independent Auditors’ report

statutory declaration

statement by directors

directors’ report

Attracting, developing and nurturing talent
to fuel our growth agenda

driving sustainable growth responsibly
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chairman’s 
letter

Dear Shareholders,
Sustainability may be all 
the rage these days, but 
truth be known it has been 
around for a while, just that 
it is now better articulated. 
In the fast moving world 
of business, it is a critical 
capability to be able to 
adapt and evolve to meet 
the changing and increasing 
demands of both consumers 
and stakeholders. As Charles 
Darwin once said, “It is not 
the strongest of the species 
that survives nor the most 
intelligent that survives. It 
is the one that is the most 
adaptable to change.”

in the world, Japan has one of the highest numbers 
of companies over a hundred years old. i believe 
part of the reason behind this is a deep rooted value 
set, focused on the consumer and consideration for 
the environment in which they operate. it is no 
coincidence that these are the very same sustainable 
business practices at the heart of our organisation.  

datuk Mohamad salim bin fateh din
Chairman
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+10.9 percent
increase in profit after tax 
compared to preceding 
financial year.

highlights

+0.24 percent
increase in domestic volume 
growth compared to 
preceding financial year  
a first in 10 years.

the domestic volume growth (+0.24 percent), albeit 
modest, was the first domestic volume growth in 10 years. 
source of this growth is a 2012 market share gain of  
1.6 percentage points, largely attributed to the fantastic 
performance of dunhill which achieved a record market 
share of 47.3 percent. essentially, almost one in every two 
malaysian smokers now chooses dunhill. the overall 
market has remained relatively constant due to the 
increased enforcement on illicit cigarettes trade by 
government agencies, together with a stable excise 
environment, supporting the fight against illegal cigarettes.

substantial growth in export contract manufacturing 
volume (+17 percent cigarettes, +66 percent semi-finished 
goods) was also experienced in 2012. in addition to the 
volume growth, the earnings from the export contract 
manufacturing business were further accelerated by an 
improvement in margins following a change from toll to 
contract costing model. linked to this however, the group 
did have to acquire approximately rm119 million of 
incremental leaf and material inventory.

operating expenses were 17.5 percent lower than the 
prior year, mainly due to non-recurring charges taken in 
2011 (rm46 million), and lower corporate incentives in 
2012 (rm42 mil l ion). An impairment charge of  
rm19 million was booked in 2012 in respect of our forest 
development prepayment. in recent years, the landscape 
with respect to carbon credits has evolved – leading to the 
reassessment of the recoverability of the carrying value of 
the asset. whilst the group has fully impaired the asset, it 
still considers the investment an important pillar of our 
responsibility commitment to reduce the enviromental 
impact of our operations.

Dividends
the Board of directors has recommended a fourth interim 
dividend of 77 sen per share and no final dividend, making 
a total net dividend payout for the financial year to be  
272 sen per share. By paying quarterly interim dividends 
and no final dividend, we are in fact advancing returns to 
shareholders. no special dividend was declared in 2012.

on the surface, our 2012 total net dividend appears to be 
a decrease of 1.4 percent over the 2011 total dividend of 
276 sen per share. however, by way of clarification, the 
payment of the 30 sen per share special dividend in 2011 
was part of our commitment to return excess cash to 
shareholders. on a like for like basis, excluding the special 
dividend, our 2012 dividend is a 10.6 percent growth over 
2011 and a consistently high payout of earnings.

we fully recognise that whilst aggressively competing in 
the marketplace, there is a need to balance the associated 
social, environmental and economic considerations, thus 
building sustainable value for our employees, shareholders 
and our other stakeholders.

in 2012, celebrating its 100 years anniversary, British 
American tobacco malaysia joins an elite group of 
centenarian companies in malaysia. with 100 years of 
continuous operations in the country, British American 
tobacco malaysia has grown into the nation’s leading 
tobacco company and its brand dunhill is the number 
one choice for consumers. it is a testament of the strength 
of our business that we have transitioned the 100 year 
mark, and have done so with pride and a remarkable set 
of 2012 results. 

personally, it was a great honour for me to be able to 
share our centennial celebrations with our employees, 
business partners and stakeholders, all of whom have 
supported the company as we grew from strength to 
strength through the last century. 

on behalf of the Board of directors, i am indeed pleased 
to present the Annual report and financial statement of 
British American tobacco malaysia for the financial year 
ended 31 december 2012.

Performance review

the group recorded profit after tax of rm798 million, an 
increase of 10.9 percent on 2011 and the best performance 
since 2008. key drivers of this performance was the 
increase in both domestic and export contract 
manufacturing volume and margins, combined with lower 
operating expenses.

BRITISH AMERICAN TOBACCO (MALAYSIA) BERHAD
annual report 2012
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Prospects for 2013

the landscape of our controversial industry will continue 
to evolve and will no doubt be equally challenging in 
2013. illegal cigarettes trade continues to be a major 
problem for the nation and the legal industry. while much 
has been done to clamp down on the illegal cigarettes 
trade, more still needs to be done. these unlawful 
businesses operate without adherence to the country’s 
regulations, leaching valuable income from the government 
and stimulating criminality, while at the same time the 
legal cigarette industry continues to be faced with further 
regulatory changes in 2013.

despite these challenges, with the combination of the 
performance momentum we carried forward from 2012, 
the strength of our brand portfolio, our operating capability 
and our great people, we are well placed to meet the 
challenges ahead in 2013. we remain committed to 
deliver another year of profit and value growth.

Leadership Changes

high performance leadership is at the heart of every 
successful organisation and is essential to its success. for a 
variety of reasons, some unavoidable, leadership changes 
are also inevitable within every organisation. the 2012 
leadership changes are outlined below.

dato’ chan choon ngai, who continued in his role as 
operations director post his 2010 retirement date, has 
decided to pass on the leadership mantle and enjoy his 
well-deserved retirement. so as not to lose dato’ chan’s 
great wealth of experience, he will continue to remain as 
a member of the group’s Board of directors in a non-
independent non-executive capacity. the executive 
operations director role on the Board will not be replaced.

i am also pleased to welcome mr. Joel solomon as our new 
operations director. Joel is a home-grown malaysian talent 
who started with the group as a management trainee back 
in 1999. most recently he has returned from singapore 
where he was seconded to as the regional supply planning 
manager for British American tobacco p.l.c.

mr. Allen lim, global enterprise resource planning market 
lead, has also decided to pursue his retirement at the end 
of 2012. Allen successfully led the implementation of the 
enterprise resource planning project. his role on the top 
team will not be replaced.

in march 2012, ms. cheryl wong, human resources 
director, decided to focus her career on other pursuits.  
i am pleased to welcome mr. murali thanabalan as the 
human resources director of the company.

in november 2012, mr. hendrik stoel, marketing director, 
has taken on a new role within the British American 
tobacco group. i am pleased to welcome mr. marcelo 
guimaraes as the marketing director of the company.

Both murali and marcelo bring with them significant 
experience and knowledge from their tenures in various 
British American tobacco markets around the world. i am 
certain that the group will benefit from their expertise.

i would also like to welcome mr. Azlan ibrahim, the head 
of Business development services, into British American 
tobacco malaysia’s management top team.

on behalf of the group, i would like to thank dato’ chan, 
Allen, hendrik, and cheryl for their contributions and to 
wish them the very best for the future.

Appreciation

the continued strength and success of the group as we 
go forth into the next 100 years would not be possible 
without the commitment and dedication of its people. on 
behalf of the Board of directors, i wish to thank our 
management team and staff for their dedication and 
invaluable contribution. i am confident that with their 
passion and tenacity we will continue to deliver superior 
returns to our shareholders.

finally, i would like to convey my sincere thanks and 
appreciation to all our shareholders, customers, distributors, 
investors, business partners and stakeholders, for their 
confidence and their continued support to the company. 
i wish also to thank our Board of directors for their 
guidance and support, and look forward to another 
successful year in 2013.

datuk Mohamad salim bin fateh din
Chairman

BRITISH AMERICAN TOBACCO (MALAYSIA) BERHAD
annual report 2012
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Management  
discussion and analysis

This year’s British American 
Tobacco Malaysia Annual 
Report, in line with the 
new guidelines from Bursa 
Malaysia, features a new 
reporting format, the 
Management Discussion and 
Analysis (MD&A). The aim 
of the MD&A is providing 
shareholders with a better 
understanding of the business, 
operations and financial 
position of the Company.

within the next few pages of this md&A, our shareholders 
will be provided with an overview of the business, 
operations, and a financial review of 2012 and our 
expectations for the business in 2013.

datuk William toh Ah Wah
Managing Director

BRITISH AMERICAN TOBACCO (MALAYSIA) BERHAD
annual report 2012
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2012 PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW

the year 2012 was an accomplished centennial milestone 
for British American tobacco malaysia. in the year which 
we celebrated 100 years of continuous operations in 
malaysia we marked the occasion with a strong business 
performance, growing 1.6 percentage point share of 
market, achieving new records for our flagship brand 
dunhill and delivered 9.8 percent growth in profit from 
operations. 

this impressive performance is a factor of growth in both 
our contract manufacturing and domestic margins and 
volume, together with the absence of non-recurring items 
experienced in 2011, resulting in lower operating expenses.

celebrations aside, 2012 was not without its challenges. 
illegal cigarettes continued to be a rampant force 
threatening the sustainability of the legal industry while 
robbing the government of much needed tax revenue. 
heightened enforcement and the decision to not increase 
excise for the second year running have collectively 
contributed to a 1.6 percentage point decline in illegal 
cigarettes incidence and stability for the legal sector. 
Another business challenge is the rampant sale of some 
local brands below total taxes and the minimum price set 
by the government. this again deprives the government 
of tax revenue apart from flouting the minimum price 
laws governing the sale of tobacco products.

BUSINESS & OPERATIONS

Products and Services 

British American tobacco malaysia is the largest tobacco 
company in the country in terms of market share and 
volume. our business is focused on the production and 
sales of cigarettes, and our portfolio of leading brands 
include dunhill, pAll mAll, Benson & hedges, peter 
stuyvesAnt and kent amongst others.

we employ approximately 1,000 employees who are 
involved in the full spectrum of the tobacco industry, from 
tobacco leaf cultivation, buying and processing, to the 
manufacturing, marketing, and distribution of our products. 

in addition to sales to the malaysian domestic and duty free 
markets, British American tobacco malaysia undertakes 
export contract manufacturing for British American tobacco 
p.l.c companies, predominantly in the Asia pacific region. 

the export contract manufacturing is both for cigarettes 
and ‘semi-finished goods’, i.e. processed tobacco ready for 
inclusion in cigarettes and filter rods. Approximately  
47 percent of our primary manufacturing (leaf processing) 
and 30 percent of our secondary manufacturing (cigarette 
making) is used for contract manufacturing. 

historically, the group has distributed and sold cigarettes in 
Brunei. in late 2010, the Brunei government implemented 
a 380 percent increase in excise, and as a result, legitimate 
sales in the market plummeted dramatically, being replaced 
by smuggled illicit products sold at a much lower price. 
during the year, the commercial viability of Brunei operations 
was assessed and a decision was taken to cease selling in 
the Brunei market.

Operating facilities

the group is headquartered in virginia park, petaling Jaya, 
selangor on the same site as our manufacturing facility. 
site manufacturing capacity is typically defined by the 
maximum capacity for the primary manufacturing 
department (pmd) which in our case is a three shift 
maximum of 32 billion sticks equivalent.

the group has 10 regional sales offices across malaysia 
and a leaf station in kota Bharu. in addition, part of our 
petaling Jaya site is rented out and houses the Asia pacific 
regional product centre of British American tobacco p.l.c, 
which provides research and development services to the 
group and other British American tobacco entities in the 
Asia pacific area.

Tobacco Leaf 
Growing

Cigarette
Manufacturing

Cigarette
Distribution

Tobacco 
Field

Our operations in Malaysia
from seed to smoke

BRITISH AMERICAN TOBACCO (MALAYSIA) BERHAD
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commercial Marketers and 
distributors sdn. Bhd.
(marketing and importation)

commercial importers and
distributors sdn. Bhd.
(investment holding)

the leaf tobacco development
corporation of Malaya sdn. Berhad
(purchase of tobacco leaf)

tobacco importers and
Manufacturers sdn. Berhad
(manufacturing and sale)

rothmans Brands sdn. Bhd.
(trademarks holding)

commercial Marketers and
distributors sdn. Bhd.
(incorporated in negara Brunei 
darussalam) (Advertising and 
importation)

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Distribution 

our comprehensive distr ibution 
network spans the length and breadth 
of the country, ensuring that our 
brands are available everywhere in 
malaysia. until 2011, British American 
tobacco malaysia operated a mixed 
distribution model with a combination 
of in-house direct distribution covering 
in-house key urban centres, and third 
party distributors distributing beyond 
the aforementioned centres. 

in the third quarter of 2011, British 
American tobacco malaysia moved 
solely to third party distributors for 
peninsular malaysia, completing this 
migration in 2012. similarly the 
company is  in the process of 
consolidating distribution through a 
third party in east malaysia, and this 
is expected to be completed by the 
middle of 2013.

Corporate Structure 

British American tobacco malaysia 
has two principle operating companies 
namely, tobacco importers and 
manufacturers sdn. Berhad (for 
manufacturing and sales) and 
c o m m e r c i a l  m a r k e t e r s  a n d 
distributors sdn. Bhd. (for marketing 
and importation). other wholly 
owned operating companies include 
the leaf tobacco developement 
corporation of malaya sdn. Berhad 
for purchasing of leaf and rothmans 
Brands sdn. Bhd. as trademarks 
holding company and commercial 
marketers and distributors sdn. Bhd. 
(incorporated in negara Brunei 
darussalam) for advertising and 
importation in Brunei. there were no 
changes to the group’s corporate 
structure during 2012.

British American Tobacco Malaysia Cigarette Distribution 
Nationwide and Retailers

peninsular malaysia 
distribution points

total retailers = 
approximately 80,000

east malaysia
distribution points

BRITISH AMERICAN TOBACCO (MALAYSIA) BERHAD
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our vision

growth

productivity responsiBility
winning

orgAnisAtion

OBJECTIVES & STRATEGIES

we share British American tobacco p.l.c’s vision to achieve leadership of the global tobacco industry, not just in volume 
and value, but also in the quality of our business.

Growth 

our strategy to deliver our vision begins with growth and our aim to increase market 
share, with a focus on our global drive Brands and our other international brands.

Productivity

we target continuous improvements in our cost base that will release funds to invest in 
our brands, helping us to grow our business and deliver higher returns for shareholders.

Winning Organisation

By being a winning organisation, we can ensure that we attract, develop, and retain the best people we need to execute 
and deliver on our strategy.

Responsibility

our companies and people are required to act responsibly at all times and we seek to reduce the harm caused by our 
products and our environmental footprint.

today, British American tobacco malaysia is the clear market leader of the legal malaysian tobacco industry with 
approximately 63 percent market share, and ranks amongst the top 25 companies on Bursa malaysia securities Berhad 
in terms of market capitalisation. we aim to maintain our leadership in the industry through increasing our share of the 
tobacco business and better satisfying consumer demands than our competitors. in meeting these goals, we ensure that 
we market responsibly, and in a manner sensitive to our environment. for us, leadership goes beyond just market share; 
it has to be about qualitative leadership in our eyes, and in the eyes of our stakeholders.

REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS

PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS

rM1,080 million +9.8%
  (2011: 984 million)

NET PROFIT

rM798 million +10.9%
  (2011: 720 million)

EBITDA

rM1,132 million +8.4%
  (2011: 1,044 million)

EARNINGS PER SHARE

rM279.4 sen +27.4 sen
  (2011: 252.0 sen)

REVENUE

rM4,365 million  +5.8%
  (2011: 4,127 million)

OPERATING PROFIT MARGIN

24.7%  +0.9pp
  (2011: 23.8%)

RETURN ON EQUITY

165%  -2.0pp
  (2011: 167%)

MARKET CAPITALISATION

rM17.7 billion +24.2%
  (2011: 14.3 billion)

BRITISH AMERICAN TOBACCO (MALAYSIA) BERHAD
annual report 2012
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Non-Financial Performance Indicators 

despite generally soft global economic conditions, British 
American tobacco malaysia has emerged achieving modest 
domestic volume growth (+0.24 percent) for the first time 
in 10 years. 

in 2012 the group did experience a significant 17 percent 
growth in contract manufacturing of cigarettes and a  
66 percent growth in contract manufacturing of semi-finished 
goods.

Revenue 

revenue increased by 5.8 percent, driven mainly by the 
significant increase in export contract manufacturing 
volume, and the change from a toll manufacturing to 
contract manufacturing costing model. this also led to an 
improvement in margins for this business.

whilst not as significant, the domestic volume, mix and 
margin improvement similarly contributed to the overall 
revenue growth given the relatively stable economic 
environment, increased enforcement of illicit cigarettes 
trade and a second consecutive year without an excise 
increase being announced in the national Budget.

this was however partially offset by the reclassification of 
distribution costs above gross revenue (rm18 million), 
following the restructuring of the group’s route-to-market 
distribution strategy from in-house to exclusive third party 
distribution model in the third quarter 2011.

sales volume (billion sticks)

gross revenue (rm millions)

2012

2011 4.65.79.0

7.66.79.0

Domestic/Duty Free Export Contract 
Manufacturing 
Cigarettes

Export Contract 
Manufacturing 
Semi Finished Goods

3,905

459

Malaysia 

Other Countries

2012

2011

62.6%

61.0%

within the malaysian domestic market, the group registered 
a market share growth of 1.6 percentage points in 2012 to 
achieve a full year market share of 62.6 percent. 

the primary driver of the share growth was dunhill which 
delivered a record market share of 47.3 percent, an increase 
of 2.5 percentage points from 2011. in April 2012, dunhill 
re-launched its switch capsule product offering with an 
improved pack design and product proposition. the new 
switch contributed 0.3 percentage points to the overall 
dunhill family growth.

despite a shrinking value for money segment, we have seen 
relative stability in our value for money portfolio. pAll 
mAll launched pAll mAll mint, a spearmint capsule 
product in february 2012, and relaunched its core range in 
July with a new international pack design. whilst across the 
full year pAll mAll lost 0.5 percentage points, its share of 
market was stable post re-launch in July. peter stuyvesant 
was similarly stable, experiencing only a 0.1 percent point 
decline across 2012.

Cost of sales 

the increase in cost of sales was in line with the higher 
export contract manufacturing volume and the change to 
full contract manufacturing costing model effective June 
2012. this includes higher excise due to higher domestic 
volume and the impact of the october 2012 transfer price 
uplift imposed by the royal malaysian customs. 

share of malaysian market
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Operating expenses 

the significant reduction in 2012 operating expenses is 
accounted for by four major movements: lower corporate 
incentives (rm42 million); absence of 2011 non-recurring 
charges (merchandising assets write down, redundancy costs 
and accounts related matters: rm46 million); movement 
of distribution costs above gross revenue (rm18 million); 
and offset by the impairment of our forest expenditure 
prepayment (rm19 million) in the current year. 

the group’s decision to fully impair the forest development 
asset stemmed from reassessment of recoverability of the 
carrying value of the asset. whilst the group has fully 
impaired the asset, it still considers the investment an 
important pillar of our responsibility commitment to remain 
carbon neutral. 

Profit from operations 

profit from operations increased 9.8 percent to rm1.08 
billion, namely from increased revenues from export 
contract manufacturing and lower operating expenses. 
similarly, this led to a 0.9 percent increase in operating 
profit margin to 24.7 percent.

Taxation 

the group’s effective tax rate in 2012 was only 24.3 percent, 
marginally lower than 2011 (24.7 percent) due to the 
increased interest deductibility.

Dividends 

the group continued its strong commitment to pay 
dividends at a level above 90 percent of earnings. Aiming 
to accelerate dividend payments to shareholders, the 
group again declared and paid four quarterly interim 
dividends and no final dividend. total payout for 2012 
was 272 sen per share, a 97.4 percent payout of earnings 
per share. in 2011, the total payout was 246 sen per 
share, a 97.6 percent payout (excluding the third quarter 
2011’s special dividend of 30 sen per share).

Debt structure 

the group successfully redeemed its rm400 million 
medium term notes due in september 2012 through a 
combination of cash on hand and short term borrowings. 
the group had chosen to utilise revolving credits to 
support its short term working capital requirements. this 
more flexible debt structure allowed the group to borrow 
at optimum levels thereby minimising cash holding costs, 
together with improving interest deductibility. At the end 
of 2012, the group had rm250 million of revolving credits 
with tenure of a month maturing on different dates.

in 2012, the group’s rating for the existing commercial 
papers (cp) and medium term notes (mtn) was reaffirmed 
as p1 and AAA by rating Agency malaysia. 

Working capital 

the group changed its toll manufacturing operation to full 
contract manufacturing model during the year whereby 
the group now owns the raw materials for production to 
export markets. with this change, the group required 
additional working capital for inventory which approximately 
amounted to rm120 million, circa 12 percent of cash flow 
from operations. 

operating expenses

-18%

2012

2011

431

523

BRITISH AMERICAN TOBACCO (MALAYSIA) BERHAD
annual report 2012

pg 12



total shareholders’ return

Net Dividends Capital Gain/Loss Total Shareholder Return (since 1998)
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Shareholders Return 

in 2012, the group’s share price achieved another record 
level, recording the highest share price of rm65.50  
per share in october 2012.

with the combination of the group’s excellence business 
performance, market leadership and management 
capabilities, British American tobacco malaysia’s shareholders 
once again made an  exceptional gain of rm14.80 per 
share, representing a total annual return of 29.6 percent 
which comprised of total dividends paid during the year as 
well as a strong growth in share price of 24.2 percent. 
measured since merger in 1999, this represents an impressive 
9.6 percent return per annum on a compound basis.

British American tobacco malaysia has consistently 
outperformed the ftse Bursa malaysia kuala lumpur 
composite index for the past 13 years with 2012 market 
capitalisation exceeding rm17 billion as at end of year 
2012, the highest ever since merger. the group will 
continue its firm commitment in ensuring long term 
sustainable shareholders value is delivered. 

Liquidity

the closing cash and cash equivalent amounted to rm78 million, a decrease of rm228 million from 2011.  
the group had a net cash outflow of rm228 million in 2012, rm178 million higher than 2011. earnings before interest, 
tax, depreciation and Amortisation (eBitdA) increased by rm88 million offset by higher inventory of rm119 million 
(predominantly a result of the move from toll to contract manufacturing) and higher other working capitals, interest 
payment and tax payment of rm47 million. in addition, the group reduced its borrowing by rm150 million. this was 
offset by the absence of special dividend paid in 2011 (net lower dividend by rm34 million) and lower capital 
expenditure of rm16 million. As a result of this, cash conversion was 16 percent lower than 2011.

12 months
2012

RM million

12 months
2011

RM million

Favourable/
(Adverse)

%

earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and Amortisation 
(eBitdA) 1,132 1,044 8.4

profit from operations 1,080 984 9.8

cash from operations 981 1,049 (6.5)

cash conversion 91% 107% (16.0)

decrease in cash and cash equivalents (228) (50) (178)
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REVIEW OF OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Enterprise Resource Planning Solution Implementation

in september 2012, the group successfully piloted the 
implementation of British American tobacco p.l.c’s 
enterprise resource planning solution. in assessing the 
viability of this solution, it was agreed that the cost to 
British American tobacco malaysia would not differ 
significantly from a stand alone upgrade of British American 
tobacco malaysia’s current system.

Regulatory 

in 2012, the ministry of health proposed several amendments 
to the current tobacco regulations under the control of 
tobacco product regulations 2004, which included changes 
to the pictorial health warnings, making possession of illegal 
packs of cigarettes an offence, reducing the maximum 
allowable level of tar and nicotine and introducing a maximum 
allowable level of carbon dioxide. these proposed amendments 
have yet to be implemented at the end of 2012.

the ministry of health also designated new non-smoking 
areas in Johor and pulau pinang for which smoking is 
prohibited in all buildings, premises, public places or land 
within the specified non-smoking areas, which came into 
effect in 2012.

British American tobacco malaysia is fully compliant with all 
existing legislations enacted by the government governing 
the manufacturing, marketing and sale of our products.

Litigation

in 2012, there were two significant litigation cases which 
were closed successfully. firstly, the group confirmed the 
recovery of rm1.3 million which was a demanded shortfall 
of excise duty paid during an excise increase in 2007 at 
the Appeals court and secondly, a high court decision 
that British American tobacco employees’ union (BAtue) 
could only represent employees of British American tobacco 
malaysia Berhad and not its subsidiaries was upheld at the 
federal court.
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Treasury 

the group’s foreign currency exposure has increased with 
higher export contract manufacturing volume and the shift 
from toll to full contract manufacturing. the currency 
exposure is minimised by partially hedging the net exposure 
for the next 12 months and by increasing the hedging ratio 
as the time for settlement gets nearer. the permitted range 
on the hedge ratio within 12 months of transaction date is 
50 percent to 95 percent.

this strategy is to avoid any ineffective hedges when the 
cash flow forecast changes before settlement date.

Risks 

A comprehensive explanation on the group’s approach to 
risk management and the key risks to the group is given 
in the statement on risk management and internal control 
in this report. 

Responsibility 

in 2012, we continued to be guided by our sustainability 
framework in creating value within the community, 
workplace, environment and marketplace.

our initiatives to support poverty alleviation included building 
20 homes for the hardcore poor in kedah in collaboration 
with the kedah regional development Authority. the British 
American tobacco malaysia foundation also contributed 
approximately rm3.16 million in support of a food aid 
programme for the underprivileged, by a non-profit 
organisation, the mykasih foundation. 

within our workplace, we focused on promoting better 
awareness on safe work practices through campaign, 
training and enhancing the safety of our office premises. 
we also continued to improve our environmental footprint 
in our operations by upgrading to more environment-
friendly machinery and amenities that reduced energy and 
water consumption, and waste production. 

2013 OUTLOOK

As we usher in another century of operations, British 
American tobacco malaysia will continue to ensure that our 
business is run responsibly and more importantly, sustainably. 
it is our firm belief that profitability must work hand-in 
-hand with long term sustainability and corporate 
responsibility.

the group is relatively optimistic on the outlook for 2013 
given the strength of our underlying portfolio and our 
recent market share performance. nevertheless, the ever 
present high levels of illicit cigarettes trade warrants caution 
and will remain as the main concern of the group. further, 
growth in contract manufacturing volume is contingent 
firstly on the underlying growth from source markets, 
leading to increased demand, and secondly on the 
production and format capacity to meet this demand. key 
to the sustainability of this business is quality and cost 
competitiveness.

with the group’s strategy and unwavering management 
focus on our strategic pillars of growth, productivity, 
responsibility, and winning organisation, the group is 
confident and committed to continually deliver success via 
accelerated sustainable growth and market leadership to 
maximise long term shareholders value. 
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Challenges faced by the Group for the past years

2008/2009 – significant excise increase of 20 percent by 
rm30 per mille in september 2008 resulted in another 
large tax-led price increase that further dampened the legal 
industry. in october 2009, excise increased by another 
rm10 per mille. coupled with the global financial crisis 
which resulted in high inflation, high unemployment and 
eroding purchasing power in malaysia, illicit cigarettes 
incidence increased sharply by 11.8 percent to 37.5 percent, 
leading to a decline in total industry volumes by 11.2 
percent in 2009.

2010/2011 – the government banned cigarettes with pack 
size of less than 20 sticks in June 2010 and raised excise by 
rm30 per mille in october 2010, which further fuelled 
downtrading pressure. this was particularly challenging 
given that the group’s portfolio is disproportionally skewed 
towards the premium segment. the group lost rm85 
million of profits in 2011 as a result of the full year impact 
of this ban.
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today, British American tobacco malaysia is the clear market 
leader of the malaysian cigarette industry, with approximately 
63 percent market share, and ranks amongst the top 25 
companies on Bursa malaysia securities Berhad in terms of 
market capitalisation. British American tobacco malaysia 
manufactures and markets high quality tobacco products 
designed to meet diverse consumer preferences. our 
portfolio includes well-established international names such 
as dunhill, kent and pAll mAll.

in 2012, British American tobacco malaysia celebrated its 
100 years in malaysia. the wealth of expertise, coupled with 
leading edge technology and efficient systems and processes 
employed in all aspects of our business activities, position us 
well to meet the challenges of the future. we employ about 
1,000 employees who are involved in the full spectrum of the 
tobacco industry, from leaf buying and processing to 
manufacturing, marketing and distribution. our 
comprehensive distribution network spans the length and 
breadth of the country, ensuring that our brands are available 
everywhere in malaysia.

we aim to maintain our leadership in the industry through 
increasing our share of the tobacco business and satisfying 
consumer demands better and more profitably than our 
competitors. in meeting these goals, we ensure that we 
market responsibly, and in a manner sensitive to our 
environment. for us, leadership goes beyond just market 
share. it has to be about qualitative leadership in our eyes, 
and in the eyes of our stakeholders. while the tobacco 
industry is seen as controversial, it is also an important 
industry which has a role to play in contributing to the 
growth and development of the community in which it 
operates in. British American tobacco malaysia is committed 
to fulfilling that role.

OUR PORTFOLIO
includes well-established international names 
such as dunhill, kent and pAll mAll

corporate 
profile
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British American tobacco Malaysia in the news
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Awards and achievements

1 Industry Excellence Award in the Consumer 
Products Category for National Annual Corporate 
Report Awards (NACRA) 2012

 recognition for the eleventh consecutive year for the 
company’s excellence in annual reporting, demonstrating 
high standards of corporate governance, transparency and 
accountability.

2  Silver Award in the Best Designed Annual Report 
Category for National Annual Corporate Report 
Awards (NACRA) 2012

 recognition for the company’s excellence in presentation 
and readability of the annual report to various audiences.

3  High Recognition for 2012 FinanceAsia  
Awards Poll

 recognition for the twelfth consecutive year for the 
company’s landmark achievements in overall 
management, corporate governance, corporate social 
responsibility, investor relations practices and 
commitment to strong dividend payment.

 our recognition includes:

• first place for most committed to a strong dividend 
policy.

•  fifth place for Best corporate governance.

• sixth place for Best managed company.

4. Highest Return on Equity  in the Consumer Product 
Category for The Edge Billion Ringgit Club 2012

 recognition for the third consecutive year for the company 
in achieving the highest return on equity in consumer 
products as evaluated by the edge.

5. Highest Return on Equity  among Companies with 
more than RM10 billion market capitalisation for 
The Edge Billion Ringgit Club 2012

 recognition for the company in achieving the highest 
return on equity among companies with more than rm10 
billion market capitalisation as evaluated by the edge.

6. Gold Award for Investor Relations for The Asset 
Corporate Awards 2012

 recognition for the company’s commitment to good 
investor relations.

British American tobacco malaysia has always 
placed great emphasis on managing our 
operations responsibly to achieve results. in 
2012, the company received international and 
local recognition, a testament to our high 
corporate governance standards, shareholder 
value and strong dividend payment.

1
2

3

54
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2012 corporate events highlights

JANUARY

• installed an additional 
dunhill resealable reloc 
machine. commercial 
production on this machine 
also began in January 2012.

Produk ini mengandungi lebih 4,000 bahan kimia termasuk tar, nikotina 
dan karbon monoksida yang membahayakan kesihatan.

FEBRUARY

• kick off meeting at sunway 
resorts hotel and the 
launch of the 100 years 
celebration.

• conducted financial analyst 
briefing on fourth Quarter 
2011 financial results.

• presented 15 new homes 
through British American 
tobacco malaysia 
foundation in collaboration 
with kesedAr, in gua 
musang.

• launched pAll mAll mint.

MARCH

• published the British 
American tobacco malaysia 
Annual report 2011.

APRIL

• relaunched dunhill 
switch.

• held fifty-first Annual 
general meeting.

MAY

• held British American 
tobacco malaysia family 
day in putrajaya wetlands.

• new exclusive distributors 
(edx) model successfully 
completed in peninsular 
malaysia.

JUNE

• obtained recertification for 
iso 9001: 2008, iso 
14001: 2004 and ohsAs 
18001: 2007.
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JULY

• recognised by the edge for 
achieving the highest return 
on equity in the consumer 
product category and 
highest return on equity 
among companies with 
more than rm10 billion 
market capitalisation.

• launched the new pack 
designs for pAll mAll.

AUGUST

• operations began major 
upgrading of its dry ice 
expanded tobacco (diet) 
plant.

SEPTEMBER

• successful landing of the 
global enterprise resource 
planning solution.

• Awarded the higher 
education starter kit to 
tobacco farming 
community.

OCTOBER

• conducted financial analyst 
briefing on third quarter 
2012 financial results.

NOVEMBER

• received industry excellence 
Award in the consumer 
products category and silver 
Award in the Best designed 
Annual report category for 
national Annual corporate 
report Awards 2012.

• received recognition for 
2012 financeAsia awards 
poll in categories such as 
most committed to a strong 
dividend policy, best 
corporate governance and 
best managed company.

DECEMBER

• Awarded scholarships to 
scholars pursuing higher 
education.

• British American tobacco 
malaysia centennial dinner 
graced by hrh sultan of 
selangor.

• British American tobacco 
malaysia year end Bash 
which was celebrated 
together with it kuala 
lumpur and BAss Aspac.
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corporate information

Datuk Mohamad Salim 
bin Fateh Din
dpms, dsAp, dspn, Jp, pJn
Independent Non-Executive Director
Chairman

Datuk William Toh Ah Wah
pmw, Amp, pJk
Non-Independent Executive Director

Andreas Michael Thompson
Non-Independent Executive Director

Datuk Oh Chong Peng
pJn, Jsm
Independent Non-Executive Director

Dato’ Chan Choon Ngai
dsns
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

James Richard Suttie
Non-Independent Non-Executive 
Director

Dato’ Ahmad Johari 
bin Tun Abdul Razak
dpcm, dsis, dsAp
Independent Non-Executive Director

Datuk Zainun Aishah binti Ahmad
kmn, pmp, dpmp, Jsm, pJn
Independent Non-Executive Director

Christine Lee Oi Kuan
Non-Independent Executive Director

Secretary
chan mei mae (ls0009460)
tel: +60 (3)7491 7326
fax: +60 (3)7491 3772
e-mail: claire_chan_mei_mae@bat.com

Registered Office
virginia park, Jalan universiti
46200 petaling Jaya
selangor darul ehsan
tel: +60 (3)7956 6899/7491 7100
fax: +60 (3)7955 8416
e-mail: bat_malaysia@bat.com

Company Website
www.batmalaysia.com

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Share Registrar
tricor investor services sdn. Bhd.
(company no. 118401-v)
level 17, the gardens north tower
mid valley city
lingkaran syed putra
59200 kuala lumpur
tel: +60 (3)2264 3883
fax: +60 (3)2282 1886
e-mail: lay.kiow.lim@my.tricorglobal.com

Auditors
messrs. pricewaterhousecoopers
(Af 1146)
level 10, 1 sentral
Jalan travers, kuala lumpur sentral
p.o. Box 10192
50706 kuala lumpur
tel: +60 (3)2173 1188
fax: +60 (3)2173 1288

Principal Bankers
citibank Berhad
(company no. 297089-m)

hsBc Bank malaysia Berhad
(company no. 127776-A)

malayan Banking Berhad
(company no. 3813-k)

the royal Bank of scotland Berhad
(company no. 301932-A)

Stock Exchange Listing
main market of Bursa malaysia
securities Berhad
(company no. 635998-w)
listed since: 27 october 1961
stock code: 4162
stock name: BAt

corporate structure

Note:
For the full list of the Company’s subsidiaries, 
please refer to Note 13 to the Reports and 
Financial Statements on page 164 of this 
Annual Report.

commercial Marketers and
distributors sdn. Bhd.
(marketing and importation)

commercial importers and
distributors sdn. Bhd.
(investment holding)

the leaf tobacco 
development
corporation of Malaya 
sdn. Berhad
(purchase of tobacco leaf)

tobacco importers and
Manufacturers sdn. Berhad
(manufacturing and sale)

rothmans Brands sdn. Bhd.
(trademarks holding)

commercial Marketers and
distributors sdn. Bhd.
(incorporated in negara 
Brunei darussalam)
(Advertising and importation)

100%100%

100%100%

100%

100%
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unwavering vision to be the best in the  
tobacco business. 

100years of 

LEADERSHIP



Profile of directors

datuk mohamad salim bin fateh din was appointed chairman of British 
American tobacco (malaysia) Berhad on 11 April 2012. he was also 
appointed chairman of the remuneration and nomination committees.

datuk william toh Ah wah was appointed a director of British American 
tobacco (malaysia) Berhad on 5 march 2009 and as managing director of 
the company on 1 october 2009.

datuk william toh holds a Bachelor of commerce from the concordia 
university, montreal, canada. he joined rothmans of pall mall (malaysia) 
Berhad in 1981 as a management trainee, now British American tobacco 
(malaysia) Berhad and held various marketing roles including Area manager 

DATUK MOHAMAD SALIM 
BIN FATEH DIN
dpms, dsAp, dspn, Jp, pJn
(independent non-executive director)
Chairman
malaysian, Age 56 years

DATUK OH CHONG PENG
pJn, Jsm
(independent non-executive director)
malaysian, Age 68 years

DATUK WILLIAM TOH AH WAH
pmw, Amp, pJk
(non-independent executive director)
Managing Director
malaysian, Age 56 years

datuk oh chong peng was appointed a non-executive director of the then 
rothmans of pall mall (malaysia) Berhad in January 1998, now British American 
tobacco (malaysia) Berhad.

he undertook his accountancy training in london and qualified as a chartered 
Accountant in 1969. he is a fellow of the institute of chartered Accountants, 
england and wales (icAew) as well as a member of the malaysian institute of 
certified public Accountants (micpA) and the malaysian institute of Accountants 
(miA).

datuk oh joined coopers & lybrand (now known as pricewaterhousecoopers) 
in london in 1969 and in malaysia in 1971. he was a partner of coopers & 
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companies; and is the non-executive chairman of gch 
retail (malaysia) sdn. Bhd.; a commission member of the 
malaysian communications and multimedia commission, 
and the chairman of the malaysia-pakistan Business 
council. he is also a long-serving member of the Board of 
trustees at the yayasan pendidikan cheras.

since his appointment to the Board of directors, datuk 
mohamad salim has attended three Board meetings in the 
financial year ended 31 december 2012.

datuk mohamad salim does not have any family 
relationship with any director and/or major shareholder of 
British American tobacco (malaysia) Berhad, nor any 
conflict of interests in any business arrangement involving 
the company. he has had no convictions for any offences 
within the past ten years.

(2005-2008), the Area director of British American tobacco 
south Asia Area (2007-2008), the Area director of the 
indonesia cluster (covering the markets of indonesia, thailand 
and philippines) (2008-2009) and the regional project 
manager of British American tobacco Asia pacific region 
limited (2008-2009).

datuk william toh is a member of remuneration committee 
and the executive compensation committee of the company.
datuk william toh attended all four Board meetings in the 
financial year ended 31 december 2012.

datuk william toh does not have any family relationship with 
any director and/or major shareholder of British American 
tobacco (malaysia) Berhad, nor any conflict of interests in any 
business arrangement involving the company. he has had no 
convictions for any offences within the past ten years.

Accounting standards Board (mAsB) (2003-2009). he was 
chairman of land & general Berhad (1999-2007) and nanyang 
press holdings Berhad (2001-2005) and was a board member 
of rashid hussain Berhad group of companies (1998-2003) 
and star publications (m) Bhd (1987-2009).

datuk oh is the chairman of the Audit committee and a 
member of the remuneration committee and nomination 
committee of the company.

datuk oh attended all of the four Board meetings which were 
held in the financial year ended 31 december 2012.

datuk oh does not have any family relationship with any 
director and/or major shareholder of British American tobacco 
(malaysia) Berhad, nor any conflict of interests in any business 
arrangement involving the company. he has had no convictions 
for any offences within the past ten years.

datuk mohamad salim through gapurna sdn. Bhd. and its 
group of companies, owns and manages construction, 
property investment and property development businesses. 
some of the hallmark projects undertaken by datuk 
mohamad salim included the 348 sentral at kl sentral, 
and the ongoing pJsentral garden city, both hailed as 
industry benchmarks geared towards the highest standards 
of the green Building index (gBi) as well as leadership in 
energy & environmental design (leed). other notable 
forays of datuk mohamad salim was the successful re-
engineering of the design of the sepang distribution 
centre for retailer giant. he is also known as a pioneer 
who customised and built the “super store” concept petrol 
stations for leading oil companies in malaysia.

datuk mohamad salim is currently managing director of 
gapurna sdn. Bhd. and sits on the boards of its group of 

and marketing manager. he was seconded to china in 1991 
and during his tenure overseas has held various positions 
including general manager for shandong rothmans tobacco 
company limited, china (1991-1994), sales & marketing 
director china/hong kong for rothmans (far east) limited 
(1994-1996), general manager taiwan of rothmans (far east) 
taiwan limited (1996-1997), general manager china/hong 
kong of rothmans (far east) limited (1997-1998) and 
managing director greater china of rothmans (far east) 
limited (1998-1999).

he joined British American tobacco (malaysia) Berhad in 1999 
and thereafter held various positions including Business 
development director china for British American tobacco Asia 
pacific north (1999-2003), managing director of British 
American tobacco new Zealand limited (2003-2005), 
managing director of pakistan tobacco company limited 

lybrand, malaysia from 1974 and retired as a senior partner of 
coopers & lybrand in 1997.

datuk oh currently sits as the chairman of Alliance financial 
group Berhad. he is also a non-executive director of several 
public companies, such as kumpulan europlus Berhad, malayan 
flour mills Berhad, dialog group Berhad, ingenious growth 
Berhad and several other private companies.

datuk oh is a government appointed member of the labuan 
financial services Authority (since 1996). he is also a trustee of 
the utAr education foundation (2002) and a council member 
of university tunku Abdul rahman.

his past appointments include being a government appointed 
committee member of the kuala lumpur stock exchange 
(1990-1996), a council member (1981-2002), a past president 
(1994-1996) of the malaysian institute of certified public 
Accountants (micpA) and a board member of malaysian 
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ANDREAS MICHAEL THOMPSON
(non-independent executive director)
Finance Director
British, Age 44 years

DATO’ AHMAD JOHARI BIN  
TUN ABDUL RAZAK
dpcm, dsis, dsAp
(independent non-executive director)
malaysian, Age 58 years

DATO’ CHAN CHOON NGAI
dsns
(non-independent non-executive director)
malaysian, Age 58 years

Andreas michael thompson was appointed a director of British American 
tobacco (malaysia) Berhad on 1 march 2011. he is a member of the 
chartered institute of management Accountants and holds a Bachelor of 
Accounting (hons) from the university of central lancashire, preston, 
united kingdom. he joined British American tobacco p.l.c as finance 

dato’ chan choon ngai was appointed production director of the then 
rothmans of pall mall (malaysia) Berhad, now British American tobacco 
(malaysia) Berhad in october 1995. he holds a Bachelor of science in 
mechanical engineering degree from the university of Birmingham, united 
kingdom. he joined rothmans of pall mall (malaysia) Berhad in 1979, as 
production management trainee and held various significant positions in the 
production division including production executive make and pack  

dato’ Ahmad Johari razak bin tun Abdul razak was appointed a director 
of British American tobacco (malaysia) Berhad on 5 march 2009. dato’ 
Ahmad Johari holds a Bachelor of laws degree from the university of 
kent, united kingdom. he was called to the Bar of england and wales 
at lincoln’s inn in 1976 and was admitted as an Advocate and solicitor 
of the high court of malaya in 1977. he practiced law with a large law 
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(1980-1982), personal Assistant to rothmans international 
world production director, rothmans international united 
kingdom (1982-1984), Acting factory manager rothmans of 
pall mall (malaysia) Berhad (1984-1986), factory manager 
rothmans of pall mall (malaysia) Berhad (1986-1994) and 
production director (designate) of rothmans of pall mall 
(malaysia) Berhad (1994-1995). he was a director of tien 
wah press holdings Berhad from may 1997 to June 2003.

in July 2000. dato’ chan was appointed as the operations 
director of British American tobacco (malaysia) Berhad. 
effective 15 november 2010, dato’ chan’s portfolio has 
been expanded to include the Business development services 
function in addition to his current role as the operations 
director of the company. dato’ chan retired on 31 december 
2010 after attaining the age of 55. he was subsequently 

appointed as the operations director of British American 
tobacco (malaysia) Berhad effective 1 february 2011. he was 
re-designated as non-independent non-executive director of 
British American tobacco (malaysia) Berhad on 1 January 
2013 following the expiry of his contract of service as 
operations director of the company on 31 december 2012.

dato’ chan attended all of the four Board meetings which 
were held in the financial year ended 31 december 2012.

dato’ chan does not have any family relationship with any 
director and/or major shareholder of British American tobacco 
(malaysia) Berhad, nor any conflict of interests in any business 
arrangement involving the company. he has had no 
convictions for any offences within the past ten years.

Andreas thompson has attended all of the four Board 
meetings in the financial year ended 31 december 2012.

Andreas thompson does not have any family relationship 
with any director and/or major shareholder of British 
American tobacco (malaysia) Berhad, nor any conflict of 
interests in any business arrangement involving the 
company. he has had no convictions for any offences 
within the past ten years.

firm from 1979 and was a partner of the firm from 1981 
to 1994. he re-joined the firm as a partner on 1 August 
2007.

dato’ Ahmad Johari is currently the chairman of Ancom 
Berhad, courts mammoth sdn Bhd and daiman 
development Berhad and a director of hong leong 
industries Berhad, daiman golf Berhad and deutsche Bank 
(malaysia) Berhad. he is also a member of other board 
committees in hong leong industries Berhad, Ancom 
Berhad, daiman development Berhad and deutsche Bank 
(malaysia) Berhad. in the academic field, he is presently an 
Adjunct professor at university of technology mara law 
faculty.

dato’ Ahmad Johari is a member of the nomination 
committee of the company and he attended all of the 
four Board meetings in the financial year ended 31 
december 2012.

dato’ Ahmad Johari does not have any family relationship 
with any director and/or major shareholder of British 
American tobacco (malaysia) Berhad, nor any conflict of 
interests in any business arrangement involving the 
company. he has had no convictions for any offences 
within the past ten years.

graduate trainee in 1993 whereupon graduation he 
undertook a number of finance roles within the Asia 
pacific region. over the last ten years he has held various 
positions including director of marketing finance of Brown 
& williamson tobacco corporation inc (2001-2004), 
finance & it director of A/t British American tobacco 
prilucky tobacco company (2004-2007), Area finance 
director of the middle east & caucasus (2007-2008).

prior to his appointment with British American tobacco 
(malaysia) Berhad as finance director, Andreas thompson 
led the finance integration of BAt’s st acquisition, 
thereafter becoming the head of finance for the northern 
europe cluster (2008-2011) based in denmark.
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JAMES RICHARD SUTTIE
(non-independent non-executive director)
British, Age 66 years

CHRISTINE LEE OI KUAN
(non-independent executive director)
Corporate and Legal Affairs Director 
malaysian, Age 54 years

DATUK ZAINUN AISHAH BINTI 
AHMAD
kmn, pmp, dpmp, Jsm, pJn
(independent non-executive director)
malaysian, Age 67 years

James richard suttie was appointed a director of British American 
tobacco (malaysia) Berhad in may 2002. he is a member of the institute 
of chattered Accountants of scotland. he joined rothmans international 
p.l.c as a commercial Accountant/manager in 1972 and became the 
finance director of carreras of Jamaica ltd. in 1982, rothmans 
international europe in 1984 and rothmans of pall mall (malaysia) 

datuk Zainun Aishah binti Ahmad was appointed a director of British 
American tobacco (malaysia) Berhad on 1 march 2012.

datuk Zainun graduated with a Bachelor of economics degree from 
university of malaya. she began her career with malaysian industrial 

christine lee oi kuan was appointed a director of British American 
tobacco (malaysia) Berhad on 1 march 2012.

she was appointed to the top team of British American tobacco 
(malaysia) Berhad on 1 January 2006 and assumed the role of corporate 
and legal Affairs director of British American tobacco (malaysia) Berhad 
on 1 september 2006. she has been with British American tobacco 
(malaysia) Berhad since 2001.

BRITISH AMERICAN TOBACCO (MALAYSIA) BERHAD
annual report 2012

pg 28



christine lee began her career in British American tobacco 
(malaysia) Berhad as head of legal and company secretary. 
she was previously the legal manager and company 
secretary of two public listed companies, hong leong 
industries Berhad and malaysian pacific industries Berhad.

holder of a degree in law from the university of malaya, 
christine lee served at the Attorney general’s chambers, 
malaysia from 1983-1993 in the prosecution and Advisory 
and international law divisions.

in her current role as the corporate and legal Affairs 
director, christine lee is responsible for corporate and 
regulatory affairs and legal matters of the group.

since her appointment to the Board of directors on  
1 march 2012, christine lee has attended three Board 
meetings in the financial year ended 31 december 2012.

christine lee does not have any family relationship with 
any director and/or major shareholder of British American 
tobacco (malaysia) Berhad, nor any conflict of interests  
in any business arrangement involving the company.  
she has had no convictions for any offences within the 
past 10 years.

shell refinery company (federation of malaya) Berhad, Berjaya 
media Berhad and Berjaya food Berhad. datuk Zainun also sits 
as chairman of pernec corporation Berhad, a public company.

datuk Zainun is a member of the Audit committee of the 
company. since her appointment to the Board of directors on 
1 march 2012, datuk Zainun has attended three Board 
meetings in the financial year ended 31 december 2012.

datuk Zainun does not have any family relationship with any 
director and/or major shareholder of British American tobacco 
(malaysia) Berhad, nor any conflict of interests in any business 
arrangement involving the company. she has had no 
convictions for any offences within the past ten years.

development Authority (midA), the malaysian government’s 
principal agency for the promotion and coordination of 
industrial development in the country where she worked 
for 35 years. in her years of service, datuk Zainun held 
various key positions in midA as well as in some of the 
country’s strategic councils, notably her pivotal role as the 
national project director in the formulation of the first 
malaysian industrial master plan. she was the director-
general of midA for nine years and deputy director-
general for 11 years.

she was previously a director of tenaga nasional Berhad and 
malayan Banking Berhad. currently, she is a director of degem 
Berhad, microlink solutions Berhad, scomi engineering Berhad, 

James suttie does not have any family relationship with 
any director and/or major shareholder of British American 
tobacco (malaysia) Berhad, nor any conflict of interests in 
any business arrangement involving the company. he has 
had no convictions for any offences within the past ten 
years.

Berhad in 1992. in 1997, he was appointed the regional 
finance controller for rothmans international in Asia. in 
1999, he was appointed the regional finance controller, 
Africa and in 2002 as regional finance controller,  
Asia pacific, of British American tobacco p.l.c until his 
retirement from British American tobacco p.l.c on  
31 december 2006.

he is a member of the Audit committee, remuneration 
committee and nomination committee of the company. 

James suttie attended all of the four Board meetings 
which were held in the financial year ended 31 december 
2012.
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Profile of top team members

Datuk William Toh Ah Wah
pmw, Amp, pJk
Managing Director
malaysian, Age 56 years

for details of datuk william toh’s profile, please refer to 
page 24 of this Annual report.

Marcelo Alvarenga Guimaraes
Marketing Director
Brazilian, Age 41 years

marcelo Alvarenga guimaraes was appointed marketing 
director of British American tobacco (malaysia) Berhad on 
1 January 2013. he joined British American tobacco entity 
in Brazil, souza cruz as a management trainee in 1995 and 
has held various positions in marketing, before leaving in 
1999 to pursue his mBA at manchester Business school, 
united kingdom.

he subsequently was seconded to British American tobacco 
caribbean and central America (British American tobacco 
entity in costa rica) and nobleza piccardo (British American 
tobacco entity in Argentina, also overlooking paraguay and 
venezuela). he returned to souza cruz  in 2007, becoming 
head of Brands in 2008.

in 2010, marcelo moved to British American tobacco p.l.c 
as marketing sustainability and innovation strategy 
manager, in the marketing futures team in central 
marketing. in 2012, he joined the strategy and planning 
team, playing a key role in the global resource Allocation 
and the re-articulation of the global strategy.

marcelo holds a Bachelor of science in economics from 
pontificia universidade catolica of rio de Janeiro, Brazil, 
master of Business Administration from manchester Business 
school, united kingdom and master of Business knowledge 
management from coppe/universidade federal do rio de 
Janeiro, Brazil.

Murali Thanabalan
Human Resources Director
malaysian, Age 51 years

murali thanabalan joined the company in July 1997 as 
compensation and Benefits manager.

post the merger of rothmans of pall mall (malaysia) Berhad 
and malaysian tobacco company Berhad in 1999, murali 
was appointed rewards manager of British American 
tobacco malaysia with the key focus of integrating the 
rewards platform. he then ventured out to pursue other 
interests in 2000 before rejoining the company the 
following year. thereafter he was seconded to British 
American tobacco nigeria as rewards manager in 2002, 
where he then became rewards manager for west and 
central Africa before succeeding as human resources 
director for British American tobacco nigeria.

murali then moved to kenya as Area head of human 
resources of sub saharan Africa before returning in the 
same capacity to south Asia Area in 2010. on 1 march 
2012, murali assumed the role of human resources director 
of British American tobacco malaysia.

murali holds a degree in economics and statistics from the 
national university of singapore.

from left: datuk william toh Ah wah, marcelo guimaraes, murali thanabalan
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Andreas Michael Thompson
Finance Director
British, Age 44 years

for details of Andreas thompson’s profile, please refer to page 
26 of this Annual report.

Christine Lee Oi Kuan
Corporate and Legal Affairs Director
malaysian, Age 54 years

for details of christine lee’s profile, please refer page 28 of 
this Annual report.

Joel Solomon a/l Enock Solomon
Operations Director
malaysian, Age 38 years

Joel solomon a/l enock solomon was appointed operations 
director of British American tobacco (malaysia) Berhad on 
1 January 2013. he joined the company in 1999 as a 
management trainee and thereafter held various positions 
in operations including supply chain management and 
material development, procurement and factory operations. 
he was promoted to senior management in 2004, in-
charge of primary manufacturing and subsequently 
secondary manufacturing.

in 2007, Joel was moved to the role of supply planning 
manager for British American tobacco (malaysia) Berhad 
covering a wider scope of end-to-end planning as well as 
defining the supply footprint for malaysia. he was thereafter 
moved to a project role in January 2009, to shape the 
company’s supply chain and seconded to singapore in 
may 2009 to assume the role of regional production 
planning manager which involved the setting up of the 

regional planning hub as well as the process, governance 
and organisation of the hub itself. he was promoted to 
regional supply planning manager in 2011 to head both 
production planning and distribution planning where his 
role involved reshaping of the supply models, introduced 
new supply models as well as paved way for the regional 
footprint redesign.

he holds an engineering degree from the university of 
malaya.

Azlan bin Ibrahim
Head of Business Development Services
malaysian, Age 53 years

Azlan bin ibrahim joined the British American tobacco 
(malaysia) Berhad in June 1987 as a marketing management 
trainee, after completing his education from the university 
of southern illinois, usA. he underwent a nine months 
training period where he was then sent to pahang to be 
the Acting Area sales manager from 1988 to 1989. he was 
then confirmed as the Area sales manager in 1989. 
thereafter, Azlan was transferred to kota Bharu to look after 
the kelantan and terengganu markets. in 1993, he was 
made the regional sales manager for the northern region.

Azlan was promoted to the role of sales manager in 1994 
and during the pre-merger period, he was assigned to the 
role of national sales manager for rothmans. post-merger, 
he became the regional trade and distribution manager 
until 2001.

in 2002, after 15 years in marketing, Azlan was made the 
Business development manager. in 2003, he became the 
head of Business development and in 2011, he was given 
the responsibility to also be in-charge of security and changed 
his position to head of Business development services.

from left: Andreas michael thompson, christine lee oi kuan, Joel solomon, Azlan ibrahim
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standards of Business conduct

the standards require all employees to operate in 
accordance with high standards of business integrity 
and comply with laws and regulations. employees 
must exercise honesty, objectivity and diligence in 
doing their work and must ensure that the standards 
are never compromised for the sake of results.

the standards are designed to:

(a) help employees who are faced with making 
difficult judgements in the course of doing 
their work and ensure that all decisions and 
judgements made by employees are lawful and 
comply with high ethical standards;

(b) set a tone and culture for the organisation 
which will enable it to be regarded as a good 
corporate citizen; and

(c) give reassurance to the group’s stakeholders, 
with whom the group comes into business 
contact.

the areas covered by the standards are:

(i) whistleblowing

(ii) conflicts of interest

(iii) Bribery and corruption

(iv) entertainment and gifts

(v) political contributions

(vi) charitable contributions

(vii) Accurate Accounting and record keeping

(viii) protection of corporate Assets

(ix) confidentiality and information security

(x) insider dealing and market Abuse

(xi) competition law and Anti-trust laws

(xii) money laundering and Anti-terrorism

(xiii) trade in products

(xiv) sanctions

our Group’s employees are governed by the 
standards of Business conduct (“standards”) 
which form an integral part of our Group’s 
corporate governance. together with the 
statement of Business Principles, it continues 
to underpin our commitment to high standards 
of corporate responsibility.

the standards were updated, revised and subsequently 
approved by the Board of directors on 23 october 2012, to 
be in line with the amendments made to British American 
tobacco p.l.c’s standards and to provide further clarity and 
guidance to employees.

A summary of the key changes made to the revised standards 
are as follows:

No. Section Key Changes

1. whistleblowing express references of criminal 
offences are given in the indicative 
list of wrongdoing. the examples 
given are fraud, money laundering, 
bribery and corruption.

2. Bribery and 
corruption

prohibitions and penalties under 
the malaysian Anti-corruption 
commission Act 2009 are set out.

3. gifts and 
entertainment

modest amount is defined to be 
gifts valued at rm1,000 or less 
within the private sector.

4. competition and 
Anti-trust laws

revised to ensure that the 
standards remains in line with the 
provisions of the competition Act 
2010 and the group’s competition 
compliance guidelines.

5. trade in the 
group’s products

new paragraph included to this 
section to ensure that the group 
and its employees co-operate 
with all relevant authorities in any 
invest igat ion conducted in 
relation to illicit trade.

the revised standards were duly communicated to all 
employees of the group through an announcement on the 
group’s intranet and email notification. the revised standards 
have also been uploaded to the group’s intranet and website 
respectively. Additionally, the legal department will be 
conducting awareness training to all employees on the revised 
standards in march 2013.

compliance with the standards is monitored regularly by the 
Board of directors and Audit committee of the company. 
the legal department/company secretary of the group is 
charged with the responsibility of reporting to the Board of 
directors on an annual basis, the compliance of these 
standards by the group and its employees.
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statement on corporate Governance

the Board believes in ensuring the highest standards of 
corporate governance as it will serve to strengthen the 
company’s sustainability, organisational effectiveness and 
drive a high-performance culture within the organisation. 

British American tobacco malaysia’s corporate governance 
is set out in the British American tobacco malaysia’s code 
of corporate governance (BAtm code), which has been 
developed and enhanced based on the principles and best  
practices outlined in the following:

(i) malaysian code on corporate governance (revised 
2012) (malaysian code)

(ii) main market listing requirements of Bursa malaysia 
securities Berhad (listing requirements)

(iii) corporate governance guide: towards Boardroom 
excellence of Bursa malaysia securities Berhad (cg 
guide)

(iv) minority shareholder watchdog group (mswg) 
corporate governance scorecard

(v) British American tobacco p.l.c’s code of corporate 
governance

(vi) standards of Business conduct of the company 
(vii) statement of Business principles (Business principles) 

of the company
(viii) statement of delegated Authorities of the company

such principles and best practices are applied throughout 
the group.

the conduct of all employees of the group including the 
Board are governed by the standards of Business conduct. 
each and every employee, including the directors, are 
expected to live up to the standards of Business conduct 
and are required to confirm their commitment and 
compliance by executing a declaration of compliance 
annually. 

examples of provisions in the standards of Business 
conduct include, avoiding situations where there are 
conflicts of interest, interest in competing businesses, 
prohibition on use of inside information, corporate 
opportunities, insider dealing and bribery and corruption. 

As part of the company’s on-going effort to enhance the 
application of the highest standards of governance across 
the group in line with best global practices, the standards 
of Business conduct are constantly reviewed by the Board 
from time to time. the standards of Business conduct 
were updated, revised and subsequently approved by the 
Board of directors on 23 october 2012, to be in line with 
the amendments made to British American tobacco p.l.c’s 
standards and to provide further clarity and guidance to 
employees. A summary of the key changes made to the 
revised standards of Business conduct can be found in the 
standards of Business conduct statement, please refer to 
page 33 of this Annual report.

in addition to the standards of Business conduct, the 
company is also guided by the company’s statement of 
Business principles. the Business principles covers key 
matters that underpin corporate responsibility (cr) for a 
multinational business and more particularly, the unique 
characteristics of a tobacco business. the three Business 
principles are mutual Benefit, responsible product 
stewardship and good corporate conduct, each of which 
is supported by a core belief which explains and supports 
the Business principles. 

Both the standards of Business conduct as well as the 
Business principles are made available to our employees 
and directors on the company’s intranet (interact website) 
and the company’s corporate website at www.batmalaysia.
com.

Apart from the company’s standards of Business conduct 
and Business principles, the company also has in place the 
statement of delegated Authorities, which supports good 
corporate governance and prudent control of risks and 
investment management. in the company’s statement of 
delegated Authorities, the Board has specifically reserved 
matters such as establishment of new businesses or 
factories, annual strategic plan, approval of major capital 
expenditure, acquisition and disposal of businesses or 
equity, borrowings and any corporate restructuring, for its 
decision.

the company and its Board of directors (Board) 
is committed to continuously strive for the highest 
standards of corporate governance to ensure that 
its business and affairs are in strict adherence to 
the doctrine and principles of good corporate 
governance such as integrity, transparency, 
accountability and responsible business conduct 
to safeguard the interests of its shareholders and 
stakeholders. 
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the company’s Articles of Association was amended in 
2012 to incorporate the amendments to the listing 
requirements. some of the key amendments included 
allowing an exempt authorised nominee to appoint 
multiple proxies for each omnibus account, removal of 
proxies qualification and giving the proxies the same 
rights as members to speak at the general meeting. 

the amendments to the Articles of Association were 
approved by the shareholders at the 2012 Annual general 
meeting on 10 April 2012.

Other internal policies, guidelines and code
Additionally, the company also has in place the following 
internal policies, guidelines and code to ensure good 
corporate governance:

1. policy on indirect procurement – which outlines the 
processess for obtaining the best overall value and 
quality for each amount spent and to ensure timely 
delivery of goods and services to meet the group’s 
business requirements

2. code of practice on sexual harassment (BAtm sexual 
harassment code) – to ensure that all employees are 
treated with respect and dignity regardless of gender 
and to outline that any form of sexual harassment 
which disrupts or interferes with the work performance 
and dignity of another will not be tolerated

3. procedures on company vehicle Accident and theft 
reporting

4. guidelines on managing cases involving employees 
and law enforcement Authorities

5. guidelines on replacement leave

6. procedures on company motor vehicle use and 
upkeep

7. policy on medical Board out (mBo)

8. guidelines on employee engagement – to govern 
employees’ engagement and consultation on matters 
which are of interest to employees such as the 
employment status and key employment terms

9. employment principles

10. policy on environment, health and safety

11. international marketing principles – a framework to 
govern all aspects of tobacco marketing

12. guidelines on dawn raid – sets out the procedures 
to be adhered to when there is a raid by relevant 
authorities so that the necessary co-operation can be 
provided

13. procedures on credit for trade debtors and 
intercompany balances

the abovementioned policies, guidelines, code, procedures 
and practices are made available to all our employees and 
directors on the company’s intranet. 

the group is dedicated and committed in managing its 
business responsibly amidst a challenging environment for 
the tobacco industry and the awards and achievements 
that the company has received are testimony of such 
dedication and commitment. for details of these awards 
and achievements, please refer to page 19 of this Annual 
report.

the company had fully complied with the abovementioned 
corporate governance principles and best practices. this 
statement on corporate governance (statement) together 
with the statement on risk management and internal 
control sets out the manner in which the company had 
applied the company’s corporate governance principles 
and best practices.

Board of Directors
Board of Directors’ composition
the Board of directors’ composition complies with the 
requirements mandated by the listing requirements and 
as prescribed by the principles and best practices of the 
malaysian code and the cg guide. the Board comprises 
a mixture of executive and non-executive directors from 
diverse professional backgrounds with a wealth of 
experience, skills and expertise.

the Board’s composition was recently rejuvenated with the 
appointment of a new chairman, datuk mohamad salim 
bin fateh din on 11 April 2012, following the retirement 
of the previous chairman, tan sri Abu talib bin othman. 
in addition to this, two female directors, datuk Zainun 
Aishah binti Ahmad and ms. christine lee oi kuan were 
appointed to the Board. datuk Zainun Aishah binti Ahmad 
is an independent non-executive director whilst ms. 
christine lee oi kuan sits on the Board as a non-
independent executive director. datuk Zainun was also 
appointed the chairman of the executive compensation 
committee (ecc), a sub-committee reporting in to the 
remuneration committee and a member of the Audit 
committee.

subsequently on 1 January 2013, dato’ chan choon ngai 
(previously the operations director of the company and 
also non-independent executive director of the Board) 
was re-designated to the role of non-independent non-
executive director of the company following the expiry of 
his contract of service as operations director of the 
company on 31 december 2012.

BRITISH AMERICAN TOBACCO (MALAYSIA) BERHAD
annual report 2012

pg 35
O

verview
Perform

ance
Leadership

G
overnance

G
row

th
Productivity

Resp
onsibility

W
inning O

rganisation
Financial Statem

ents
O

ther Inform
ation



As at the date of this statement, the Board consists of 
nine members, six of which are non-executive directors 
(including the chairman) and the remaining three are 
executive directors. four out of the six non-executive 
directors are independent non-executive directors. please 
refer to pages 24 to 29 for details of the directors on the 
Board, their profiles and their respective memberships.

the current size and composition of the Board reflects the 
interest of shareholders as the current structure of the 
Board ensures that no single individual or group dominates 
the decision making process. further, the non-executive 
directors act as caretakers of the minority shareholders 
and their views carry significant weight in the Board’s 
decision making process.

the composition of the members of the Board reflects a 
good mix of experience, backgrounds, skills, gender and 
qualifications and the members are all professionals of 
high calibre and integrity, possessing in-depth knowledge 
and experience of the tobacco business which are vital to 
the sustainability of the business.

the roles of chairman and managing director are also 
separately held, and the division of their responsibilities is 
clearly established, with each having distinct and clearly 
defined authority and responsibilities. the duties and 
responsibilities of the chairman and the managing director 
are clearly outlined in the BAtm code.

the chairman’s role is to provide leadership to the Board, 
facilitate the meeting process, setting the agenda for all 
Board of directors meetings and ensure that the Board 
and its committees function effectively. once the objectives 
and strategies have been reviewed and adopted by the 
Board of directors as a whole, the managing director’s 
responsibility is to ensure the delivery of such objectives 
and strategies within the authority limits delegated by the 
Board of directors. 

the managing director is responsible for the stewardship 
of the group’s direction and the day-to-day management 
of the company. it is the duty of the managing director, 
working together with the other senior management of 
the group, to manage the business of the group in the 
manner consistent with all relevant code, policies, 
standards, guidelines, procedures and practices of the 
group and in accordance with any specific plans, 
instructions and directions of the Board.

Principle responsibilities of the Board
the Board of directors is primarily entrusted with the 
responsibility of setting the goals and the direction of the 
company. the Board of directors also directs the 
company’s risk assessment and ensures implementation of 
appropriate systems to manage these risks, reviewing and 
adopting strategic plans for the group, succession 
planning, including appointing, training, fixing the 
compensation and where appropriate, replacing senior 
management and financial and operational management. 
the Board provides the leadership necessary to enable the 
group’s business objectives to be met within the framework 
of internal controls as described in this statement. other 
key duties for the Board includes  declaring dividends, 
approving financial statements and accounting policies of 
the group, reviewing the adequacy and integrity of the 
group’s internal control systems, including systems for 
compliance with applicable laws, regulations, rules, 
directives and guidelines. 

further, pursuant to the company’s statement of delegated 
Authorities, the Board of directors is also tasked to decide 
on the following business transactions and activities:

• Acquisition, disposal or closure of a business.

• establishment of new businesses.

• Annual strategic plan.

• capital investment and disposal of tangible assets from 
existing business to third party.

• purchase or sale of trademarks.

• proposal of borrowings.

• guarantee and letters of comfort.

• proposal for borrowings or the grant of extended 
credit facilities by an operating subsidiary from another 
group company.

• increase or reduction by an operating subsidiary of 
authorised or issued capital.

• unbudgeted redemption or early repayment of loans.

• Any corporate restructuring not covered by any of the 
above paragraphs.

• the change of name of any group company and the 
establishment of any new company.
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in discharging its responsibilities, the Board is guided by 
the code of ethics and principles contained in the malaysian 
code, listing requirements, cg guide, BAtm code, the 
company’s standards of Business conduct, Business 
principles and statement of delegated Authorities.

the Board has a collective responsibility for the 
management of the company. the executive directors are 
responsible for the day-to-day management of financial 
and operational matters in accordance with the strategic 
direction established by the Board. the non-executive 
directors do not participate in the day-to-day management 
of the company and do not engage in any business 
dealing or other relationship with the company to ensure 
that they are capable of exercising judgment objectively 
and act in the best interest of the company, its shareholders 
and minority shareholders. the Board also acknowledges 
the importance of independent directors who are tasked 
with providing unbiased and independent views, advice 
and judgment, which take into account the interests of 
the group and all its stakeholders including shareholders 
and employees.

Top Team

in discharging the abovementioned responsibilities and 
duties, the Board of directors are duly assisted by the 
senior management of the company, namely the top 
team. the top team consists of senior employees holding 
the following positions:

(i) managing director

(ii) finance director

(iii) marketing director

(iv) operations director

(v) corporate and legal Affairs director

(vi) human resources director

(vii) head of Business development services

for details of each top team member, please refer to 
pages 30 to 31 of this Annual report.

the responsibilities and authorities of the top team are 
clearly defined in the company’s corporate Authority 
limit, which is read with the company’s statement of 
delegated Authorities.

the top team is charged with the responsibility of 
implementing the policies and decisions of the Board, 
overseeing the operations as well as developing, 
coordinating and implementing business and corporate 
strategies.

the relevant member of the top team will also be invited 
to attend Board meetings and provide the Board with any 
such relevant information or updates, as and when is 
required by the Board.

Company Secretary

the company secretary provides support to the chairman 
of the company to ensure the effective functioning of the 
Board. the company secretary also organises and attends 
all Board meetings and Board committees meetings, 
ensuring that an accurate and proper record of deliberation 
of issues discussed, decisions and conclusions are taken.

Additionally, the company secretary records, prepares and 
circulates the minutes of the meetings of the Board and 
Board committees and ensures that the minutes are 
properly kept at the registered office of the company and 
produced for inspection, if required. in addition, the 
company secretary also updates the Board of directors 
regularly on amendments to the listing requirements, 
practice and guidance notes, circulars from Bursa malaysia 
securities Berhad, legal and regulatory developments and 
impact, if any, to the company and its business. All 
directors have access to the advice and the services of the 
company secretary. the company secretary is appointed 
and can be removed by the Board of directors.
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Board and Board Committee meetings

the composition of the Board committees as at 31 december 2012 and the attendance of the directors at the Board 
and Board committees meetings held in 2012 are as follows:

Directors Board

Audit 
Committee 

(AC)

Remuneration 
Committee 

(RC)

Nomination 
Committee 

(NC)

CSR 
Committee 

(CSR)

Executive 
Compensation 

Committee 
(ECC)

datuk Mohamad salim bin fateh din1

Independent Non-Executive Director
(Chairman)

3/4 n/A – not 
an Audit 

committee 
member

1/32 0/13 n/A – not a 
csr committee 

member

n/A – not an 
executive 

compensation 
committee 

member

tan sri Abu talib bin othman4 

Independent Non-Executive Director
1/4 1/4 1/3 1/3 n/A – not a 

csr committee 
member

n/A – not an 
executive 

compensation 
committee 

member

datuk oh chong Peng
Independent Non-Executive Director

4/4 4/4 3/3 1/1 n/A – not a 
csr committee 

member

n/A – not an 
executive 

compensation 
committee 

member

dato’ Ahmad Johari bin tun Abdul razak5

Independent Non-Executive Director
4/4 1/4 n/A – not a 

remuneration 
committee 

member

1/1 n/A – not a 
csr committee 

member

n/A – not an 
executive 

compensation 
committee 

member

datuk Zainun Aishah binti Ahmad6

Independent Non-Executive Director
3/4 3/4 n/A – not a 

remuneration 
committee 

member

n/A – not a 
nomination 
committee 

member

n/A – not a 
csr committee 

member

n/A – not an 
executive 

compensation 
committee 

member

James richard suttie 
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

4/4 4/4 3/3 1/1 n/A – not a 
csr committee 

member

n/A – not an 
executive 

compensation 
committee 

member

datuk William toh Ah Wah 
Non-Independent Executive Director
(Managing Director) 

4/4 n/A – not 
an Audit 

committee 
member

3/3 n/A – not a 
nomination 
committee 

member

2/2 1/1

Andreas Michael thompson 
Non-Independent Executive Director
(Finance Director) 

4/4 n/A – not 
an Audit 

committee 
member

n/A – not a 
remuneration 

committee 
member

n/A – not a 
nomination 
committee 

member

1/2 0/1
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Directors Board

Audit 
Committee 

(AC)

Remuneration 
Committee 

(RC)

Nomination 
Committee 

(NC)

CSR 
Committee 

(CSR)

Executive 
Compensation 

Committee 
(ECC)

dato’ chan choon ngai7 
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

4/4 n/A – not 
an Audit 

committee 
member

n/A – not a 
remuneration 

committee 
member

n/A – not a 
nomination 
committee 

member

1/2 n/A – not an 
executive 

compensation 
committee 

member

christine lee oi Kuan8 
Non-Independent Executive Director 
(Corporate and Legal Affairs Director)

3/4 n/A – not 
an Audit 

committee 
member

n/A – not a 
remuneration 

committee 
member

n/A – not a 
nomination 
committee 

member

2/2 n/A – not an 
executive 

compensation 
committee 

member

1 Datuk Mohamad Salim bin Fateh Din was appointed Independent Non-Executive Director and Chairman effective 11 April 2012.
2 The meetings were held prior to the appointment of Datuk Mohamad Salim bin Fateh Din on 11 April 2012.
3 The meeting was held prior to the appointment of Datuk Mohamad Salim bin Fateh Din on 11 April 2012.
4 Tan Sri Abu Talib bin Othman retired as Independent Non-Executive Director and Chairman of the Company with effect from 29 February 2012.
5 Dato’ Ahmad Johari bin Tun Abdul Razak ceased to be a member of the Audit Committee effective 24 April 2012.
6 Datuk Zainun Aishah binti Ahmad was appointed Independent Non-Executive Director effective 1 March 2012.
7 Dato’ Chan Choon Ngai was re-designated to Non-Independent Non-Executive Director effective 1 January 2013 following the expiry of his 

contract of service as Operations Director of the Company on 31 December 2012.
8 Christine Lee Oi Kuan was appointed Non-Independent Executive Director effective 1 March 2012.

the Board of directors schedules four meetings in a year to consider all matters relating to the overall control, business 
performance and strategy of the company. 

the Board has a regular schedule of matters which are in the agenda and reviewed during the course of the year. these 
are the managing director’s Quarterly reports, the Quarterly unaudited consolidated results and recommendations 
made in the minutes of the Audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee.

in 2012, amongst the key issues presented for consideration by the Board were:

• managing director’s Quarterly reports.

• Quarterly unaudited consolidated results.

• recurrent related parties transactions’ Quarterly reports.

• directors’ performance evaluation 2011.

• All announcements released to Bursa malaysia securities Berhad.

• company’s corporate social responsibilities activities.

• company’s enterprise risk management programme.

• company’s Annual report (which includes the statement on corporate governance, statement on risk management 
and internal control, Audit committee report and statement on corporate social responsibility).

• company’s Audited financial statements.

• revision of company policies and standards such as the standards of Business conduct and credit policy and 
procedures for trade debtors and intercompany Balances.
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where any decisions are required expeditiously or urgently 
from the Board between the scheduled meetings, special 
Board meetings are convened by the company secretary 
with sufficient notice, after consultation with the chairman. 
the agenda for Board meetings are set by the chairman 
in consultation with the managing director and the 
company secretary. 

Additionally, management employees or external advisors 
are invited to attend Board and Board committees 
meetings to advise the Board and Board committees 
members and furnish the members with information and 
clarification as and when required on items in the agenda 
tabled to the Board and Board committees to enable 
them to arrive at a decision.

decisions of the Board are made unanimously or by 
consensus and these decisions and conclusions are recorded 
in the minutes of the Board and Board committees 
respectively. where the Board or Board committee is 
considering a matter in which a director has an interest, 
the relevant director abstains from deliberating and voting 
on the subject matter. minutes of all Board and Board 
committees meetings are also circulated to all directors 
for their review as well as confirmation. the directors may 
request for clarification or raise comments on the minutes 
prior to confirmation of the minutes.

where appropriate, decisions may be taken by way of 
directors’ circular resolution between scheduled and 
special meetings. in 2012, eleven resolutions were 
approved by the directors via circular resolutions which 
covered matters such as the disposal of properties and 
finance matters such as the change of bank signatories.

Board Committees and Sub-Committees

there are three main Board committees; namely the Audit 
committee, nomination committee and remuneration 
committee, to which the Board has delegated certain of 
its responsibilities. Both the Audit committee and 
remuneration committee have sub-committees reporting 
in to them. the corporate social responsibility committee 
and risk management team report in to the Audit 
committee whereas the executive compensation 
committee reports in to the remuneration committee. 
the sub-committees members are made up of top team 
and senior managers of the company.

each Board committee strictly adheres to a set of terms of 
reference approved by the Board and set out in the BAtm 
code. their roles/functions, operating procedures and 
authorities are clearly defined in the said terms of reference 
which are reviewed by the Board from time to time.

each Board committee has to submit to the Board, reports 
of their respective deliberations and recommendations and 
all deliberations and decisions taken have to be minuted 
and approved by the Board committee and confirmed by 
the chairman of the Board committee at the next Board 
meeting. the Board retains full responsibility for the 
direction and control of the group. the roles and 
responsibilities of the Board committees are described in 
detail below.

Board Committee

1. Audit Committee 
As at the date of this statement, the Audit committee 
comprises of three directors. All members of the 
Audit committee are non-executive directors, where 
two of the three members are independent non-
executive directors. All members of the Audit 
committee are financially literate as defined by the 
malaysian code.

the chairman of the Audit committee, datuk oh 
chong peng, fulfills the financial expertise requisite of 
the listing requirements. datuk oh chong peng is a 
qualified chartered Accountant and is a fellow of the 
institute of chartered Accountants, england and 
wales.

(a) Authority
the Audit committee assists the Board in its 
review of the effectiveness of the internal control, 
risk management and governance process of the 
company which includes reviewing the 
company’s financial statements and reporting 
processes. the Audit committee also assists the 
Board in its review of the effectiveness of the 
internal control, risk management and governance 
process of the company which includes reviewing 
the company’s financial statements and reporting 
processes.
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Additionally, the Audit committee had met with 
senior management and the internal and external 
auditor to review the effectiveness of internal 
controls and business risk management, and 
receive reports from the group’s regional Audit 
committee. 

the committee had also reviewed compliance 
with the standards of Business conduct and the 
procedures in place within the group for the 
management of its business policies.

the Audit committee is also responsible for 
approving audit, recurring audit related and 
non-audit services undertaken by the external 
auditor and in carrying out their duties, the 
Audit committee ensures that the independence 
and objectivity of the external auditor is not 
compromised.

the Audit committee had reviewed and  
discussed the Audited financial statements as  
at 31 december 2012 audited by messrs. 
p r i cewate rhousecooper s  ma lay s i a  and 
recommended to the Board on 25 february 
2013, that the Audited financial statements as 
at 31 december 2012 be included in the 
company’s Annual report 2012.

the Board of directors had on 26 february 2013 
approved the aforesaid Audited financial 
statements for inclusion in the company’s 
Annual report 2012 and filed with the Bursa 
malaysia securities Berhad and securities 
commission.

(b) Meetings
the meetings of the Audit committee are 
attended by the managing director, finance 
director, a representative from British American 
tobacco p.l.c group internal Audit and 
representatives of the external auditor. the Audit 
committee had met four times during 2012. 

no member of the Audit committee, save and 
except the chairman of the Audit committee, 
received any payments in 2012 from the group 
other than the fees which had been received as 
a non-executive director of the company and 
allowances for attendance at meetings. the 

chairman of the Audit committee receives an 
annual fixed fee for his chairmanship of the 
Audit committee.

for details on the functions, composition, 
membership and summary of activities of the 
Audit committee in 2012, please refer to pages 
59 to 63 of this Annual report.

2. Nomination Committee
the nomination committee comprises exclusively of 
non-executive directors, where three of the four 
members are independent non-executive directors. 
the chairman of the nomination committee is datuk 
mohamad salim bin fateh din, independent non- 
executive director of the company.

the authority and terms of reference of the 
nomination committee are as follows:

(a) Authority
the nomination committee is authorised by the 
Board to act as follows:

• to make proposals to the Board on suitable 
candidates for appointment as directors.

• to ensure that the Board has an appropriate 
balance of skills, expertise, attributes and 
core competencies from its members.

• to regularly review profiles of the required 
ski l ls,  expertise, attr ibutes and core 
competencies for membership to the Board.

• to review succession plans for members of 
the Board.

• to recommend to the Board, directors to 
fill the seats on Board committees.

• to assess annually the effectiveness of the 
Board,  Board committees  and the 
contribution of each individual director.

(b) Meetings

• the nomination committee shall meet at 
least once a year or upon the request of 
any of its members.

• A majority of the members in attendance 
must be independent non-executive 
directors in order to form a quorum for the 
meeting.
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• the company secretary shall record, prepare 
and circulate the minutes of the meetings 
of the nomination committee and ensure 
that the minutes are properly kept and 
produced for inspection if required.

• the nomination committee shall report to 
the Board and its minutes will be tabled 
and noted by the Board.

the nomination committee met once during the 
financial year ended 31 december 2012.

3. Remuneration Committee
the remuneration committee consists of four 
directors who are mainly non-executive directors. 
two of the three non-executive directors in the 
remuneration committee are independent non- 
executive directors. the chairman of the remuneration 
committee is datuk mohamad salim bin fateh din, 
independent non-executive director of the company.

the remuneration packages of executive directors 
and top team are put forth to the remuneration 
committee for deliberation and decisions. in addition, 
the managing director (who is one of the four 
directors in the remuneration committee), in 
consultation with the chairman of the company, 
shall recommend to the Board, the fees payable to 
non-executive directors as set forth in the BAtm 
code.

A director whose remuneration package is being 
considered will abstain from deliberating and voting 
on the recommendation of the relevant director’s 
remuneration package. it is the responsibility of the 
entire Board to approve the remuneration of these 
directors with the executive directors concerned 
abstaining from deliberations and voting on their 
own remuneration. the managing director, who is a 
member of the remuneration committee, makes 
presentations to the remuneration committee on the 
remuneration, compensation payments, annual bonus 
and salary increments of executive directors and 
members of the top team. the remuneration 
packages are designed to attract, motivate and retain 
talented and dedicated executive directors and 
members of the top team.

for other employees of the group, their remuneration 
packages are oversee by the executive compensation 
committee. the chairman of the executive 
compensation committee is datuk william toh Ah 
wah, non-independent executive director of the 
company.

the executive compensation committee ensures that 
remuneration packages are such as to enable the 
company to recruit and retain talented and dedicated 
employees of the necessary calibre and comparable to 
those employees in other benchmarked companies. 

(a) Authority 
the remuneration committee is authorised by 
the Board to act as follows:

•  to recommend to the Board the company’s 
pol icy  f ramework on the terms of 
employment of the executive directors and 
members of the top team.

•  to recommend to the Board on all elements 
of  remunerat ion and compensat ion 
payments of the executive directors and 
members of the top team.

•  to review and approve the annual bonus 
and salary increments of the executive 
directors and members of the top team.

•  to review and recommend to the Board the 
remuneration of the non-executive directors.

(b) Meetings and minutes
the remuneration committee shall meet at least 
once a year or otherwise as it decides.

•  A majority of the members in attendance 
must be non-executive directors in order to 
form a quorum for the meeting.

•  executive directors and non-executive 
directors shall abstain from the deliberations 
and voting decisions in respect of their 
respective remuneration either at the 
remuneration committee or Board level as 
the case may be.

•  the remuneration committee shall be 
entitled to call for advice internally from the 
human resources department or from 
external sources, when necessary.
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• the company secretary shall record, prepare 
and circulate the minutes of the meetings 
of the remuneration committee and ensure 
that the minutes are properly kept and 
produced for inspection if required.

• the remuneration committee shall report 
to the Board and the minutes of the 
remuneration committee meeting will be 
tabled and noted by the Board.

Sub-Committees

Sub-
Committee

Composition of 
Members Role and Responsibilities Operating Procedures

executive 
compensation 
committee 
(ecc)

(a) non-executive 
director of the 
company 
(chairman of ecc).

(b) British American 
tobacco p.l.c’s Asia 
pacific regional 
director or 
British American 
tobacco 
p.l.c’s Asia pacific 
regional head of 
human resources.

(c) British American 
tobacco p.l.c’s Asia 
pacific regional 
head of rewards.

(d) managing director 
of the company.

(e) finance director of 
the company.

the human resources 
director of the 
company acts as the 
secretary of the ecc.

the ecc is authorised to perform, with 
respect to all employees (except 
members of the top team) of the 
group, the following functions:

• to review and approve all elements of 
remuneration, compensation payments, 
bonuses, rewards and benefits which 
include inter alia the elements set out 
below, save and except salaries of 
employees in the group which are 
reviewed and approved by the relevant 
head of functions with the human 
resources director:

(i) to ensure that the group 
remuneration systems offer the 
opportunity of excellent reward 
for excellent performance.

(ii)  to examine reward packages as   
a whole, seeking overall 
competitiveness rather than 
item-by-item comparability based 
on the market and affordability.

(iii) to review the individual 
components of the total reward 
package to determine, via 
employees and market trends, 
the benefit value of each 
element and adjust the package 
to achieve the greatest perceived 
value for cost.

• to meet at least twice a 
year or more frequently, 
if necessary.

• the quorum for the ecc 
shall be at least three 
members, including the 
chairman, British 
American tobacco p.l.c’s 
Asia pacific regional 
director or British 
American tobacco p.l.c’s 
Asia pacific regional head 
of human resources and 
the managing director, 
being present.

• the secretary shall record 
and circulate the minutes 
of the meeting.

• ecc minutes will be 
tabled and noted by the 
remuneration committee 
and Board.

in 2012, the ecc met once 
to review and deliberate on 
matters such as budgets for 
increment, increment 
guidelines, bonus payments 
and benefits.

in 2012, the remuneration committee met three 
times. Amongst the items deliberated by the 
remuneration committee in 2012 were the annual 
bonus and salary increment for the executive directors 
and top team and remuneration package of the new 
marketing director and the new operations director.
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Sub-
Committee

Composition of 
Members Role and Responsibilities Operating Procedures

(iv) to establish an appropriate 
comparator market in terms of 
the types of organisations which 
would be direct competitors for 
the calibre of employees required 
and against which the group in 
practice has to recruit within the 
business environment. 

(v) to ensure that arrangements are 
made for regular surveys of 
remuneration and benefits, with 
a sufficient sample of comparator 
companies to obtain a reliable 
measure of the market. this may 
be through participation in 
surveys of other companies or 
the commissioning of a survey 
through suitable local 
consultants.

(vi) to ensure that the remuneration 
package is at all times fully in 
compliance with local taxation 
and legal requirements, whilst at 
the same time maximising 
legitimate commercial advantage.

• to review and approve the mandate 
for collective agreement.

• to review, approve and amend as the 
case may be, the design and terms 
of the executive shares scheme.

• to review and approve voluntary 
separation scheme.

• to note job upgrades of grades 36 
to 38.
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Sub-
Committee

Composition of 
Members Role and Responsibilities Operating Procedures

corporate 
social 
responsibility 
(csr) 
committee

company’s top team 
with the corporate 
Affairs manager as the 
secretary of the csr 
committee.

• identification and management of key 
social and environmental issues.

• identification and engagement with 
key stakeholders.

• monitoring the efficiency and 
effectiveness of corporate social 
responsibility management systems 
and controls.

• ensuring the reliability of social and 
environmental performance 
management information.

• monitoring alignment with the 
company’s statement of Business 
principles.

• to meet at least twice 
annually.

• British American tobacco 
p.l.c group internal Audit 
are invited to attend the 
csr committee 
meeting and be heard on 
any corporate 
responsibility matter 
which affects the 
company.

in 2012, the csr committee 
met twice to deliberate on 
among others, the review of 
the company’s current 
sustainability framework and 
strategy and the company’s 
sustainability activities.

for details of the corporate 
responsibility activities, please 
refer to pages 81 to 92 of 
this Annual report.
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Sub-
Committee

Composition of 
Members Role and Responsibilities Operating Procedures

risk 
management 
team (rmt)

(a) finance director 
(chairman of rmt).

(b) senior managers 
from all functions 
of the company.

• protect the group’s corporate assets 
and its ability to meet or exceed its 
strategic business objectives 
consistently.

• minimise the total cost of risk.

• comply with the malaysian code and 
the guidelines on risk management 
set by the company’s ultimate 
holding company, British American 
tobacco p.l.c.

• review and update the top team 
and Audit committee on the group’s 
enterprise risk management 
programme.

• review and recommend to the top 
team and Audit committee the key 
risks for the group.

• review and update the top team 
and Audit committee on the ongoing 
status of the key risk response 
measures.

• review and update the top team 
and Audit committee on the status 
of the Business continuity plans.

• to meet at least twice 
annually.

• British American tobacco 
p.l.c group internal Audit 
participates in the rmt 
meetings as an advisor 
on the effectiveness of 
the risk management 
process. British American 
tobacco p.l.c group 
internal Audit also 
reviews the effectiveness 
of the internal controls 
and risk mitigation plans 
in place for key business 
risks identified and 
provides a facilitation role 
on above market risks 
– regional and global 
risks that have been 
identified by related 
parties.

• the Board through the 
Audit committee reviews 
the effectiveness of the 
group’s enterprise risk 
management programme 
bi-annually.

the rmt met twice during 
the financial year ended 31 
december 2012 to deliberate 
on the above matters.

for details of the group’s 
enterprise risk management 
activities in 2012, please 
refer to pages 67 to 68 of 
the Annual report.
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Appointment process

the Board of directors appoints its members through a 
formal process as set out in Article 103 of the company’s 
Articles of Association (Articles). directors who seek re-
election or re-appointment at the company’s Annual 
general meeting are also subjected to the same process. 
A director seeking re-election and re-appointment will 
abstain from all deliberations regarding his re-election and 
re-appointment to the Board and Board committees.

the nomination committee is empowered to identify and 
recommend new appointments to the Board. in discharging 
this duty, the nomination committee will assess the 
suitability of an individual to be appointed to the Board 
by taking into account the individual’s skills, knowledge, 
expertise and experience, professionalism and integrity. 
the nomination committee shall also ensure that the 
procedures for appointing new directors are transparent, 
rigorous and that appointments are made on merit and 
against objective criteria for the purpose. Besides evaluating 
the skills and experience of the candidates, the nomination 

committee also takes into consideration the following 
factors:

(a) whether the individual meets the requirements for 
independence as defined in the listing requirements;

(b) the individual’s general understanding of the company’s 
business and market;

(c) the individual professional expertise and background; 
and

(d) other factors that promote diversity of views and 
experience.

however, Article 95(2) of the company’s Articles states 
that at any point of time, the total number of directors 
shall not be less than two and not more than 15.

directors may hold up to 10 directorships in listed 
companies and up to 15 for non-listed companies (both 
non-listed and private companies).

the changes at the 2012 Annual general meeting are as follows:

Name Designation

Nature of changes at the 
2012 Annual General 
Meeting

datuk oh chong peng independent non-executive director re-elected

dato’ Ahmad Johari independent non-executive director re-elected

datuk Zainun Aishah binti Ahmad independent non-executive director re-elected

ms. christine lee oi kuan non-independent executive director 
(corporate and legal Affairs director) 

re-elected

Re-election or re-appointment process 

the company does not have term limits for both executive 
directors and independent directors but the Board of 
directors does review its evaluation process annually and 
in terms of the tenure for independent directors, the 
Board of directors believes that valuable contribution can 
be obtained from directors who have, over a period of 
time, developed valuable insight of the company and its 
business. their continued contribution provides benefit to 
the Board and the company as a whole. the company is 
confident and firmly believes that individuals chosen and 
appointed to the Board as directors are all individuals of 
high calibre and integrity and can be tasked to discharge 

their duties and responsibilities independently and 
effectively notwithstanding their tenure on the Board. 

notwithstanding the above, directors of the company are 
regularly re-appointed at regular intervals in accordance 
with the company’s Articles and good corporate 
governance practice.

Articles 97(1) and (2) of the company’s Articles provides 
that at least one third of the Board is subject to retirement 
by rotation at each Annual general meeting. the directors 
to retire in each year are the directors who have been 
longest in office since their appointment or re-election.
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the above directors who are subject to re-election have 
accepted the recommendation and have agreed to serve 
as directors if elected by the shareholders at the 
forthcoming Annual general meeting.

Director’s remuneration

the company’s remuneration policy for directors is tailored 
to provide a remuneration package needed to recruit, 
retain and motivate retain individuals of the necessary 
calibre and quality that is required to manage the business 
of the group.

for the executive directors of the group, corporate and 
individual performance are rewarded through the use of an 
integrated pay benefits and bonus structure and reflects 
the competitive nature of the group’s operations in order 
to contribute to the winning organisation strategy of the 
group. executive directors who are full time employees of 
the company, receive no additional compensation for 
services as a director of the Board. on an annual basis, the 
remuneration committee considers market competitiveness, 
business results and individual performance in evaluating 
the executive directors’ remuneration.

in evaluating the managing director’s remuneration, the 
remuneration committee also takes into account, corporate 
and individual performance, as well as performance on a 
range of other factors including accomplishment of strategic 
goals as well as regional and global corporate performance.

the remuneration committee recommends to the Board 
the remuneration package of an executive director and it 
is the responsibility of the Board as a whole to approve 
the remuneration package of an executive director.

the remuneration package for directors comprises the 
following elements:

• Basic salary

the basic salaries for the executive directors are 
recommended by the remuneration committee to 
the Board for approval.

the Board will recommend to shareholders, executive and 
non-executive directors proposed for re-election or re-
appointment at an Annual general meeting, in accordance 
with the Articles and upon recommendation of the 
nomination committee after evaluating the performance 
of the individual director. in determining whether to 
recommend a director for re-election or re-appointment, 
the director’s past attendance at meetings, participation 
and contribution to the activities of the Board will be duly 
considered by the nomination committee.

retiring directors can offer themselves for re-election. 
three directors namely datuk william toh Ah wah, mr. 
James richard suttie and mr. Andreas michael thompson 
are due to retire pursuant to Articles 97(1) and (2) at this 
Annual general meeting and will be recommended for re-
election by the Board pursuant to the Articles.

Article 103 of the Articles provides that a director 
appointed by the Board from time to time shall hold office 
only until next Annual general meeting and shall then be 
eligible for re-election.

datuk mohamad salim bin fateh din who was appointed 
independent non-executive director and chairman of the 
company on 11 April 2012 is due to retire pursuant to 
Article 103 and be subjected to re-election at this Annual 
general meeting.

the company would like to continue to retain datuk oh 
chong peng (who has served as an independent director 
of the company for more than nine years), on its Board of 
directors as an independent non-executive director and to 
hold office until the conclusion of the next Annual general 
meeting. the nomination committee and the Board are 
confident and firmly believe that datuk oh can be tasked 
to discharge his duties and responsibilities independently, 
and objectively notwithstanding his tenure on the Board.

As part of good corporate governance, datuk oh chong 
peng has offered himself for re-election at the Annual 
general meeting on 17 April 2013.

the nomination committee is satisfied that the above 
directors have met the requirements set out above and 
has recommended to the Board of directors their re-
election at the Annual general meeting on 17 April 2013.
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• Benefits-in-kind

customary benefits such as provision of rented accommodation for expatriate executive directors, motor vehicle, 
club membership and personal expenses are made available to the executive directors in accordance with the 
policies of the group.

• emoluments

emoluments such as bonuses, retirement benefits, provision for leave, fixed allowances, statutory contributions and 
incentives in the form of shares/option in shares of British American tobacco p.l.c pursuant to the British American 
tobacco p.l.c’s shares scheme.

Director
Fees
(RM)

Salaries
(RM)

Other 
emoluments*
(RM)

Benefits-in-
kind**
(RM)

Total
(RM)

datuk Mohammad salim bin fateh din
Independent Non-Executive Director
(Chairman)

249,167*** nil 122,191 nil 371,358

tan sri Abu talib bin othman9

Independent Non-Executive Director
68,303 nil nil 3,471 71,774

datuk oh chong Peng
Independent Non-Executive Director

90,000 nil 28,000 nil 118,000

dato’ Ahmad Johari bin tun Abdul razak
Independent Non-Executive Director

90,000 nil 2,000 nil 92,000

datuk Zainun Aishah binti Ahmad 
Independent Non-Executive Director 

80,000 nil 3,000 nil 83,000

James richard suttie 
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director 

90,000 nil 8,000 nil 98,000

datuk William toh Ah Wah
Non-Independent Executive Director
(Managing Director)

nil 1,943,355 2,442,244 33,758 4,419,357

Andreas Michael thompson
Non-Independent Executive Director 
(Finance Director)

nil 724,835 1,040,665 424,496 2,189,996

dato’ chan choon ngai
Non-Independent Executive Director
(Operations Director)

nil 973,143 847,657 70,825 1,891,625

christine lee oi Kuan
Non-Independent Executive Director 
(Corporate and Legal Affairs Director) 

nil 770,451 1,031,884 425,059 2,227,394

9 Tan Sri Abu Talib bin Othman retired as Independent Non-Executive Director and Chairman of the Company with effect from 29 February 2012.

* Other emoluments include bonus, retirement benefits, provision for leave, fixed allowances, statutory contributions and incentives in the form 
of shares/option in shares of British American Tobacco p.l.c pursuant to the British American Tobacco p.l.c’s shares scheme.

** Benefits-in-kind include provision of rented accommodation for expatriate Executive Directors, motor vehicle, club membership and personal 
expenses.

*** Fees for being Chairman of the Board and Chairman of relevant Board Committees.
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All non-executive directors are paid fixed annual director 
fees as members of the Board and Board committees. the 
fees payable to each of the non-executive director are 
determined by the Board as authorised by the shareholders 
of the company. the amount of remuneration for each of 
the non-executive director varies with the level of 
responsibilities undertaken by the individual non-executive 
director.

in addition to fixed annual director fees, all non-executive 
directors, save for the chairman of the Board, is paid a 
meeting attendance allowance for each committee 
meeting attended. in recognition of the additional time 
and commitment required, the chairman of the Audit 
committee also receives an annual fixed fee for his 
chairmanship in the Audit committee. information 
prepared by independent consultants and survey data on 
the remuneration practices of comparable companies are 
taken into consideration in determining the remuneration 
packages for executive and non-executive directors.

Board performance evaluation
the Board conducts an annual evaluation of its activities 
and evaluates the overall Board’s performance against 
criteria that the Board determines are important to its 
success. these include the Board’s composition, 
independence, communication, effectiveness and 
responsibilities. 

the company secretary circulates to the directors an 
evaluation survey questionnaire to ascertain their views on 
the performance of the Board and Board committees 
which thereafter are compiled into a report for the 
chairman. the report is presented to the nomination 
committee and then to the Board for evaluation and 
consideration. the Board’s performance evaluation process 
in 2012 reported that the Board and Board committees 
had continued to operate effectively in discharging their 
duties and responsibilities. overall, the directors were of 
the opinion that they have fulfilled their responsibilities as 
members of the Board and Board committees and were 
satisfied with the group’s direction, strategy, planning and 
budgeting process and their level of contribution to these 
matters.

All directors confirmed that they have sufficient access to 
the chairman. the directors agreed that the managing 
director and senior management were responsive to 
questions and issues raised by the Board and that the 
managing director and senior management communicated 
with the Board in an open, candid and timely manner. 
the Board also agreed that the company has sufficient risk 
management procedures in place and the Board’s goals, 
objectives, expectations and concerns were effectively 
communicated to the managing director and senior 
management to be acted upon.

Directors’ training
in order to ensure that the directors are well equipped in 
discharging their responsibilities, all newly appointed 
directors will undergo an induction programme upon 
joining the Board which consists of briefings on all areas 
of the group’s business.

All existing directors of the company have completed the 
mandatory Accreditation programme (mAp). Any director 
appointed to the Board is required to complete the mAp 
within four months from the date of appointment. 
following the repeal of the continuing education 
programme (cep) requirements prescribed by Bursa 
malaysia securities Berhad with effect from 1 January 
2005, the Board of directors continue to evaluate and 
determine the training needs of its directors to ensure 
continuing education to assist them in the discharge of 
their duties as directors.

the directors will continue to undergo other relevant 
training programmes and seminars to ensure that they 
remain well equipped with the relevant knowledge as well 
as emergent strategic directions and ideas in discharging 
their duties to the group.

pursuant to paragraph 15.08(2) and Appendix 9c (part A, 
paragraph 28) of the listing requirements, the directors 
have during the financial year ended 31 december 2012 
attended training programmes in areas of leadership, 
corporate governance, finance, regulatory developments, 
corporate social responsibility, information security and 
business intelligence.
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particulars of training programmes attended by the directors as at 31 december 2012 are as follows:

Directors Training Programme

datuk Mohamad salim  
  bin fateh din 

1. mandatory Accreditation programme for directors of public listed 
companies10

2. Business sustainability – governance, responsibility, profits11

3. directors cep training 201212

datuk oh chong Peng internal capital Adequacy Assessment process (icAAp) implementation 
challenges for the Bank management in malaysia13 

dato’ Ahmad Johari bin tun Abdul 
razak

directors cep training 201214 

James richard suttie directors cep training 201215

datuk William toh Ah Wah 1. Advocacy sessions on disclosure for chief executive officers16

2. directors cep training 201217

Andreas Michael thompson 1. Advocacy sessions on disclosure for chief executive officers18

2. directors cep training 201219

dato’ chan choon ngai directors cep training 201220

datuk Zainun Aishah binti Ahmad 1. Briefing on new corporate governance Blueprint and regulatory 
updates21

2. nurturing engagement for Board effectiveness22

3. corporate governance Blueprint and malaysian code of corporate 
governance 201223

4. case studies for Boardroom excellence: fraud detection and 
prevention24

5. directors cep training 201225

christine lee oi Kuan 1. mandatory Accreditation programme for directors of public listed 
companies26

2. directors cep training 201227

3. Achieving and increasing Boardroom effectiveness and performance28

4. corporate directors training programme (fundamental)29

10 2-days Mandatory Accreditation Programme conducted by 
Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad on overall rules and regulations 
governing public listed companies.

11 A Malaysian Forum on Business Sustainability, bringing together 
the thoughts of the leaders to explore different perspectives and 
approaches to building stakeholder values.

12 One day in-house workshop on Corporate Commercial Law Updates, 
Corporate Fraud in Malaysia and Control Health Check, Corporate 
Governance & Whistleblowing Security: Kidnapping and Extortion.

13 Seminar conducted by the Institute of Bankers Malaysia on Banking 
Insights.

14 Please refer to footnote no.12 above.
15 Please refer to footnote no.12 above.
16 Seminar conducted by Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad on guidance 

for corporate disclosure in the announcements, annual reports and 
financial reports. 

17 Please refer to footnote no.12 above.
18 Please refer to footnote no.16 above.
19 Please refer to footnote no.12 above.
20 Please refer to footnote no.12 above.

21 In-house workshop on the new Corporate Governance 2012 and 
changes to the regulatory requirements. 

22 Half-day interactive seminar to discover principles and practices in 
engaging the Board and management for greater effectiveness.

23 Seminar conducted by Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad on the 
Corporate Governance Blueprint and the Malaysian Code of 
Corporate Governance.

24 Half-day seminar conducted by Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad on 
Establishing an Effective Internal Control Systems, Ethical Standards 
to Prevent Management Abuses, Fraud Monitoring for Market 
Ranking, Case Studies on Listed Companies with Accounting & 
Auditing Irregularities.

25 Please refer to footnote no.12 above.
26 Please refer to footnote no.10 above.
27 Please refer to footnote no.12 above.
28 Seminar conducted by MAICSA on unlocking the roles of directors, 

update of the current issues concerning the directors, incorporate 
strong risk management strategy in organisations etc.

29 Workshop conducted by Companies Commission of Malaysia on 
developing a good understanding on the concept, features and 
significance of a company and outlining the roles and responsibilities 
of key human capital etc.
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Supply of information and access to independent 
advice
in carrying out their duties, the Board has direct and 
unrestricted access to the management of the company as 
well as individual access to the advice and services of the 
company secretary. the Board and Board committees 
receive up-to-date information for review ahead of each 
meeting, and the company secretary, under the direction 
of the chairman, ensures the flow of information to the 
Board and Board committees. the company secretary is 
also responsible for advising the Board, through the 
chairman on all governance matters. prior to Board and 
Board committees meetings, a formal and structured 
agenda together with a set of Board and Board committees 
papers containing information relevant to the matters to be 
deliberated at the meeting is forwarded to all directors at 
least five days before the relevant Board and Board 
committees meetings. this is to enable directors to review, 
consider, and if necessary, obtain further information or 
research on the matters to be deliberated in order to be 
well prepared at the meetings. 

the meeting papers are presented in a manner which 
include among others, comprehensive management reports, 
minutes of meetings, proposals project and supporting 
documents. presentations to the Board and Board committees 
are prepared and delivered in a manner that ensures a clear 
and adequate presentation of the subject matter. in addition, 
reading materials on the subject matter are prepared and 
circulated prior to each meeting to assist all directors in 
having an understanding of the subject matter.

the Board also encourages the attendance of senior 
management as well as officers of the company at Board 
and Board committees meetings to increase the Board’s 
understanding of the company’s operations and to give the 
directors access to senior management. the directors are 
regularly updated on new statutory and regulatory 
requirements relating to the duties and responsibilities of 
directors and their impact and implication to the company 
and the directors in carrying out their fiduciary duties and 
responsibilities. 

there is also a formal procedure approved by the Board for 
all directors, whether acting as a full Board or in their 
individual capacity, to obtain independent professional advice 
when necessary, at the group’s expense. prior to engaging 
an independent adviser, approval must be obtained from the 
chairman of the Board and, where applicable, the chairman 
may circulate the external advice to the Board. 

save for the executive compensation committee and 
corporate social responsibility committee meetings, the 
company secretary attends all meetings of the Board and 
its committees. save for where the meetings are held only 
for the Audit committee and the external auditor, the 
managing director attends all meetings of the Audit 
committee and remuneration committee, the human 
resources director attends all meetings of the executive 
compensation committee, nomination committee and 
remuneration committee and save for where the meetings 
are held only for the Audit committee and the external 
auditor, the finance director attends all meetings of the 
Audit committee.

Relationship with Stakeholders

the company is aware that a key element of good corporate 
governance is the effective communication and dissemination 
of clear, relevant and comprehensive information which is 
timely and readily accessible by the company’s stakeholders.

Shareholders

the group believes that the management of a successful and 
productive relationship with its shareholders must be 
underpinned by the importance of maintaining transparency 
and accountability to its shareholders. the Board ensures that 
all the company’s shareholders are treated equitably and 
ensure that the rights of all investors, including minority 
shareholders are protected. the group’s primary contact with 
shareholders is through the chairman, managing director, 
finance director and company secretary. All shareholders’ 
queries will be received by the company secretary and the 
company secretary will provide feedback and responses to 
shareholders’ queries and where any information may be 
regarded as undisclosed material information about the 
group such information will not be made available to a 
shareholder unless already in the public domain through 
disclosure.

Annual General Meeting (AGM)
the company’s Agm remains the principal forum for 
dialogue and communication between the shareholders and 
the Board. At the Agm, shareholders participate in the 
deliberations of the resolutions being proposed or on the 
group’s operations in general. shareholders are encouraged 
at each Agm  to ask questions about the resolutions being 
proposed and the operations of the group and communicate 
their expectations and concerns. Questions posed are, where 
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possible, answered in detail either at the Agm itself or 
thereafter where the shareholders will be contacted and 
provided with the answers. At every Agm, a helpdesk will 
also be set up as a contact point for the shareholders. 

the 2012 Agm was held on 10 April 2012 at the hilton 
hotel in petaling Jaya, selangor. All resolutions were approved 
and all directors (save for the chairman who was appointed 
on 11 April 2012)  and the company secretary attended the 
meeting. the Board, senior management and the company’s 
externa l  lega l  counse l s  and audi tors ,  messrs . 
pricewaterhousecoopers were present to answer questions 
raised and provide clarification as required by the shareholders. 
A press conference was held immediately after the Agm 
where the managing director, finance director and 
operations director advised the media on the resolutions 
approved by the shareholders and clarified issues and 
answered questions posed by the media to the group. 

the 2013 Agm will be held on 17 April 2013 at the hilton 
hotel in petaling Jaya, selangor. the notice of Agm and the 
form of proxy are enclosed with the Abridged Annual report 
2012. the results of all resolutions proposed will be available 
on the company’s and the Bursa malaysia securities Berhad’s 
website on 17 April 2013.

Annual Report
the company believes that the Annual report embodies 
the characteristics laid down by Bursa malaysia securities 
Berhad of transparency and accountability that are required 
in shareholders’ communication policy of a public listed 
company. the contents of the Annual report are 
continuously enhanced to take into account developments, 
amongst others, in corporate governance.

the Board also aims to provide and present a clear and 
comprehensive assessment of disclosures in the Annual 
report to shareholders. in disclosing information in the 
Annual report, the Board is guided by the principles set 
out in the listing requirements and the BAtm code.
 
the statement on corporate governance, statement on 
risk management and internal control, corporate social 
responsibility committee’s report, standards of Business 
conduct and Audit committee report form part of the 
Annual report 2012. these statements and reports were 
tabled at the Audit committee meeting for its comments 
and recommendation to the Board of directors for review 
and deliberation before being incorporated into the Annual 
report.

An essential aspect of an active and constructive 
communication policy is the promptness in disseminating 
information to shareholders and investors. the company 
sends out the notice of the Annual general meeting and 
related circular to shareholders at least 21 days before the 
meeting as required by the companies Act 1965 in order 
to facilitate full understanding and evaluation of the issues 
involved. where special business items appear in the 
notice of the Annual general meeting, a full explanation 
is provided to shareholders on the effect of the proposed 
resolution emanating from the special business item. 
prompt and timely release of financial results on a quarterly 
basis enables shareholders to have an overview of the 
group’s performance and operations and make informed 
investment decisions.

Release of Annual Report

Date of Issue/Release
Bursa Securities 
Deadline

Number of days after 
end of year

Annual report 2012 21 march 2013 30 June 2013 80

Annual report 2011 16 march 2012 30 June 2012 76
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Release of Quarterly Financial Results

2012 Quarterly Results Date of Issue/Release
Bursa Securities 
Deadline

Number of days after 
end of quarter

first Quarter 23 April 2012 31 may 2012 23

second Quarter 19 July 2012 31 August 2012 19

third Quarter 23 october 2012 30 november 2013 23

fourth Quarter 26 february 2013 28 february 2013 57

Investor Relations

(i) Quarterly briefings and other forms of 
communication

 the company holds separate quarterly briefings for 
fund managers, institutional investors and investment 
analysts as well as the media after each quarter’s 
announcement of financial results to Bursa malaysia 
securities Berhad. the quarterly briefings are intended 
not only to promote the dissemination of the financial 
results of the group to as wide an audience of 
investors, shareholders and media as possible but also 
to keep the investing public and other stakeholders 
updated on the progress and development of the 
business of the group. this is further testimony to the 
company’s continued commitment to transparency.

 the quarterly briefings are attended by the managing 
director, finance director and corporate and legal 
Affairs director of the company.

 in 2012, the company held four quarterly briefings, 
29 direct one-on-one meetings, two road-shows and 
hosted seven teleconferences with fund managers, 
institutional investors and investment analysts. 

(ii) Company website
 to further enhance transparency to all shareholders 

and stakeholders of the company, the group has 
established a website at www.batmalaysia.com. 
shareholders can access information under the 
‘investor’ link encompassing corporate information, 
latest annual reports, latest press releases, latest 
financial results, share prices, Bursa malaysia securities 
Berhad’s announcements, investor relations and 
briefings.

 other stakeholders can also access the website for 
other information related to the group such as the 
group’s policies and standards, social responsibility 
initiatives, career opportunities, information pertaining 
to the illicit cigarette trade in malaysia and its impact 
to the country, employment rewards and benefits 
and tobacco sciences issues.

(iii) Senior personnel
 shareholders and other interested parties may contact 

the company’s designated senior independent non-
executive director, datuk oh chong peng to address 
any concerns by writing or via telephone, facsimile or 
electronic mail as follows:

tel: +60 (3)7956 6899/7491 7100
fax: +60 (3)7491 3772
e-mail: ocpeng@bat.com
postal Address:
virginia park, Jalan universiti
46200 petaling Jaya
selangor darul ehsan, malaysia

primary contact for investor relation matters:
finance director

contact details
telephone number: +60 (3)7491 7328
e-mail: fdoffice_malaysia@bat.com
postal Address:
virginia park, Jalan universiti
46200 petaling Jaya
selangor darul ehsan, malaysia
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Employees

the group believes in promoting high standards of 
conduct and all employees are guided by four value 
systems, namely the guiding principles, employment 
principles, Business principles and standards of Business 
conduct (value systems), in ensuring that they continuously 
uphold such conduct in the performance of their duties.

the guiding principles are premised on four values. they 
are as follows:

• strength from diversity
• open minded
• freedom through responsibility
• enterprising spirit 

these principles embodies the group’s culture, the 
personality of the organisation and also serves as a 
guidance to the group’s employees on behaviour.

the employment principles focuses on work place practices 
and ethics, employee relations and employee human 
rights. this principle set out a common approach to the 
development of policies and procedures taking into 
account labour laws and practices and the political, 
economic and cultural context.

the Business principles describe how the group should be 
run in terms of responsibility. 

the standards of Business conduct describe high standards 
of business integrity and code of ethics that guide an 
employee’s conduct.

to ensure compliance, all management employees, 
including the Board of directors and the group’s suppliers 
and service providers are required to declare their 
compliance with the standards of Business conduct and 
disclose any conflicts of interest on a yearly basis. A 
register of declaration of interest is maintained by the 
company secretary. All declarations of interest are tabled 
at the Board meeting for consideration. Any potential 
conflict of interest which does not involve a member of 
the local top team or an employee of grade 37 or above, 
will not have to be reported to the regional Audit 
committee provided that it was:

(i) properly declared by the employee concerned at the 
appropriate time;

(ii) reviewed at the appropriate management level and 
deemed acceptable; and 

(iii) not otherwise inconsistent with the requirements of 
the standards of Business conduct. in 2012, there 
had been 17 declarations of conflict of interest made 
by employees of the group. details of the group’s 
value systems are available at the company’s website 
at www.batmalaysia.com.

Consumers

guided by the principle of responsible product stewardship, 
the group’s products and brands are developed, 
manufactured and marketed in a responsible manner. 

Suppliers and Service Providers

the standards of Business conduct which binds the 
group’s employees, are similarly binding on the group’s 
suppliers and service providers (where applicable) in 
ensuring high standards of business ethics amongst all 
suppliers and service providers of the group, including the 
suppliers’ or service providers’ related companies. the 
applicable provisions in the standards are incorporated in 
the contract with the relevant suppliers or service providers. 
it is made clear in all agreements with suppliers and 
service providers that breaches of any provisions in the 
standards of Business conduct of which the relevant 
supplier or service provider have been made aware of, 
may lead to immediate termination of the contract with 
the said supplier or service provider.

Accountability and Audit

Financial reporting
in presenting the annual audited financial statements and 
quarterly announcement of results to shareholders, the 
Board aims to present a balanced and understandable 
assessment of the group’s position and prospects. the 
Audit committee assists the Board to oversee the group’s 
financial reporting processes and the quality of its financial 
reporting by reviewing the information to be disclosed, to 
ensure completeness, accuracy and adequacy prior to 
release to Bursa securities and securities commission.
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Directors’ responsibility statement in respect of 
the preparation of the Audited Financial Statements
the directors are required by the companies Act 1965 to 
prepare financial statements for each financial year which 
have been made out in accordance with the provisions of 
the Act and applicable approved accounting standards and 
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 
group and company at the end of the financial year and 
of the results and cash flows of the group and company 
for the financial year. in preparing the financial statements, 
the directors have ensured that accounting standards 
approved by the malaysian Accounting standards Board 
(mAsB) in malaysia and the provisions of the companies 
Act 1965 have been complied with and reasonable and 
prudent judgments and estimates have been made.

the directors are satisfied that in preparing the financial 
statements of company’s position and prospects in the 
directors’ report at pages 121 to 126 and the financial 
statements from pages 130 to 197 of this Annual report.

Internal control
it is important to emphasise that the ultimate responsibility 
for ensuring a sound internal control system and reviewing 
the effectiveness of the system lies with the Board. the 
Board sets policies and procedures for internal control and 
ensures that such internal control system is properly carried 
out by the management of the company. the company 
has established processes to oversee and manage risks.

for details of these processes, please refer to pages 64 to 
70 of this Annual report.

the group has in place an information technology policy 
that outlines the processes that should be followed to 
create policies, best practices, standards and the use of 
supporting information technologies. the group is mindful 
that there is a risk of legal action if technology systems or 
information are misused in a manner which breaches 
legislation. the group therefore ensures that all software 
used by the group are licensed.

in accordance with the guidance for directors of public 
listed companies, reviews by the Board were carried out 
at least annually, covering all material controls including 
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk 
management systems. the Board derives reasonable 
assurances from reports submitted by the relevant 
committee on risk management and internal control.

for details of the internal Audit function, please refer to 
page 63 of this Annual report.

Whistleblowing policy
one of the key provisions in the standards of Business 
conduct is whistleblowing. the group acknowledges that 
misconduct in any company such as violation of laws, 
rules, regulations, production fault, fraud, health and 
safety violations or corruption are usually known first by 
the people who work in or with the group.

An early warning system such as a whistleblowing procedure 
can help the group detect wrongdoings and alert the 
group to take corrective action before a problem becomes 
a crisis. A whistleblowing system strengthens, supports 
good management and at the same time demonstrates 
accountability, provides good risk management and sound 
corporate governance practices. it is the Board’s belief that 
having a whistleblowing procedure in place will increase 
investors’ confidence in the group and is in line with the 
group’s sound corporate governance practices.

the company’s internal whistleblowing procedure was 
established in 2004 pursuant to the standards and is 
reviewed by the company for enhancements from time to 
time. the whistleblowing procedure enables employees to 
make their concerns known without fear of retaliation and 
with the knowledge that their complaints will be acted 
upon and their identity is kept confidential. these concerns 
may be raised anonymously.

to further enhance the whistleblowing procedure 
framework, the company had put in place the procedures 
on incident reporting and investigation (incident 
procedures). the incident procedures is made available to 
all employees via the company’s intranet.

the incident procedures formally set out the process and 
procedures for reporting, investigation and evaluation of 
any suspicion of wrongdoing or misconduct committed by 
any employee of the group and non-employee who is a 
business partner/service provider of the group in a prompt 
and effective manner. the evaluation of any incidences 
reported is conducted by a formal evaluation committee 
comprising a majority of the company’s top team (evt).
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the evt is tasked to effectively drive and evaluate the 
investigation of any reported incident and decide on 
appropriate action to be taken arising from the investigation 
and is guided in its review of all investigation of incidents 
reported by a set of standard operating procedures (evt 
sop). the evt sop amongst others sets out clearly the 
roles and responsibilities of the evt, the head of 
investigation, the head of legal and the timelines for the 
review to be completed to ensure that speedy action is 
taken after an incident has been reported.

All incidents reported were investigated by an investigation 
team comprising of senior managers working closely with 
the evt to ensure that all cases which have been reported 
or discovered are investigated upon promptly. the reports 
of investigation are then sent to the evt for review and 
evaluation and if the case warrants it, police reports will 
be made, domestic inquiries will be conducted and 
appropriate disciplinary action including freezing of 
increments, issuance of warnings and termination will be 
taken. if any control weaknesses are identified by the 
investigation team such weaknesses will be rectified to 
prevent future occurrences. the outcome of the 
investigations and the actions taken by the company will 
be reported to the Audit committee of the company and 
further submitted to the regional Audit committee for the 
British American tobacco p.l.c’s main Board Audit 
committee. the company maintains a register of all 
whistleblowing/breach of standards incidences.

with the presence of the whistleblowing procedure, 
incident procedures and stringent control measures, the 
company detected eighteen incidents involving areas such 
as theft. the gross losses suffered by the company arising 
from these incidents reported in 2012 were approximately 
rm547,700.00. seven employees were dismissed from the 
company’s employment as a result of their misconduct.

Related party transactions
An internal compliance framework exists to ensure that the 
group meets its obligations under the listing requirements 
including obligations relating to related party transactions. 
the Board, through its Audit committee, reviews all 
related party transactions involved. A director who has an 
interest in a transaction must abstain from deliberation 
and voting on the relevant resolution, in respect of such 
transaction at the Board and at any general meeting 
convened to consider the matter.

there are procedures established by the company to 
ensure that all related party transactions are undertaken 
on an arm’s length basis and on normal commercial 
terms, consistent with the company’s usual business 
practices and policies, which are generally not more 
favourable than those generally available to the public and 
other suppliers and are not detrimental to the minority 
shareholders.

the internal framework pertaining to the governance of 
related party transactions is summarised as follows:

• A list of related parties of the group will be circulated 
to the directors and management of the group to 
notify that all related party transactions are required 
to be undertaken on an arm’s length basis and on 
normal commercial terms and not more favourable 
than those generally available to the public and other 
suppliers and are not detrimental to the minority 
shareholders.

• All related party transactions will be reported to the 
Audit committee of the company. Any member of 
the Audit committee of the company may as he 
deems fit, request for additional information pertaining 
to the transaction including from independent sources 
or advisers.

• All recurrent related party transactions which are 
entered into pursuant to the shareholders’ mandate 
for recurrent related party transactions will be 
recorded by the company in a register or records 
maintained by the company.

• All recurrent related party transactions entered into 
pursuant to the shareholders’ mandate shall be 
reviewed by the British American tobacco p.l.c group 
internal Audit to ensure that the relevant approvals 
have been obtained and the review procedures in 
respect of such transactions are adhered to.

• the management updates the Board on a quarterly 
basis on all recurrent related party transactions and in 
the event there are any discrepancies or queries, the 
Audit committee shall direct the British American 
tobacco p.l.c group internal Audit to carry out 
investigation pertaining to the discrepancies or 
queries.
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the recurrent related party transactions entered into by 
the group with its related parties in 2012 were for the 
purchase and sale of cigarettes and tobacco products, 
purchase of leaf, cigarette packaging and wrapping 
materials and tobacco products, procurement of 
information technology services, payment of royalties, 
payment of fees for technical and advisory support services, 
provision of technical and advisory support services and 
purchase and sale of equipment.

for details of these transactions, please refer to pages 180 
to 185 of this Annual report.

Relationship with External Auditor
the Board via the Audit committee maintains a formal 
and transparent professional relationship with the group’s 
auditors, both internal and external. the role of the Audit 
committee in relation to the auditors is described in the 
Audit committee report set out on pages 59 to 63 of this 
Annual report.

the Audit committee discusses with the external auditor 
the nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations 
before audit commences. the Audit committee ensures 
that the management will provide a timely response on 
any material queries raised by the external auditor after 
the audit to management, in respect of the accounting 
records, financial accounts or systems of control.

the Audit committee works closely with the senior audit 
partner assigned by messrs. pricewaterhousecoopers 
malaysia to the company, to act as the key representative 
for overseeing the relationship of the company with the 
external auditor. in compliance with the malaysian institute 
of Accountants, the company rotates its audit partners 
every five years to ensure objectivity, independence and 
integrity of the audit opinions.

the Audit committee also meets with the external auditor 
to review the reasonableness of significant judgment, 
accounting principles and the operating effectiveness of 
internal controls and business risk management.

the Audit committee met with the external auditor four 
times in 2012 without the presence of the executive 
directors or management.

the Audit committee is tasked with authority from the 
Board to review any matters concerning the appointment 
and re-appointment, audit fee, resignation or dismissal of 
external auditor and review and evaluate factors relating 
to the independence of the external auditor and assist 
them in preserving their independence.

Compliance with the BATM Code
the Board has deliberated, reviewed and approved the 
statement on corporate governance. the Board is satisfied 
that the statement on corporate governance provides the 
information necessary to enable shareholders to evaluate 
how the malaysian code has been applied and that the 
company had fulfilled its obligation under the BAtm 
code, malaysian code, the listing requirements and all 
applicable laws and regulations throughout the financial 
year ended 31 december 2012.

this statement is made in accordance with the circular 
resolution of Board dated 26 february 2013.
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Audit committee report

the Audit committee report provides an insight on the Audit committee’s functions for the group in 2012.

Membership and Attendance

the Audit committee comprised the following members and details of attendance of each member at the Audit 
committee meetings during 2012 are as follows:

Composition of Audit Committee

Number of Audit Committee 
Meetings

%Held Attended

datuk oh chong Peng
Chairman
(Independent Non-Executive Director)

4 4/4 100

tan sri Abu talib bin othman
(Independent Non-Executive Director)

4 1/4* 25

James richard suttie
(Non-Independent Non-Executive Director)

4 4/4 100

dato’ Ahmad Johari bin tun Abdul razak
(Independent Non-Executive Director)

4 1/4** 25

datuk Zainun Aishah binti Ahmad
(Independent Non-Executive Director)

4 3/4*** 75

* Tan Sri Abu Talib bin Othman retired as Independent Non-Executive Director and Chairman of the Company with effect from 29 February 2012.
** Dato’ Ahmad Johari bin Tun Abdul Razak ceased to be a member of the Audit Committee effective 24 April 2012.
*** Datuk Zainun Aishah binti Ahmad was appointed Independent Non-Executive Director effective 1 March 2012.

From left:

datuk oh chong Peng
Chairman

James richard suttie
Member

datuk Zainun Aishah binti Ahmad
Member
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the managing director, finance director, a representative 
from British American tobacco p.l.c group internal Audit 
and representatives of the external auditor had attended 
all the meetings upon invitation by the Audit committee. 
from time to time, other members of senior management 
may also be invited by the Audit committee to attend 
Audit committee meetings.

All members of the Audit committee are financially literate 
and are able to analyse and interpret financial statements 
to effectively discharge their duties and responsibilities as 
members of the Audit committee.

Composition and Terms of Reference
(a) Members

 the Audit committee shall be appointed by the 
Board of directors and shall comprise of not less than 
three members and the majority shall be independent 
directors. currently, the members of the Audit 
committee are all non-executive directors.

 further, at least one member of the Audit committee 
shall be a member of the malaysian institute of 
Accountants or if he is not a member, he must have 
at least three years’ working experience and

(a) have passed the examinations specified in part i 
of the first schedule of the Accountants Act, 
1967; or

(b) is a member of one of the associations of 
accountants specified in part ii of the said 
schedule; or

(c) has a degree/masters/doctorate in accounting or 
finance and at least three years’ post qualification 
experience in accounting or finance; or

(d) is a member of a professional accountancy 
organisation which has been admitted as full 
members of the international federation of 
Accountants and at least three years post 
qualification experience in accounting or finance; 
or

(e) at least seven years of experience being a chief 
financial officer of a corporation or having the 
function of being primarily responsible for the 
management of the financial affairs of a 
corporation.

 no alternate director shall be appointed as a member 
of the Audit committee. the terms of office and 

performance of the members are reviewed once every 
three years to determine whether the members have 
carried out their duties in accordance with their terms 
of reference.

 in the event of any vacancy in the Audit committee 
resulting in the non-compliance of paragraph 15.09(1) 
of the main market listing requirements of Bursa 
malaysia securities Berhad (listing requirements), the 
Board shall fill the vacancy within three months from 
the date of the vacancy.

(b) Chairman

 the chairman of the committee shall be approved 
by the Board of directors and shall be an independent 
non-executive director.

(c) Quorum

 the quorum shall be two members, both of whom 
are to be independent directors.

(d) Meetings and minutes

 the Audit committee shall meet at least four times 
annually. however, at least once a year, the Audit 
committee shall meet with the external auditor 
without the executive directors and management 
being present. this year, the Audit committee met 
twice with the external auditor without the executive 
directors and management being present.

 other than in circumstances which the chairman 
considers inappropriate, the finance director, a 
representative from British American tobacco p.l.c 
group internal Audit and a representative of the 
external auditor attend all meetings of the Audit 
committee to make known their views on any matter 
under consideration by the Audit committee, or 
which in their opinion, should be brought to the 
attention of the Audit committee. the Audit 
committee may, as and when necessary, invite other 
members of the Board and members of senior 
management to attend the meetings to provide 
further information or details on matters that are 
being discussed and deliberated.

 the company secretary shall be the secretary of the 
Audit committee and will record, prepare and 
circulate the minutes of the meetings of the Audit 
committee and ensure that the minutes are properly 
kept and produced for inspection if required. the 
Audit committee shall report to the Board and its 
minutes tabled and noted by the Board.
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(e) Authority

 the Audit committee is authorised by the Board to 
review any activity within the Audit committee’s 
terms of reference and may seek any information the 
Audit committee requires from any director or 
member of management. further, the Audit 
committee has full and unrestricted access to any 
information pertaining to the group and the 
management, and all employees of the group are 
required to comply with the requests made by the 
Audit committee.

 the Audit committee shall obtain external professional 
advice and secure the attendance of external parties 
with relevant experience and expertise if it considers 
this necessary, the expenses of which will be borne 
by the company.

 in the event that any member of the Audit committee 
need to seek external professional advice in furtherance 
of his or her duties, he or she shall first consult with 
and obtain approval of the chairman of the Audit 
committee.

 the Audit committee shall have direct communication 
channels and be able to convene meetings with the 
external auditor without the presence of the non-
independent members of the Audit committee, 
whenever deemed necessary.

Responsibilities and Duties
the responsibilities and duties of the Audit committee are:

(a) Financial Reporting

• to review quarterly and annual financial statements 
of the company, focusing particularly on:

– any significant changes to accounting policies 
and practices;

– significant adjustments arising from the audits;

– compliance with applicable financial reporting 
standards and other legal and regulatory 
requirements; and

– a going concern assumption.

(b) Related Party Transactions

• to review related party transactions and conflict 
of interest situations that may arise within the 
group including any transaction, procedure or 
course of conduct that may raise questions of 
management integrity.

(c) Audit Reports

• to prepare the annual Audit committee report to 
the Board which includes the composition of the 
Audit committee, its terms of reference, number 
of meetings held, a summary of its activities and 
the existence of internal audit services and 
summary of the activities for inclusion in the 
Annual report; and

• to review the Board’s statements on compliance 
with the malaysian code of corporate governance 
for inclusion in the Annual report.

(d) Internal Control

• to consider annual ly the enterprise risk 
management framework adopted within the 
group and to be satisfied that the methodology 
employed allows the identification, analysis, 
assessment, monitoring and communication of 
risks in a regular and timely manner that will 
allow the group to minimise losses and maximise 
opportunities;

• to ensure that the system of internal control is 
soundly conceived and in place, effectively 
administered and regularly monitored;

• to cause reviews to be made of the extent of 
compliance with established internal policies, 
standards, plans and procedures including for 
example, the group’s standards of Business 
conduct;

• to obtain assurance that proper plans for control 
have been developed prior to the commencement 
of major areas of change within the group; and

• to recommend to the Board steps to improve the 
system of internal control derived from the 
findings of the internal and external auditor and 
from the consultations of the Audit committee 
itself.

(e) Internal Audit

• to be satisfied that the strategies, plans, manning 
and organisation for internal auditing are 
communicated down through the group. 
specifically:

– to review the internal audit plans and to be 
satisfied as to their consistency with the 
enterprise risk management framework used 
and adequacy of coverage;
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– to be satisfied that internal Audit has the 
competency and qualifications to enable 
internal Audit to complete its mandates and 
approved audit plans;

– to review status reports from internal Audit 
and ensure that appropriate actions have been 
taken to implement the audit recommendations;

– to recommend any broader reviews deemed 
necessary as a consequence of the issues or 
concerns identified;

– to ensure internal Audit has full, free and 
unrestricted access to all activities, records, 
property and personnel necessary to perform 
its duties; and

– to request and review any special audit which 
it deems necessary.

(f) External Audit

• to review the external auditor’s audit plan, nature 
and scope of the audit plan, audit report, 
evaluation of internal controls and co-ordination 
of the external auditor. the Audit committee will 
consider a consolidated opinion on the quality of 
external auditing at one of its meetings;

• to review with the external auditor the statement 
on risk management and internal control of the 
group for inclusion in the Annual report;

• to review any matters concerning the appointment 
and re-appointment, audit fee and any questions 
of resignation or dismissal of the external auditor;

• to review and evaluate factors related to the 
independence of the external auditor and assist 
them in preserving their independence;

• to be advised of significant use of the external 
auditor in performing non-audit services within 
the group, considering both the types of services 
rendered and the fees, such that their position as 
auditors are not deemed to be compromised; and

• to review the external auditor’s findings arising 
from audits, particularly any comments and 
responses in management letters as well as the 
assistance given by the employees of the group in 
order to be satisfied that appropriate action is 
being taken.

(g) Other Matters

• to act on any other matters as may be directed 
by the Board.

Summary of Activities During The Year
in 2012, the Audit committee carried out its responsibilities 
and duties in accordance with the terms of reference of 
the Audit committee and carried out the following 
activities:

Financial Reporting

a. reviewed the quarterly and annual financial statements 
of the company and the group with the finance 
director and managing director, focusing particularly 
on significant changes to accounting policies and 
practices, adjustments arising from the audits, 
compliance with accounting standards and other 
legal requirements before recommending them to the 
Board of directors for approval.

Internal Control (Risk Management)

a. reviewed the group’s enterprise risk management 
programme, including the top 20 risks for the group 
and enterprise risk management programme work plan.

b. reviewed and recommended to the Board steps to 
improve the company’s internal control systems derived 
from the findings of the internal and external auditors.

c. received updates on breaches of the standards of 
Business conduct and whistleblowing incidents.

Internal Audit

a. reviewed internal audit plans as to their consistency 
with the enterprise risk management framework used 
and adequacy of coverage.

b. reviewed status reports from internal audit to ensure 
that appropriate actions had been taken to implement 
the audit recommendations.

External Audit

a. reviewed with the external auditor the company’s 
statement on risk management and internal control 
before recommending the same for inclusion in the 
company’s 2012 Annual report.

b. reviewed with the external auditor the group’s 
quarterly and annual financial statements with the 
finance director and managing director, focusing on 
findings arising from audits particularly comments 
and responses in management letters as well as 
assistance given by the employees of the group 
before recommending them to the Board of directors 
for approval.
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c. reviewed the external auditor’s audit plan, nature and 
scope of the audit plan, audit report, evaluation of 
internal controls and co-ordination of the external 
auditor.

d. reviewed the external auditor’s findings arising from 
audits, particularly comments and responses in 
management letters as well as the assistance given by 
the employees of the group in order to be satisfied 
that appropriate action is being taken.

Internal Audit
the role of internal Audit for the group is fulfilled through 
the global Audit function of British American tobacco p.l.c 
(“British American tobacco p.l.c group internal Audit”). 
this approach ensures a high level of independence and 
gives access to more skilled and specialised resources, than 
would otherwise be available within the group.

the head of internal Audit is a certified public Accountant 
in singapore.

within British American tobacco p.l.c group internal 
Audit, three types of audit exist, entity Audit, process Audit 
and project and programmes Audit. entity Audit is focused 
on one entity with a scope of more than one process. 
Based on the history of a sound control environment, the 
group is in scope for a full entity audit every six years. 
process audit has scope of one process across multiple BAt 
global entities and project and programmes Audit is 
focused on an ongoing project or programme. 

the British American tobacco p.l.c group internal Audit 
has direct access to both the Audit committee and the 
chairman of the Audit committee and reports to the 
Audit committee on all matters of control and audit. 
British American tobacco p.l.c group internal Audit assists 
the Audit committee in reviewing the effectiveness of the 
company’s internal control systems whilst ensuring that 
there is an appropriate balance of controls and risks 
throughout the group in achieving its business objectives. 
All proposals by management regarding the appointment, 
transfer and removal of British American tobacco p.l.c 
group internal Audit shall require prior approval of the 
Audit committee. Any inappropriate restrictions on audit 
scope are to be reported to the Audit committee.

internal Audit provides independent assessment on the 
effectiveness and efficiency of internal controls utilising a 
global audit methodology and tool to support the 
company’s corporate governance framework and an 

efficient and effective global risk management framework 
to provide assurance over the group’s strategy delivery 
and change management initiatives. the annual audit 
planning cycle takes direct input from both the risk 
register, described in page 64, and the Audit committee. 
in turn, the Audit committee formally approves the 
internal audit plan during the first Audit committee 
meeting each year and reviews the plan on a quarterly 
basis. Any subsequent changes to the internal audit plan 
are approved by the Audit committee. the scope of 
internal Audit covers the audits of all units and operations, 
including subsidiaries within the group.  

furthermore, the Audit committee can request immediate 
assistance from British American tobacco p.l.c group 
internal Audit for any matter it considers appropriate. 
internal audit fees for 2012 were rm474,000.

internal audit adopts a risk-based approach towards the 
planning and conduct of audits which is consistent with 
the group’s established framework in designing, 
implementing and monitoring of its control systems.

other main activities performed by internal Audit are as 
follows:

• review of the approval procedures in respect of 
recurrent related party transactions.

• review the revisions to the credit policy and procedures 
for trade debtors and intercompany balances.

• undertake special reviews requested by the Audit 
committee and/or management.

during the year 2012, the finance director notified the 
Audit committee and the Board on a leaf stock control 
issue resulting in immaterial variance of actual stocks 
quantity against sAp system record, and was detected 
during the migration to the new onesAp system. the 
discrepancy arose due to under-recording of leaf issuance 
to production rather than misappropriation, and this was 
confirmed through an investigation performed by 
management. various measures were put in place to 
enhance the controls surrounding the leaf stock movement 
to avoid recurrence of this issue, which includes, change 
of personnel, enhancement of cycle count procedures, re-
education and re-training of the new procedures post 
implementation of onesAp system, implementation of 
performance measures against the new procedures and 
enhancement in the leaf store operating structure.

this Audit committee report is made in accordance with the 
resolution of the Board of directors on 26 february 2013.
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statement on risk Management and internal control

the group has in place an on-going process (outlined 
below) for identifying, evaluating, monitoring and 
managing significant risks faced by the group and this 
process includes reviewing and updating the system of 
internal controls to take into consideration changes in the 
regulatory, business and external environment. this process 
is reviewed by the Board via the Audit committee. the 
Audit committee’s responsibilities and duties can be found 
in the Audit committee report section of this Annual 
report.

the group’s standards of Business conduct underpin our 
commitment to good corporate behaviour, and is an 
integral part of the group’s system of corporate 
governance. the standards of Business conduct require all 
employees to act with highest standards of business 
integrity, comply with all applicable laws and regulations, 
and ensure that business standards are not compromised 
for the sake of results. our standards of Business conduct 
is made available to our stakeholders and employees on 
our corporate website at www.batmalaysia.com.  

ENTERPRISE RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

risk management is firmly embedded in the group’s 
management system as the group firmly believes that risk 
management is critical for the group’s sustainability and 
the enhancement of shareholder value. 

Group’s Enterprise Risk Management Objectives
• preserve the safety and health of its employees.

• ensure the continuity of its supply to consumers and 
customers at all times.

• protect its assets and reputation.

• ensure that the group’s operations do not impact 
negatively on the community in which it operates and 
the environment.

• protect the interests of all other stakeholders.

• promote an effective risk awareness culture where risk 
management is an integral aspect of the group’s 
management systems.

• ensure compliance with the malaysian code of 
corporate governance, British American tobacco p.l.c 
guidelines and all applicable laws.

management operates a risk management team comprised 
of senior managers from all functions of the group and 
led by the finance director. it meets formally at least 
twice a year to: (a) review and update the risk register; 
and (b) assess status of risk mitigation action plans. 

the Audit committee is briefed bi-annually by the 
enterprise risk manager on the group’s risk management 
programme and its activities in the Audit committee 
meeting. 

RESPONSIBILITY

the Board of directors recognises the importance of sound risk management practices and internal 
controls to safeguard shareholders’ investments and the Group’s assets. the Board affirms its overall 
responsibility for the Group’s system of risk management and internal control which includes the 
establishment of an appropriate control environment and framework, as well as reviewing its adequacy 
and integrity. the Board is responsible for determining the nature and extent of the strategic risk that 
the Group is willing to take to achieve its objectives, whilst in parallel maintaining sound risk management 
and systems of internal control. By virtue of the controversial nature of the industry in which we operate, 
the Board does not consider its strategic risk appetite to be high, and it seeks to minimise risks at an 
operational level.

the Board tasks Management to identify and assess the risks faced by the Group, and thereafter design, 
implement and monitor appropriate internal controls to mitigate and control those risks. there are 
inherent limitations to any system of internal control and the system is designed to manage and minimise 
impact rather than completely eliminate risks that may impact the achievement of the Group’s business 
objectives. Accordingly, it can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material 
misstatement or loss. the system of internal control covers, inter alia, financial, operational and compliance 
controls and risk management procedures.
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Risk
Review

Risk
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Risk
Identification

Risk Management Team Responsibilities

• steer the group’s enterprise risk management 
programme.

• promote a pro-active risk awareness culture in the 
group.

• conduct an annual review of the business risks.

• coordinate the development and implementation of 
risk mitigation action plans.

• develop and update business continuity plans for key 
business risks.

• plan and coordinate the testing of business continuity 
plans.

• organise training and education for employees on risk 
management.

Five Phase Enterprise Risk Management Process 

1) risk identification

All potential events that could adversely impact the 
achievement of business objectives, including failure 
to capitalise on opportunities are identified. 

2) risk evaluation

the identified business risks are then evaluated to 
determine their impact on the relevant business 
strategy/objectives and whether the risks are likely to 
occur:

• liKelihood of the risks crystallising.

• iMPAct of the consequence.

taking into account the degree of internal control and 
risk management measures in place.

Assessment against a set of pre-specified criteria on a 
scale of one to three is completed for both likelihood 
and impact, the combination of which provides the 
total risk rating ranging from one to nine. risks are 
then categorised on the risk heat map which maps 
the significance of the risks to the organisation and 
determines the relative prioritisation and focus for risk 
mitigation. 

the outcome of the risk identification and evaluation 
process is both a risk heat map and a comprehensive 
risk register which documents all identified business 
risks.

Key Focus Area

I
M
P
A
C
T

Low

Low

Medium

Medium

High

3 6 9

2 4 6

1 2 3

High

likelihood

risk heat map
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3) risk Mitigation

in completing the risk register, risk owners are identified who are responsible for identifying action plans to 
manage and mitigate the risks, together with a timeline for completion of the actions. the risk owners are typically 
a senior manager and part of a functional leadership team.

A variety of risk management measures are used to manage the identified risks as outlined in the table below:

RISK MANAGEMENT 
MEASURES SUB CATEGORY DESCRIPTION

Accept Acceptance Accept the risk as it is rated, with no further action and 
maintain the control procedures that are already in place.

retAin loss prevention implement pro-active risk mitigation (control measures 
and practices) to reduce likelihood of the risk crystallising. 

loss reduction implement reactive risk mitigation (control measures and 
practices) to reduce the impact and consequences if a risk 
materialises.

trAnsfer insurance purchase insurance for insurable risks e.g. fire, life, theft, etc.

contract protection clauses in contracts e.g. indemnity clauses, etc.

sharing of risks Joint venture or partnerships.

outsourcing third party to assume risk.

4) risk Monitoring

ongoing risk monitoring is conducted by the risk 
management team to assess whether any conditions 
associated with a particular risk have changed, and to 
ensure that action and risk mitigation plans have 
been implemented. status of action/mitigation plans 
are communicated  to the Audit committee bi-
annually.

5) risk review

finally, the group’s enterprise risk management 
process is subjected to periodic reviews by 
management to ensure that the policy and objectives 
of the programme remain applicable and effective 
under changing market and regulatory environment. 
this is complemented by internal control practices 
such as the statement of compliance with the 
malaysian code of corporate governance and the 
key control checklist of the company’s holding 
company, British American tobacco p.l.c 

BUSINESS CONTINUITY AND CRISIS MANAGEMENT

Business continuity is defined as the strategic and tactical 
capability of the organisation to plan for and respond to 
incidents and business disruptions in order to continue 
business operations at an acceptable pre-defined level in 
order to avoid negative impact on the business.

the group has 14 Business continuity plans in place for 
the group to manage the various potential disruptions 
which could impact the group for example, manufacturing 
contingency sourcing plan and it disaster recovery plan.

these plans are reviewed and updated for content by the 
owners of the plan on an annual basis. in addition, a 
desktop review/simulation is conducted by the owners of 
the plans with the crisis response team members 
periodically based on the cyclical testing schedule.

in addition the group has a structured approach to crisis 
management to ensure that in the event of a crisis, the 
situation is managed effectively within minimal time. 
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our approach involves immediate formation of a crisis management team, assisted by a crisis response team and 
communications team. the responsibilities of these teams are outlined below.

CRISIS MANAGEMENT

Crisis Management Team

• Provides leadership & co-ordi-
nation during a crisis.

• Decides on the best response 
to ensure early resolution of 
the crisis.

• Approves urgent expenditure 
& actions to ensure business 
continuity.

• Handles all communications 
with stakeholders.

• Obtains the support of key 
allies who can help to 
overcome the crisis within the 
shortest timeframe.

• Co-ordinates execution of 
communication strategy.

• Implements agreed actions in 
response to a crisis.

• Keeps the Crisis Management 
Team informed on the 
progress.

• Documents all learning points 
and update the respective 
business continuity plans.

Communications Team Crisis Response Team

KEY RISKS TO THE GROUP

the group views two key risks as being prevalent in the 
tobacco sector and having ability to significantly impact 
the group’s results:

1. Growth of illicit cigarettes trade; and
2. excise-driven price shocks.

in addition to the above, the group is subject to the ever 
present risk of competitor actions. steps to anticipate, 
mitigate and neutralise such risks are core to our business.

2012 RISK MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES

Review Of The Group’s Risks
the risk management team met formally twice during the 
year, in march and August 2012, to review and assess the 
group’s risks, and to monitor progress of key activities for 
the year, including the progress of the business continuity 
plans. 

in August 2012, the risk management team together with 
senior managers updated the risk register and risk 
mitigation action plans. the outcome of the meeting, 
among others, were the identification, evaluation and risk 
mitigation plans for four new risks. 

the top team and the Audit committee were briefed by 
the enterprise risk manager on the group’s enterprise risk 
management programme in April and october 2012. the 
briefing included updates on the key risks of the group 
and the risk mitigation plans, and the status of business 
continuity plans testing. 

Promotion Of Risk Awareness
risk communication is equally important and forms an 
integral part of the risk management activity as it focuses 
on the dissemination of risk information to appropriate 
levels of employees and stakeholders. Appropriate channels 
are available for employees to provide feedback on risk 
management issues and suggestions for improvement. 

the risk management team continued its risk awareness 
induction programme for new joiners in 2012. the 
induction programme is aimed at educating management 
staff on the group’s approach to risk management and 
internal controls, and provides a forum to enhance the 
participant’s knowledge on risk management and their 
role in managing the group’s risks. 
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Crisis Management Activation
in may 2012, the crisis management team was activated 
due to logistic strike at port klang resulting in minimal 
movement of goods between the factory and port klang. 
Alternative logistic arrangement via air freight was 
implemented for export products destined for Australia, 
hong kong and Japan, incurring additional costs which 
were borne by the end markets. Arrangements were also 
made for the movement of stocks out of Johor and 
penang ports. however, these arrangements were 
cancelled, as the strike was discontinued on the third day. 
the insurance company did not cover such incidental 
costs, except for physical damage resulting from the strike.

As a result of the incident, the company’s existing exclusive 
distributor disaster recovery plan has been augmented to 
include ‘strike’ as a potential trigger and actions to be 
adhered to in the event of a strike.

there were no other events which required the activation 
of the crisis management and crisis response team in 
2012. 

Significant Risk Mitigation Activities
in the third quarter of 2012, a new sAp platform was 
successfully implemented, achieving synchronisation and 
streamlining of processes to achieve greater efficiency and 
effectiveness. As part of the sAp project management, 
business continuity plans were put in place and tested to 
ensure that no disruption to the business should the 
migration of the system be not successful. 

in the fourth quarter of 2012, a review on our network 
architecture with particular focus on our ability to continue 
operations in the event of loss of important network 
linkage was completed. the existing disaster recovery plan 
was reviewed and subsequently, improvement activities to 
mitigate the risk of loss of link to critical business systems 
were initiated. two decision were taken, firstly to 
implement a secondary link into the singapore data 
centre which hosts our selling system, and secondly, to 
realign connectivity for our warehouse management 
system providing direct access into the secondary site to 
enable failover capability. these activities are expected to 
be completed by end of the first quarter of 2013.

Business Continuity Plan (BCP) Simulation and 
Testing
during the year, a desktop review/simulation was 
conducted by the Bcp owners, with the support of crisis 
response team members, across nine Bcp.

the review and testing indicated that the existing plans 
were still relevant to the current business environment 
except for the it disaster recovery plan for sAp. the it 
disaster recovery plan was subsequently amended to take 
into account the new sAp instance and associated 
architecture. 

SYSTEM OF INTERNAL CONTROL

Control Self Assessment (CSA) Process
central to the group’s system of internal control is its 
control self Assessment process and the backbone of this 
process is a key control checklist known as the control 
navigator. the control navigator sets out various key 
controls and process requirements across all functions in 
the group.

the group’s csA process requires controls and processes 
to be self-assessed for effectiveness on an annual basis. 
where control gaps/weaknesses are identified, corrective 
actions and timelines are identified and agreed. the 
findings from the csA and year on year trend analysis is 
reported to the Audit committee annually. 

notably in 2012, the control navigator was refreshed and 
updated.

Financial Reporting Controls
the group has in place a series of policies, practices and 
controls in relation to the financial reporting and 
consolidation process, which are designed to address key 
financial reporting risks, including risks arising from 
changes in the business or accounting standards. the 
finance director is required to confirm annually that all 
information relevant to the group audit has been provided 
to the directors and that reasonable steps have been 
taken to ensure full disclosure in response to requests for 
information from the external auditor. in addition, it is our 
practice for the finance director to fully review account 
reconciliations on a quarterly basis.
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the effectiveness of the group’s financial reporting controls 
is assessed through self-certification as part of the control 
navigator exercise described above. the integrity of the 
group’s public financial reporting is further supported by 
a number of processes and steps to provide assurance over 
the completeness and accuracy of the content including, 
review and recommendation by the Audit committee and 
review and approval by the Board.

Internal Audit
the role of internal Audit for the group is fulfilled through 
the global Audit function of British American tobacco p.l.c 
(“British American tobacco p.l.c group internal Audit”). 
this approach ensures a high level of independence and 
gives access to more skilled and specialised resources, 
particularly in respect of information technology (it), than 
would otherwise be available within the group. A 
permanent invitee from British American tobacco p.l.c 
group internal Audit attends the Audit committee and is 
the liaison between the Audit committee and British 
American tobacco p.l.c group internal Audit. the annual 
audit planning cycle takes direct input from both the risk 
register, described above, and the Audit committee. in 
turn, the Audit committee formally approves the scope of 
work for the year. furthermore, the Audit committee can 
request immediate assistance from British American 
tobacco p.l.c group internal Audit for any matter it 
considers appropriate.

within British American tobacco p.l.c group internal Audit 
three types of audit exist, entity Audits, process Audits and 
project & programmes Audits. entity Audits are focused on 
one entity with a scope of more than one process. the 
group is in scope for full entity audits at regular intervals. 
process audits have scope of one process across multiple 
British American tobacco global entities, and project & 
programmes audits are focused on an ongoing projects or 
programmes. British American tobacco p.l.c group internal 
Audit is organised into both central and regional teams 
and also include a specialised it Audit capability.

more details on the audit activities conducted during the 
year can be found in the Audit committee report in this 
Annual report. 

External Audit
in the course of conducting the annual statutory audit of 
the group’s consolidated financial statements, the external 
auditor reviews and where applicable based on judgment, 
will highlight any significant audit, accounting and internal 
control matters which require attention to the Board and 
Audit committee. A report on the above is made officially 
to the Audit committee and the management once a year 
post substantial completion of the year-end audit. 
Additionally, the external auditor attends the quarterly 
Audit committee meetings, and where applicable will 
provide views on any related matters for the attention of 
the Audit committee. At least once a year, the Audit 
committee shall meet the external auditor without the 
executive directors and management being present. this 
year, the Audit committee met twice with the external 
auditor without the executive directors and management 
being present.

during the year, as part of the annual statutory audit, the 
external auditor was involved in performing certain review 
over the controls and processes affecting financial reporting 
relating to the implementation of the new sAp platform to 
support the audit of the financial statements. there is no 
significant matter with material financial impact arising 
from the review of these related controls and processes, 
although certain improvement recommendations were 
highlighted to the Board and Audit committee. 

Other Key Elements Of The System Of Internal 
Control 
Apart from the above, the other key elements of the 
group’s internal control and risk management system 
which have been reviewed and approved by the Board are 
described below:

a) Policies, Procedures and limits of Authority

• clearly defined delegation of responsibilities to 
committees of the Board and to management 
including organisation structures and appropriate 
authority levels.

• clearly documented internal policies, standards 
and procedures are in place and regularly updated 
to reflect changing risks or resolve operational 
deficiencies. All policies are approved by the Board 
and cases of non-compliance to policies and 
procedures which are in place are reported to the 
Board and Audit committee by exception.
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b) immediately reportable incidents

• the group adheres to a British American tobacco 
p.l.c control procedure termed ‘immediately 
reportable incidents’. this process seeks to capture 
breakdowns in basic controls and expedite the 
reporting and immediate action thereof. seven 
areas of basic control issues are considered: (1) 
reconciliation of Accounts issue; (2) reporting 
issue; (3) stock control issue; (4) procurement 
issue; (5) segregation of duties, Access, password 
and related issues; (6) effective market focus 
demand issue; and (7) trade debtor management.

c)  strategic Business Plan, Budget and Performance 
review

• regular and comprehensive information provided 
by management for monitoring of performance 
against the strategic plan, covering all key financial 
and operational indicators. on a quarterly basis, 
the managing director reviews with the Board all 
key performance metrics and highlights any issues.

• Annually, a detailed budgeting process is 
completed for the year ahead which is discussed 
and approved by the Board.

• effective reporting systems are in place to highlight 
significant variances against budgets and plan and 
to monitor performance. key variances are 
followed up by management and reported to the 
Board.

d)  insurance and Physical safeguard

• Adequate insurance and physical security of major 
assets are in place to ensure that the assets of the 
group are sufficiently covered against any mishap 
that will result in material losses to the group.

e) Written declarations

• written declaration from all management personnel 
confirming their compliance with the group’s 
standards of Business conduct and where 
applicable conflicts of interest situations are 
disclosed.

• written declaration from the finance director and 
managing director confirming their compliance 
with the group’s standards of internal control. 

CONTROL MATTERS

All control actions stemming from the non-conformance of 
standard reconciliation procedures raised by the finance 
director in 2011 have been implemented.

during the year 2012, the finance director notified the 
Audit committee and the Board on a leaf stock control 
issue resulting in immaterial variance of actual stocks 
quantity against sAp record. the discrepancy arose due to 
under-recording of leaf issuance to production rather than 
misappropriation, and this was confirmed through an 
investigation performed by management. various measures 
were put in place to enhance the controls surrounding the 
leaf stock movement to avoid recurrence of this issue.

BOARD ASSESSMENT

the Board is of the view that the company’s overall risk 
management and internal control system is operating 
adequately and effectively, in all material aspects, and 
have received the same assurance from both the managing 
director and finance director of the company. the Board 
confirms that the risk management process in identifying, 
evaluating and managing significant risks faced by the 
company has been in place throughout 2012 up to the 
date of approval of this statement. the Board is also of the 
view that the company’s system of internal control is 
robust and is able to detect any material losses, 
contingencies or uncertainties that would require disclosure 
in the group’s 2012 Annual report.

this statement is made in accordance with the resolution 
of the Board of directors on 26th february 2013.

REVIEW OF THE STATEMENT BY EXTERNAL 
AUDITORS 

As required by paragraph 15.23 of the Bursa malaysia 
securities Berhad main market listing requirements, the 
external auditor has reviewed this statement on risk 
management and internal control. the review was 
performed in accordance with recommended practice 
guide (rpg) 5 issued by the malaysian institute of 
Accountants. rpg 5 does not require the external auditor 
to form an opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of 
the risk management and internal control systems of the 
group.
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unabated intensity in the drive for growth through 
superior brands and effective distribution.

100years of 

GROWTH



driving towards sustainable growth

the foundAtion of sustAinABle GroWth is deriVed froM our PAssion to enhAnce our 
GloBAl driVe BrAnds Portfolio And deliVer VAlue throuGh An effectiVe trAde MArKetinG 
And distriBution Model.

BuildinG on the outstAndinG GroWth AchieVeMents of 2010 And 2011, the Vision for British 
AMericAn toBAcco MAlAysiA in 2012 WAs to continue driVinG our GroWth MoMentuM 
forWArd throuGh strAteGic BrAnd initiAtiVes And A roBust distriBution netWorK to 
deliVer results in A chAnGinG Business enVironMent. in 2012, British AMericAn toBAcco 
MAlAysiA coMPleted the next PhAse of chArtinG our route-to-MArKet footPrint in 
MAlAysiA to MoBilise A More efficient distriBution.

everyday, more than 600 sales vans travel all over Malaysia to ensure 
that our products are available at approximately 80,000 outlets for 
our customers.

Produk ini mengandungi lebih 4,000 bahan kimia termasuk tar, nikotina dan karbon monoksida yang membahayakan kesihatan.

GLOBAL DRIVE BRANDS

our global drive Brands (gdBs) remain the cornerstone 
of our business, forming the foundation of our brand 
portfolio offering to consumers. Building on British 
American tobacco malaysia’s continued growth 
achievements in 2011, our gdB portfolio was further 
strengthened in 2012 through brand propositions aimed 
at accelerating growth in key segments and solidifying 
our market position.

in our premium portfolio, dunhill relaunched its switch 
capsule filter offering in April 2012 with an improved 
pack and product proposition. strong month-on-month 
growth has contributed towards dunhill’s strong share 
performance. overall, dunhill continued its growth 
trajectory, increasing share of market by 2.5 percentage 
points to 47.3 percent in 2012.

100 YEARS OF 
GROWTH:

launched  
pAll mAll 

mint

relaunched 
dunhill 

switch

new exclusive 
distributors 

model 
successfully 

completed in 
peninsular 
malaysia

launched  
pAll mAll  

new 
international  
pack design

upgraded  
peter 

stuyvesAnt 
menthol

February April May July November

KEY HIGHLIGHTS OF 2012

62.6%
full year corporate market 
share for 2012

Source: Retail Audit, base: Total Whites

did you
know?
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DUNHILL
A gain of 2.5 percentage points from 2011’s full year 
results boosted dunhill’s corporate market share to 
47.3 percent in 2012. dunhill has further strengthened 
its market leadership position with growth across all 
premium flavour segments, due to a stable pricing 
environment and brand activities. 

the dunhill red variant led dunhill’s exceptional 
results, growing 1.6 percentage points to 41.0 percent 
share of market in 2012. dunhill red continues to be 
the benchmark premium cigarette offering in the 
market, built on a foundation of high quality standards. 

A key initiative across the dunhill core range was to 
continue reinforcing dunhill’s superior product quality 
and standards via its resealable reloc seal with two new 
designs introduced across the dunhill core range in 
April and september 2012.

DUNHILL Red is the 
benchmark premium cigarette 
offer in the Malaysian market 
and continues to drive 
corporate market share growth 
for British American Tobacco 
Malaysia.

DUNHILL continued 
to reinforce its superior 
product and high quality 
standards across its core 
range through its resealable 
Reloc seal.

Produk ini mengandungi lebih 4,000 bahan kimia termasuk tar, nikotina dan karbon monoksida yang membahayakan kesihatan.

in our value for money (vfm) portfolio, pAll mAll 
launched pAll mAll mint, a spearmint capsule product 
that provides adult smokers with the choice to boost the 
menthol intensity level of their cigarette by crushing the 
embedded capsule. pAll mAll also relaunched its core 
range in July with the aim of stabilising brand performance, 
building brand equity and providing a platform for 
accelerated growth. together with pAll mAll, peter 
stuyvesAnt continued to play an important 
complementary role in driving towards leadership in the 
vfm segment.

overall, focused gdB activities that were carried out in 
2012 resulted in another year of excellent achievements, 
delivering record corporate market share growth for British 
American tobacco malaysia for the third consecutive year.

DUNHILL share of market (%)

Source: Retail Audit, base: Total Whites
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Winning in Premium Lights and Menthol
the premium segment has been growing over the past five years, 
driven primarily through continued growth in premium lights and 
menthol. in 2012, dunhill continued to accelerate growth in the 
premium lights and menthol segments through activities focused on 
core variants dunhill Blue and menthol. dunhill Blue has sustained 
its position as the number one premium lights offer in the market 
through accelerated growth in 2012.

DUNHILL Blue sustains its 
position as the number one 
Premium Lights offer through 
accelerated growth in 2012.

the journey towards leadership in the premium 
lights and menthol segments was significantly 
boosted through the relaunch of dunhill switch 
in April. dunhill switch is a capsule filter innovation 
that enables consumers the option to switch a 
regular cigarette into a menthol cigarette by 
crushing the capsule within the filter. dunhill 
switch was first launched in may 2011, with 
moderate market share performance and consumer 
insight on future growth. the new dunhill switch 
was relaunched in April with a new revised pack and 
a mint capsule product proposition. this variant has 
shown increasing growth with market share of 0.8 
percent in december 2012.

DUNHILL Switch 
was relaunched 
in April with a 
spearmint capsule in 
a new revised pack.
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Produk ini mengandungi lebih 4,000 bahan kimia termasuk tar, nikotina dan karbon monoksida yang membahayakan kesihatan.

KENT

with innovation at its core, the kent range, comprising of 3tek (triple filter charcoal technology) and 
kent red, continues to deliver premium products that complement the preferences of today’s modern 
adult smoker.

Driving towards leadership in the Value For Money segment

British American tobacco malaysia continues to drive our vision of attaining leadership in the value for 
money (vfm) segment forward through various brand activities for pAll mAll and peter stuyvesAnt.

PALL MALL
As the second largest brand in the vfm segment, pAll 
mAll continues to be a focus brand for British American 
tobacco malaysia.

with the emphasis on reinforcing pAll mAll’s vfm 
menthol credentials and position as the number one 
menthol brand in vfm, pAll mAll kicked off the year 
with the launch of pAll mAll mint. PALL MALL core range relaunch.

PALL MALL Mint 
features a spearmint-
flavoured capsule 
in the filter. Adult 
smokers can boost 
the menthol level 
of their cigarette by 
crushing the capsule 
in the filter and 
releasing spearmint.

PETER STUYVESANT
in 2012, peter stuyvesAnt maintained its position and brand credentials as a high quality proposition 
in the vfm segment. in november, there was an upgrade on the peter stuyvesAnt menthol. 

TRADE MARKETING

Recharting our Route-to-Market footprint in a changing business environment
in 2011, British American tobacco malaysia embarked on one of the biggest change management journeys 
in our history – transitioning from our hybrid distribution model of direct sales store operations, upskilled 
exclusive distributors (edx) and traditional exclusive distributors (eds), to a full-fledged edx distribution 
model. By may 2012, this distribution model transition was successfully completed for peninsular malaysia. 
our new distribution footprint will be fully completed following the migration of our east malaysia edx 
operations in 2013.

this transition will enable British American tobacco malaysia to place higher focus on driving trade 
marketing activities successfully through a dedicated edx environment.

with a spearmint-flavoured capsule in the filter, pAll mAll mint 
gives adult smokers the option to boost the menthol level of their 
cigarette by crushing the capsule in the filter. pAll mAll menthol 
share of segment remains positive at 56.2 percent.

As part of a globally-driven initiative, pAll mAll also relaunched 
its core range in July with an enhanced international pack. in 
2012, pAll mAll stabilised its market position with indications at 
the end of the year suggesting a solid platform for future growth 
and improvements in pAll mAll’s brand equity amongst adult 
smokers.
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unparalleled  pursuit of  operational excellence and 
efficient deployment of resources. 

100years of 

PRODUCTIVITY



enhancing operational performance and deploying resources 
effectively to fuel business growth

PIONEERING TECHNOLOGY TO DELIVER A 
GLOBALLY-INTEGRATED BUSINESS

in July 2011, British American tobacco malaysia piloted a 
globally designed enterprise resource planning (erp) solution 
on one sAp platform. our key role as the pilot market was to 
test the new system and to ensure the system was fit-for-
purpose, with seamless end-to-end processes between British 
American tobacco malaysia and our shared services. these 
entities include the BAss Asia pacific finance shared services, 
the Asia pacific supply chain service centre, and the regional 
product centre, which provide finance shared service, above-
market planning and product development respectively. the 
pilot project was conducted as a cross-collaborative effort 
between the local project team in British American tobacco 
malaysia, with various global and shared service teams.

the erp solution was successfully implemented on time, and 
in full on 3 september 2012 with no disruption to the 
company’s critical processes of purchasing resources, 
manufacturing, transporting goods, receiving payment, and 

selling of its products. the successful implementation of the 
solution was a result of robust project governance and strong 
commitment from the teams, overcoming geographical and 
time differences.

Key benefits of implementing the ERP solution:

As a result of implementing the erp solution, employees and 
supply chain partners now have access to the following new 
functionalities:

• visibility of demand from across the region facilitating 
operations planning.

• real time inventory visibility and production status 
through radio frequency (rf) technology.

• greater visibility of hub-to-hub shipments.

• more control in managing credit for direct accounts.

• extensive use of workflow for all expense approvals.

As our industry BecoMes More GloBAlly-inteGrAted, British AMericAn toBAcco MAlAysiA 
AiMs to ensure it continues to Be coMMerciAlly-ViABle in the future. We Are coMMitted to 
effectiVely dePloy our resources in order to GenerAte funds, Which cAn Be reinVested 
BAcK into our Business. We AiM to AchieVe this By iMProVinG our cost And cAPitAl 
effectiVeness, And enhAncinG our oPerAtionAl PerforMAnce.

• pioneered a globally 
standardised enterprise 
resource planning solution 
for the British American 
tobacco group.

• migrated to a global 
service desk for it.

• significantly improved 
production efficiency and 
quality.

• launched a new project 
to set the direction for 
2013 to be a 
manufacturing facility 
that is Best in class, 
Quality, delivery and cost 
in Asia pacific.

KEY HIGHLIGHTS OF 2012

did you
know?
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each day, our factory in Virginia Park produces a combined cigarette 
length of 5,200 kilometres which is equivalent to 6,265 Burj Khalifas (the 
world’s tallest man-made structure) stacked one on top of each other!

100 YEARS OF 
PRODUCTIVITY:



new functionalities have enhanced British American tobacco malaysia’s capability to leverage working capital efficiencies and 
speed to market. 

outlined below are examples of how these functionalities have improved our operational capabilities:

employee fills in sAp and sends 
receipts to finance shared services 

for processing

employee paid weekly 
(i.e. does not have to  

wait for monthly 
payment run )

manager approves 
online (does not see 

receipts)

goods issue/receipt  at external warehouse 
operators and distributors

directly update into erp system 
via web portal access

Auto update whilst picking up of goods. real time capture of 
data without the need for paper list.

• Enhancement of British 
American Tobacco 
Malaysia’s Warehouse 
Management.

• Automated workflow 
for expense approvals.

• Automating our 
external warehouse 
operators’ and 
distributors’ operations.

British American Tobacco Malaysia’s Warehouse Management 

External Warehouse Operators’ and Distributors’ Operations 

WITH ERP 
SOLUTION

WITH ERP 
SOLUTION

WITH ERP 
SOLUTION

1 2

1
2

3

1

sAp
Travel & Expense Claim 

Information Technology (IT) service readiness 
for ERP roll out
As part of the readiness activities for the implementation of 
the erp solution in British American tobacco malaysia, the 
local it team worked closely with the project team on the 
readiness of British American tobacco malaysia’s it 
infrastructure. this covered the review and implementation 
of changes to:

• the it wide area network.

• external and internal internet links to distributors, our state 
offices, and British American tobacco’s global data centres.

• radio frequency (rf) network in the factory to enable 
material movement and tracking on the system.

• internet accessibility for distributors.

• disaster recovery plans.

• testing of interfaces between legacy systems to the new 
erp system.
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Developing globally-consistent processes to deliver 
operational efficiencies across the organisation
British American tobacco malaysia will continue to implement 
Business planning & consolidation (Bpc), product specification 
management and Business intelligence (Bi) reporting. these 
implementations will enable our business planning processes 
to be consistent across the globe, and deliver efficiencies 
through automated processing. All these modules are 
anticipated to have an impact on ways of working within 
British American tobacco malaysia and across the British 
American tobacco group.

MIGRATION TO A GLOBAL SERVICE DESK FOR IT
British American tobacco malaysia migrated its local it 
service desk in April 2012 to a single global it service desk 
operated by a global British American tobacco vendor. the 
global service desk acts as the first point of contact for all 
end-user related it issues and requests. A single workflow 
tool was implemented concurrently to track issue and request 
escalation and resolution.

the benefits of a global it service desk include:

• the usage of one process, tool, and reporting to record, 
report, and manage all it service requests across all British 
American tobacco end markets.

• 24-hour support services across global time zones, 
throughout the year.

• promoting a self-help culture amongst users through the 
request management portal.

the implementation of the global it service desk was also a 
pre-requisite for the implementation of the erp solution in 
British American tobacco malaysia.

EXPANDING OUR OPERATIONAL CAPACITY
throughout 2012, British American tobacco malaysia’s 
supply chain continued to expand production for export 
contract manufacturing. production was expanded in line 
with British American tobacco’s strategic direction for its 
global factory footprint in the future. in 2012, this resulting 
growth in our operations elevated British American tobacco 
malaysia’s supply chain to a tier 1 factory status in Asia 
pacific, which is the highest factory production volume tier 
for the British American tobacco group.

we increased our finished goods production capacity in the 
secondary manufacturing department by 10 billion sticks as 
compared to 2011. this increase resulted from our export 
contract manufacturing demand from British American 
tobacco group’s top markets, which include Japan and 
Australia, amongst others. British American tobacco malaysia 
also supplies to countries within the AseAn free trade Area 
such as cambodia and the philippines.

Upgrading our operations to cater for increased 
production demands
the company upgraded its secondary manufacturing 
department capabilities in 2012 to cater for the increased 
production demands through the following initiatives:

• installed an additional dunhill resealable reloc machine. 
commercial production on this machine began in January 
2012.

Upgrading of the Dry Ice Expanded Tobacco Plant was conducted  
from October to December 2012.

Our supply chain worked together with representatives from British  
American Tobacco Korea to improve Malaysia’s product quality 

performance. 
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• two additional production lines were set up in may 
2012 to support production demand from Australia.

our supply chain also expanded its semi-finished goods 
(cut tobacco) operations in the primary manufacturing 
department by 40 percent, producing for Australia and 
the pacific islands.

the company upgraded its primary manufacturing 
department capabilities in 2012 to cater to the increased 
production demands through the initiatives below:

• increased our primary manufacturing department 
work shifts from two to three shifts.

• Automated the packaging and boxing line to strap 
our goods cases and label barcodes.

British American tobacco malaysia’s supply chain also 
carried out a major upgrading of its dry ice expanded 
tobacco (diet) plant from october to december 2012. 
the diet machine expands the surface area of tobacco 
leaves using dry ice. the project to upgrade the diet 
plant involved replacing two diet machines. the new 
diet machine increases efficiency of carbon dioxide 
recovery during the process, which will benefit 
production output. the enhanced process efficiency also 
aims to reduce carbon dioxide emission into the 
atmosphere.

the first diet was successfully processed using the new 
machines in november 2012, and the project was carried 
through without health and safety incidences.

TURNAROUND PERFORMANCE AS A TIER 
1 FACTORY
since expanding its production to cater for export 
contract manufacturing volumes from other markets in 
2011, British American tobacco malaysia’s supply chain 
has been building its capacity and up-skilling employees, 
to better meet customer demands for high quality 
products.

As a result of carrying out activities to achieve this, the 
company has demonstrated greater reliability in 
delivering its products to customers, as well as logging a 
significant improvement in customer feedback on 
product quality.

Both remarkable results were achieved through focused tactical 
plans led by the supply chain leadership team and with full 
involvement from across the production teams. these activities 
included campaigns that focused on upskilling our machine 
operators and factory personnel with knowledge on improving 
product quality performance.

Additionally, British American tobacco malaysia’s supply chain 
collaborated with the Asia pacific supply chain service centre 
and other factories from korea and singapore to share best 
practices and to align understanding of plans and manufacturing 
operations. this cross-collaboration helped in improving our 
supply chain performance.

A NEW ERA TO BE THE BEST IN ASIA PACIFIC
in october 2012, British American tobacco’s supply chain held a 
full day team event with over 400 of its employees. the event 
aimed to share current achievements and results, enhance rapport 
and trust, as well as motivate the supply chain team to deliver in 
their roles for the following year. the event culminated with the 
launch of project new e.r.A. (efficient, reliable and Accountable). 
the objectives of the project are outlined below:

New E.R.A

• Efficient
 leading a tier 1 factory that consistently delivers high quality 

products at the right cost and time.

• Reliable
 obtaining high trust and confidence from customers and 

consumers in our products and services.

• Accountable
 Being responsible individuals and delivering as one high 

performing team.

project new e.r.A. will drive us to sustain solid performance in 
2013 and focus on the key areas below:

• Being the preferred tier 1 (highest factory production volume 
tier) factory in Asia pacific.

• delivering our products more efficiently and on time, with 
improved cost effectiveness.

through this project, we aim to elevate British American tobacco 
malaysia’s supply chain as a consumer-focused manufacturing 
facility that is Best in class, Quality, delivery and cost in Asia pacific.
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100years of 

RESPONSIBILITY



At British AMericAn toBAcco MAlAysiA, We BelieVe thAt A centrAl PArt of BeinG A 
sustAinABle Business is oPerAtinG With inteGrity And resPonsiBility.

our Vision of A sustAinABle toBAcco Business is one thAt MAnAGes the iMPAct of its 
oPerAtions And Products resPonsiBly todAy And PrePAres for A future in Which it 
continues to creAte VAlue for shAreholders And stAKeholders.

driving sustainable growth responsibly

coMMunity enVironMent

MArKetPlAceWorKPlAce

our commitment towards operating responsibly is a principle 
that British American tobacco malaysia has always subscribed 
to. throughout our 100 years of history in malaysia, we have 
dedicated countless hours, hard work and resources towards 
making a difference to the communities in which we operate.

As we look towards the future, we transition from carrying 
out individual acts of charity to supporting long-term 
sustainability of our community and environment. we 
recognise that this is the right thing to do. we also 
acknowledge that supporting the sustainability of our 
biodiversity and surrounding community makes sound 
business sense. the success of our business now and in the 
future depends on the availability of these resources, and an 
operating environment that is commercially-viable.

our goal of enhancing sustainability is all about creating 
value for our shareholders, in a way that keeps the best 
interests of our stakeholders as well. how we do this, is 
through addressing key business-related social, environmental 
and economic impacts which build that stakeholder and 
shareholder value.

British American tobacco malaysia recognises that enhancing 
sustainability is a long-term commitment, and we need to 
continually evolve our approach according to our operating 
environment. in this responsibility section of our 2012 
Annual report, we will share examples of how we translate 
our sustainability agenda into real life initiatives.
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British American Tobacco Malaysia
Sustainability Framework

Sustainability agenda – commitment from 
Senior Management

British American tobacco malaysia strongly believes 
that our sustainability agenda needs to be supported 
by a robust governance process to ensure that we live 
up to our principles and standards. demonstrating its 
commitment from the top, the company’s 
sustainability agenda is governed by a csr committee. 
our csr committee comprises of all members of 
British American tobacco malaysia’s functional 
directors (also known as the ‘top team’) and is 
chaired by the managing director.

the objectives of the csr committee are as follows:

• identification and management of key social and 
environmental issues.

• engagement with relevant stakeholders on 
sustainability initiatives.

• monitoring efficiency and effectiveness of 
sustainability management systems and controls.

• ensuring reliability of social and environmental 
performance management information.

• monitoring alignment with the company’s 
statement of Business principles – mutual Benefit, 
responsible product stewardship and good 
corporate conduct.

the csr committee reports on the company’s 
sustainability initiatives to the Board of directors via 
the Audit committee and meets at least twice a year. 
this line of reporting is further escalated to the British 
American tobacco regional Audit and csr 
committee, which in turn reports to the British 
American tobacco global csr committee. A 
dedicated sustainability team is also tasked to 
coordinate and implement sustainability initiatives.

British American Tobacco Malaysia’s 
Sustainability Framework

British American tobacco malaysia’s sustainability 
initiatives are aligned to Bursa malaysia’s csr 
framework. our sustainability framework focused on 
creating value for our shareholders and stakeholders 
in four key areas: community, workplace, environment 
and marketplace.
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OUR COMMUNITY

British American tobacco Malaysia places the highest 
commitment towards conducting corporate social 
investment activities that support the sustainability of our 
surrounding communities.

BUILDING HOMES FOR THE HARDCORE POOR
• in 2008, the British American tobacco Malaysia foundation 

established a flagship initiative to build homes for the hardcore 
poor in Malaysia. in line with the Government’s agenda of 
eradicating hardcore poverty, we believe that equipping the 
hardcore poor with the most basic of necessities will provide 
them with a head start to break out of the cycle of poverty.

An official handover ceremony was held in gua musang, kelantan on  
11 february 2012 to present 15 hardcore poor families with their homes. 
this first phase of the company’s initiative to build homes was a 
collaboration between the British American tobacco malaysia 
foundation and the kelantan southern development Authority 
(kesedAr).

community

KEY HIGHLIGHTS IN 2012

• PoVerty erAdicAtion 
– officially handed over homes built  
 for 15 hardcore poor families in  
 kelantan. 
– completion due on 20 homes for  
 hardcore poor in kedah.

• educAtion 
– Awarded scholarships to  
 19 students. 
– provided higher education starter  
 kits to 141 students in kelantan.

• eMPloyee VolunteerisM 
– conducted annual blood donation  
 drive with 99 employee donors.

• enVironMent 
– Awarded grant by earthwatch  
 programme  to initiate biodiversity  
 programme in local community.

• underPriVileGed 
– contributed food aid through  
 mykasih foundation which will 
 benefit over 2,500 hardcore poor  
 for a year.
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the second phase of this initiative was targeted at building 
20 homes for the hardcore poor in kedah in collaboration 
with the kedah regional development Authority (kedA) 
under the Program Penempatan Masyarakat Setempat (ppms). 
construction of the homes were completed in 2012 and the 
houses will be occupied after water and electricity facilities 
are installed. the total cost of the homes to date is rm1.16 
million.

PROVIDING EDUCATION OPPORTUNITIES FOR 
OUR ASPIRING LEADERS
• British American tobacco Malaysia’s involvement in 

supporting education to students can be traced back 
to 1956. however, the provision of scholarships was 
formalised with the establishment of the former 
Malaysian tobacco company foundation in 1983.

• to date, the British American tobacco Malaysia 
foundation has awarded scholarships to more than 
2,000 deserving Malaysians, bringing the total 
investment of the foundation to date to more than 
rM15.5 million.

in december 2012, the British American tobacco malaysia 
foundation held its 29th foundation day Awards ceremony, 
awarding scholarships to 19 students from the retailers and 
leaf growers community, as well as employees’ children. the 
scholarships awarded amounted to rm224,000 for the full 
duration of their courses.

GIVING A HEAD START IN HIGHER EDUCATION 
TO THE TOBACCO GROWING COMMUNITY
• since 2003, the British American tobacco Malaysia 

foundation and the national Kenaf and tobacco 
Board (nKtB) have jointly supported the higher 
education starter Kit (hesK) Programme to ease the 
financial difficulties of students from the tobacco 
growing community in pursuing higher education.

• to date, more than rM1.3 million has been awarded 
to more than 2,000 students under this programme.

A total of 141 recipients were awarded with the higher 
education starter kit on 4 september 2012. the ceremony 
was held in the national kenaf and tobacco Board (nktB) 
headquarters in kubang kerian, kelantan and was officiated 
by the deputy minister of plantation industries and 
commodities, y.B. datuk hamzah Zainuddin.

the awards totalled rm98,700, and will help students obtain 
necessities such as books, clothes, accommodation, and 
transportation as they take their first step into tertiary 
education.

British American Tobacco Malaysia Foundation awarded scholarships to 
19 aspiring students during the Foundation Day Awards Ceremony.

Corporate and Legal Affairs Director, Christine Lee (centre) presenting 
certificates to a representative of the 15 homes built in Gua Musang, 
Kelantan, while  Kelantan Southern Development Authority General  
Manager Tuan Haji Mohd Arshad Ismail (left) looks on.
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Employees participating in British American Tobacco Malaysia’s annual 
blood donation drive.

Deputy Minister of Plantation Industries and Commodities Y.B. Datuk 
Hamzah Zainuddin (centre) presenting tobacco farmers’ children with 
their Higher Education Starter Kit awards while Corporate and Legal 
Affairs Director Christine Lee (left in beige jacket) looks on.

Keeping the Employee Volunteerism spirit alive
• since 2007, the British American tobacco Malaysia 

foundation has encouraged employees to volunteer 
their time and hard work towards giving back to the 
community through its various programmes. to date, 
approximately 1,000 employees have contributed 
their time in making a difference in the community.

in 2012, we continued to keep the spirit of volunteerism alive 
by encouraging employees to participate in British American 
tobacco malaysia’s blood donation drives. Approximately 
100 employees donated blood during the blood donation 
drives, held in february and september.

this blood donation drive provided a much-needed 
contribution towards replenishing the blood bank in 
university malaya hospital.

PROTECTING BIODIVERSITY IN OUR LOCAL 
COMMUNITIES
• since 2008, British American tobacco Malaysia has 

encouraged employees to initiate biodiversity 
activities within their communities using grants 
awarded by earthwatch, in partnership with British 
American tobacco’s Biodiversity Partnership 
programme.

in July 2012, an employee initiated a tree-planting campaign 
in his housing area in puchong, selangor, utilising the grant 
of gBp1,500 funded by earthwatch. Approximately 15 
residents in the neighbourhood planted a variety of 70 plants 
and trees in the initiative, which was supervised by the 
selangor district landscaping office.

For further information on our environment-related 
activities, please refer to our ENVIRONMENT section 
of the Responsibility pillar.

EASING THE BURDEN OF THE 
UNDERPRIVILEGED THROUGH FOOD AID
• in August 2012, the British American tobacco Malaysia 

foundation contributed rM3.16 million in support of 
a food aid programme to the needy by the MyKasih 
foundation, a non-profit organisation, which aims to 
provide support to the less fortunate working in 
corroboration with various organisation like the 
national Population and family development Board, 
and the rotary club in Malaysia.

British American tobacco malaysia foundation’s contribution 
towards the mykasih foundation’s food aid programme will 
benefit 2,500 hardcore poor for a year. families under this 
programme will receive monetary support to purchase 
monthly essential household food items.
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ENGAGING EMPLOYEES
we believe that providing line of sight and clarity on the company’s vision 
and objectives to employees drives business performance and the 
development of a high performance organisation. As such, we leverage on 
a robust communications strategy to provide employees at all levels with a 
clear line of sight on how their roles and responsibilities are aligned to the 
company’s strategy and direction. through this, our employees can better 
understand and take responsibility for their individual contribution to the 
company’s performance and sustainability.

overall, the communications strategy in 2012 leveraged on numerous 
communications channels that comprised of direct communications (i.e. 
face-to-face) and indirect communications (i.e. companywide emails, 
circulars, and newsletters).

our communications channels and activities for 2012 are outlined below:

Indirect communications
our indirect communications channels disseminate important 
announcements, company notices, and key updates on projects and 
programmes to all employees. these communications channels include the 
company intranet, buntings, notice boards, and company email lists.

KEY HIGHLIGHTS IN 2012

• eMPloyed roBust 
coMMunicAtions strAteGy to 
deliVer A cleAr line of siGht to 
eMPloyees on the coMPAny’s 
Vision And Business oBJectiVes.

• iMProVeMents in eMPloyee 
WelfAre And WellBeinG.

• increAsed sAfety And heAlth 
initiAtiVes to eliMinAte WorK-
relAted Accidents.

Workplace
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Business Update 
(Employee town 
hall session)

Functional Team 
Talks

Departmental/
Functional 
meetings

Focus Group 
sessions

“Hot Topic” 
briefing sessions

scheduled 
dates

february, may, 
August, october

march, June, 
september, 
november

throughout 2012 throughout 2012 throughout 2012

objective to share updates on 
the global business, 
the region we 
operate in (i.e. Asia 
pacific), as well as 
the business in 
malaysia.

(See Business Update 
objectives)
Additionally, 
updates from 
individual functions 
are also shared 
companywide.

to provide 
departmental 
updates and 
encourage team 
feedback.

these updates 
enable departments 
to align strategy 
and plans within 
the team.

to communicate 
company’s 
strategic 
direction for the 
year, and obtain 
employee 
feedback and 
ideas for 
improvement.

to brief on 
implementation of 
new processes and 
new ways of 
working.

clinics provide 
open forums for 
employees to 
provide feedback 
and ask questions.

Audience management 
employees

All employees specific employee 
groups

All employees specific employee 
groups

spokesperson managing director, 
top team and 
senior management

senior management senior management top team and 
senior 
management

Business content 
experts

EMPLOYEE PROPOSITION
British American tobacco malaysia believes that creating an 
environment for high performance necessitates providing an 
employee proposition that is relevant and which addresses 
their needs. the compelling proposition that we offer to our 
employees include:

• A reward structure that pays competitively for performance.

• strong career development opportunities.

• robust talent development programmes.

• great working environment.

• emphasis on work-life balance as well as employees’ 
wellbeing.

our proposition above demonstrates British American 
tobacco malaysia’s commitment towards focusing our efforts 
where it matters – in our people.

For further information on our employee proposition 
please refer to our Winning Organisation pillar and 
Global Reporting Indicators section.

NURTURING EMPLOYEE WELFARE AND 
WELLBEING
practicising a healthy work-life balance can be difficult with a 
challenging work schedule. Because of this, British American 
tobacco malaysia believes in providing appropriate and 
adequate support to our employees to improve the quality of life 
at work. we also encourage celebration of successes and 
employee achievements to keep the organisation constantly 
energised.

outlined below are our key initiatives to improve employees’ 
welfare at work:

• Improving quality of life at work:

 British American tobacco malaysia practices flexi time, which 
allows employees to customise start/stop hours and create an 
efficient work schedule for themselves without disrupting the 
efficiency of the company.

 the company has also outlined guidelines that enables 
employees’ replacement of annual leave for attending to 
business matters required by the company during non-work 
days.

 Additionally, the company’s in-house clinic provides health-
related education, counseling, prevention and other 
programmes for employees to ensure their health and general 
wellbeing are well taken care of.

Direct Communications
in 2012, we disseminated our key business information through the direct communications channels outlined below:
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• Keeping employees energised:

 in 2012, British American tobacco malaysia conducted 
various activities under the great place to work; a key pillar 
underpinning the company’s strategic direction. these 
activities included opening a coffee bar at the company’s 
chill out room, and allocating parking spaces for all 
employees, among others. in conjunction with British 
American tobacco malaysia’s 100 years anniversary, activities 
were held for employees throughout the year in celebration.

For further information on initiatives on employee 
welfare and wellbeing, please refer to our Winning 
Organisation pillar and Global Reporting Indicators 
section.

SAFETY AND HEALTH AT OUR WORKPLACE
• Driving effective Environment, Health and Safety 

management for a zero accident workplace.

 in 2012, British American tobacco p.l.c launched a global 
campaign to reduce the number of accidents at the 
workplace to zero. the campaign, Closing the Gap to Zero, 
was aimed at making British American tobacco as safe as 
possible for all employees across the world. the campaign 
emphasised the importance of adhering to behaviour and 
policies that drive towards the goal of zero accidents.

 in line with carrying out the global Closing the Gap to Zero 
campaign in 2012, British American tobacco malaysia 
conducted additional local-level activities which emphasised 
good health and safety practices in the organisation.

 outlined below are the key activities conducted:

o Safety and Health Campaign
 in conjunction with the world safety and health day 

on 28 April 2012, the company organised a week-long 
safety and health campaign in our virginia park 
headquarters. throughout the week, more than 400 
employees attended and participated in the five-day 
event, which featured activities promoting safety and 
health. following an enthusiastic employee response, 
the safety and health campaign was also rolled out to 
British American tobacco malaysia’s regional offices in 
puchong, cheras, kota Bharu, Butterworth and Johor 
Bahru. this campaign roadshow was attended by our 
employees as well as employees of our external 
distributors.

o Distribution of motorcyclist reflective safety vests to 
employees

 in november, British American tobacco malaysia 
distributed more than 110 reflective safety vests to 
employees who come to work by motorbike. the 
distribution of the vests started in early november 2012.

o Defensive Driving Programme
 the company also conducted 10 sessions of the 

defensive driving training programme to train 

employees on handling their vehicles during an 
emergency situation. the sessions were organised for 
over 90 employees across malaysia. the defensive 
driving training programme is aligned to the national 
1malaysia staff upskilling and safety programme.

o 5S (Sorting, Setting in Order, Shine, Standardising, 
Sustaining the Practice) Programme

 in november, British American tobacco malaysia held 
a one-day event to relaunch our 5s programme. the 
aim was to reinforce the merits of good housekeeping 
practices within the factory vicinity. A briefing and 
gotong-royong session was held in conjunction with the 
relaunch, and saw the participation from employees 
and our partner contractors.

o Safety and health initiatives around the factory and 
workplace:

o forklift driving training – organised training at 
our headquarters in virginia park and leaf 
warehouse in kota Bharu to maintain high safety 
standards among employees.

o factory walkpath safety – carried out 
improvements to factory walkpaths to ensure safety 
of employees.

o Written safety procedures – put in place more 
safety procedures for factory machines.

o site safety Awareness campaign – distributed 
environment, health and safety awareness posters 
and stickers to 26 office sites around malaysia to 
raise awareness on safe work practices.

o safety briefing for contractors and employees – 
conducted 10 briefing sessions to over 105 
company contractors on safety risks for a project to 
install the dry ice expanded tobacco machine in 
the factory.

o Green Card Programme for External Contractors
 our emphasis on high safety standards applies not only 

to our employees but also to the business partners we 
work with. All contract supervisors that have been hired 
by British American tobacco malaysia for contract 
work around the office premises are required to 
undergo the green card programme. in the green 
card programme, these contract supervisors are briefed 
by our environment, health and safety (ehs) team on 
the ehs policies and regulations in British American 
tobacco malaysia. the contract supervisors then 
undergo an evaluation session to ensure they have full 
understanding of these policies.

 A green card refresher training programme was carried 
out in July 2012 for existing green card holders, and a 
total of 20 contractors had their green cards renewed.

 British American tobacco malaysia (commercial unit) 
also achieved 1 million man-hours without a lost work 
case, from october 2011 to december 2012.
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OUR ENVIRONMENT POLICY
British American tobacco malaysia’s commitment to embed 
environmental responsibility throughout our business operations is 
aligned to the principles outlined in our global environment, health and 
safety policy and integrated management system (ims).

the company’s global environmental, health and safety policy applies 
the highest standards throughout its operations across the British 
American tobacco group. the ims formulated and implemented by 
our fully-owned subsidiary, tobacco importers and manufacturers, is 
certified by three international standards (iso 9001, iso 14001 and 
ohsAs 18001) and guides employees towards upholding good Quality, 
environment, health and safety practices in all our operations. 

MAINTAINING HIGH STANDARDS OF RESPONSIBLE 
MANAGEMENT
to maintain the high standards underpinning the ims, a yearly 
surveillance is carried out by external auditors, lloyd’s register Quality 
Assurance. in June 2012, an audit was conducted without any minor or 
major no-compliance findings. in 2012, British American tobacco 
malaysia was successfully recertified for the standards outlined below:

• iso 9001: 2008, for a quality management system that consistently 
provides and enhances products that meets regulatory requirements 
and delivers customer satisfaction.

• iso 14001: 2004, for implementing, maintaining and improving our 
environmental management system.

• ohsAs 18001: 2007, for effective management of occupational 
health and safety in reducing risk and improving performance.

KEY HIGHLIGHTS IN 2012

• enVironMentAl MAnAGeMent 
GoVerned By strinGent 
enVironMent MAnAGeMent 
Policies.

• initiAted VArious ActiVities in 
our oPerAtions to reduce 
enerGy, WAter, And Air 
Pollution.

• continued driVinG A cArBon 
PositiVe Business forWArd.

• initiAted BiodiVersity AWAreness 
ActiVity in locAl coMMunity.

environment
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MINIMISING OUR ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT 
FOR A SUSTAINABLE FUTURE
British American tobacco malaysia believes in taking proactive 
steps towards reducing our environmental impact to ensure 
environmental and business sustainability. outlined below are 
several of our key initiatives:

• Reducing energy consumption
a. energy-efficient machinery – in 2012, the company 

replaced factory machinery such as air compressors, air 
washers, and vacuum pump used in our manufacturing 
plant with more energy efficient units after routine 
equipment maintenance procedures. replacement of 
these machineries have resulted in reduction of energy 
consumption and minimised water consumption.

b. energy-efficient lighting – current fluorescent lights 
(t8) were also replaced with more energy efficient 
units (t5) within the factory to reduce energy 
consumption. sensor lights were installed in main 
staircases and in toilets in the office to reduce electricity 
usage when not in use.

• Improving waste production and management
 Biofilters are used in the company to organically remove 

odour from exhaust gases released to the atmosphere from 
our factory operations. in 2012, the organic woodbark 
materials used in our biofilters were replaced and the waste 
material was sent to recycle energy sdn Bhd to be converted 
into refuse derived fuel, an alternative source of energy.

• Reducing carbon dioxide emissions
 the company also replaced two units of dry ice expanded 

tobacco impregnator machines and associated parts for 
better carbon dioxide recovery. these machineries are 
used in the manufacturing plant.

 following from these initiatives, we also monitor and 
track our usage of natural gas, energy and water 
consumption, as well as waste recycling rates.

2011 2012 2012 vs. 
2011

natural gas 
(1000m3)

1,944 1,815 -6.6%

total energy 
(gj)

366,408 279,550 -23.7%

water (m3) 206,598 202,107 -2.1%

waste 
recycling rate

97.8% 98.6% -1.0%

• Driving a carbon positive business
 in 2000, British American tobacco malaysia established 

an afforestation programme as part of our long-term 
commitment to reduce our carbon footprint. this 
programme is aligned to malaysia’s goal of reducing  
40 percent of its carbon dioxide (co2) emissions by the 
year 2020 compared to 2005 levels.

 to date, British American tobacco malaysia has planted 
more than 6,467 hectares of various tree species 
(equivalent to 8,858 football fields). planted in the forest 
management unit no.4 in ulu tungud, sabah, the 
afforestation programme has sequestered more than 
230,000 tonnes of co2 per annum.

 in 2012, British American tobacco malaysia’s total co2 
emissions was 38,549 tonnes and current projections 
demonstrate that we will remain carbon positive until 
2024 based on present business operations.

• Protecting biodiversity in our local communities
 in July 2012, a British American tobacco malaysia 

employee, gerald Alfonse, initiated a tree-planting activity 
within his neighbourhood, which was funded by 
earthwatch, a partner in the global British American 
tobacco Biodiversity partnership. the campaign was 
initiated in response to the trees that were felled in the 
housing area. gerald galvanised support from 15 of the 
neighborhood residents to participate in the tree-planting 
supervised by the selangor district landscaping office.

 the grant of gBp1,500 was awarded by earthwatch as 
part of the Taking Care of the Environment programme to 
raise community awareness on protecting biodiversity. 
through this programme, British American tobacco 
employees can apply for the grant to fund a biodiversity 
initiative in their local community.

• Benchmarking key business partners against our 
environmental standards

 in 2008, the three year environment, health and safety 
(ehs) mentoring programme was developed with the 
objective of benchmarking key business partners’ ehs 
standards against that of the company and to share with 
them our business expertise and best environment, health 
and safety practices.

 our business partner, tAsco, who provides logistics 
service has completed the programme. parkside, our 
business partner supplying packaging material will be 
completing the ehs mentoring programme in 2013.
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TACKLING ILLICIT CIGARETTES TRADE IN MALAYSIA

the illegal trade of cigarettes remains a concern for both the industry 
and the country, with the latest illicit cigarette study (ics) conducted 
by nielsen in 2012 revealing that illicit cigarette incidence stands at 
33.8 percent of the total market. this means that more than three out 
of 10 cigarette packs sold in the country are illegal.

malaysia is an attractive market for cigarette smuggling as cigarette 
prices are the third highest among AseAn countries after singapore and 
Brunei.

illegal cigarettes trade is not a victimless crime – it undermines the 
government’s health objectives because they are sold at extremely low 
prices and do not comply with any regulatory requirements. it also costs 
the government an estimated rm2 billion in lost taxes each year.

increased enforcement from law enforcement agencies however, have 
begun to show encouraging results, evident from a 1.6 percentage point 
drop in the latest annualised ics results (34.5 percent) when compared to 
last year. this is also clear indication that the government’s decision to 
not increase excise on cigarettes in 2011 and 2012 is making headway in 
addressing this issue.

KEY HIGHLIGHTS FOR 2012

• suPPorted industry’s initiAtiVes 
to helP Address illicit 
ciGArettes trAde in the 
country.

• coMPlied With Key reGulAtory 
requireMents thAt tooK effect 
in 2012, And suPPorted sensiBle 
reGulAtions.

Marketplace
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in contributing towards addressing this national scourge, the 
confederation of malaysian tobacco manufacturers (cmtm), 
of which British American tobacco malaysia is a member, 
continued to support and work together with various 
government agencies to raise awareness on the severity of 
illicit cigarettes trade to retailers and members of the public.

cmtm provided support to the royal malaysian customs on 
their Anti-smuggling campaign in five different states (pahang, 
selangor, melaka, perlis and penang) which sought to educate 
the public on the features of illegal cigarettes, its implications 
to the nation, and the penalties involved.

A nationwide campaign was also launched by the ministry of 
domestic trade, consumer Affairs and co-operatives in 
addressing the issue of certain local brands that were sold with 
fake security ink and false company names and addresses. this 
campaign sought to educate retailers on the features of such 
illegal cigarette packs and the laws which it contravenes.

cmtm also continued to proactively engage in dialogues with 
other law enforcement agencies which included the malaysian 
maritime enforcement Agency, the royal marine police, the 
royal malaysian police, the ministry of finance and the ministry 
of health enforcement division towards tackling the menace of 
illicit trade.

PROCUREMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES
British American tobacco malaysia maintains high standards 
of conduct in our procurement processes with external 
business suppliers.

the company’s procurement policy, outlines the processes 
and procedures involved in the acquisition of all goods and 
services throughout the company and encompasses the 
vendor selection process. the procurement policy also outlines 
the responsibilities of all functions to adhere to this process, 
under the guidance and advice of the company’s procurement 
department.

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY
our business in British American tobacco malaysia is not about 
persuading people to smoke but in offering quality brands to 
adult smokers. we acknowledge that smoking is a health risk 
and we want both our consumers and stakeholders to know 
the facts of ingredients used by our company in the 
manufacture of tobacco products.

As such, in line with maintaining transparency towards our 
products, British American tobacco malaysia took the lead 
seven years ago in the local tobacco industry to voluntarily 

publish ingredients in our products on a website (www.bat-
ingredients.com) that is accessible to the general public.

REGULATORY DEVELOPMENTS IN 2012
in British American tobacco malaysia, we believe that our 
business must demonstrate responsibility in everything that it 
does and this includes compliance with regulatory requirements. 
Acknowledging that tobacco consumption poses real risks to 
health, we continue to support sensible tobacco regulations 
that balance the preferences of consumers with societal interests 
whilst enabling our business to continue to compete.

in 2012, the ministry of health proposed several amendments 
to the current tobacco regulations under the control of tobacco 
product regulations 2004, which include:-

• changes to pictorial health warnings (phw).

• introduction of an offence for sale, purchase and possession 
of illegal packs.

• reduction of maximum allowable tar and nicotine levels and 
introduction of maximum allowable carbon monoxide levels.

• prohibition of price discounting for tobacco products.

• limiting the size of cigarette packs to 20 sticks per pack and 
each carton of cigarettes to 10 packs per carton.

in addition, the ministry of health also issued a declaration of 
non-smoking Area 2012 which specified one non-smoking 
area in Johor and six non-smoking areas in pulau pinang. these 
non-smoking areas are:

• mutiara rini urban forest, Johor Bahru district, Johor.

• george town municipal park, timor laut district,  
pulau pinang.

• Botanic garden, timor laut district, pulau pinang.

• Air itam dam, timor laut district, pulau pinang.

• mengkuang dam, seberang perai tengah district,  
pulau pinang.

• Ampang Jajar urban park, seberang perai tengah district, 
pulau pinang.

• telok Bahang dam, Barat daya district, pulau pinang.

smoking is prohibited in all buildings, premises, public places or 
land within the specified non-smoking areas as stated above.

As a responsible company, British American tobacco malaysia is 
fully compliant with all existing legislation enacted by the 
government governing the manufacturing, marketing and sale 
of our products.
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global reporting initiative 
(gri) indicators 2012

to demonstrate accountability and transparency, British American 
tobacco malaysia is once again incorporating key global reporting 
initiative (gri) indicators in its reporting to provide a comprehensive 
disclosure of its economic, environmental, social and governance 
performance in 2012. this is the fourth year that the company is 
continuing this initiative in line with its sustainability agenda to 
demonstrate its commitment in operating responsibly. 

the gri indicators form an integral part of the gri vision, whereby 
the gri reporting guidelines are recommended for organisations 
to use as a basis for their annual reporting. 

For more information on the Global Reporting Initiative, please log on to 
www.globalreporting.org 
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GRI 
Code Issue Area Response for 2012

ec1 direct economic value generated and 
distributed, including revenues, 
operating costs, employee 
compensation, donations and other 
community investments, retained 
earnings, and payments to capital 
providers and governments.

direct economic value generated (revenues): rm4,365 million

economic value distributed:-
operating costs: rm1,001 million
employee wages and benefits: rm118 million
payment to providers of capital: rm775 million

payment to government in the form of taxes: rm2,414 million
community investment: rm5 million

economic value retained: rm52 million

ec2 financial implications and other risks 
and opportunities for the organisation’s 
activities due to climate change.

British American tobacco malaysia has continually implemented 
measures to reduce its business environment footprint by adopting a 
multi-pronged approach which encompassed changing employees’ 
behaviour, investing in new technology, improving product designs 
and practising voluntary carbon off-set through its Afforestation 
programme located in fmu no.4, in ulu tungud sabah.

ec3 coverage of the organisation’s defined 
benefit plan obligations.

British American tobacco malaysia contributed an additional four 
percent into employees’ account in excess of the mandatory employer 
employees provident fund (epf) contribution, which is 12 percent (for 
salary above rm5,000) and 13 percent (for salary below rm5,000). 
Altogether, British American tobacco malaysia contributed 16 percent 
and 17 percent respectively to these two groupings of employees’ epf. 
employees contributed 11 percent to epf.

ec6 policy, practices, and proportion of 
spending on locally-based suppliers at 
significant locations of operation.

British American tobacco malaysia procured from the most competitive 
supplier offering the highest product quality, regardless of whether it 
was a local or overseas supplier.

British American tobacco malaysia practices the Business enabler 
survey tool (Best) to select its suppliers. the top 90 percent of vendors 
(by volume) were all surveyed using Best, which covers management 
policies such as education and training, competency and technological 
enhancement, safety and regulatory compliances, business ethics and 
environment responsibility.

the proportion of spending on locally-based suppliers in 2012 was 40 
percent against 55 percent in 2011. however more than 80 percent of 
the imported materials are within Asia pacific.

ec7 procedures for local hiring and 
proportion of senior management hired 
from the local community at significant 
locations of operation.

British American tobacco malaysia hired the most talented personnel, 
regardless of whether they were local or foreigners. the senior 
management, defined as the “top team” consisted of 71 percent local 
hire in 2012.

formula (5 ÷ 7) x 100 percent = 71 percent
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GRI 
Code Issue Area Response for 2012

ec8 development and impact of 
infrastructure investments and services 
provided primarily for public benefit 
through commercial, in-kind, or pro 
bono engagement.

please refer to pages: 83 – 85 on the BAtm foundation which 
encompass building homes for the hardcore poor, the higher education 
starter kit (hesk), foundation scholarships and employee volunteerism.

ec9 understanding and describing 
significant indirect economic impacts, 
including the extent of impacts.

A total of 23 British American tobacco malaysia foundation scholarship 
recipients completed their higher education in 2012 and were ready to 
join the highly skilled workforce.

similarly, a total of 23 British American tobacco malaysia foundation 
scholarship recipients graduated in 2011.

en1 materials used by weight or volume. total materials: 36,949 tonnes

non-renewable materials: 3,612 tonnes
(Parts, fuels, cleaning materials, chemicals and processing aids)

direct materials: 33,337 tonnes
(Leaf, wrapping, packaging, filter and flavouring)

normalised: 1.34 tonnes/million cigarette equivalent

British American tobacco malaysia recorded a 19.4 percent increase in 
total materials in 2012. the increase in both non-renewable and direct 
materials were due to higher volumes of output in production 
operations.

en3 direct energy consumption by primary 
energy source.

total: 236,145 gigajoules

non-renewable: 236,145 gigajoules
(Purchased electricity energy, diesel oil, natural gas and liquefied petroleum 
gas)

renewable: 0 gigajoules

normalised: 10.25 gigajoules/million cigarette equivalent

An decrease of 0.7 percent in direct energy consumption was recorded 
in 2012 as a result of the second phase of an employee transition from 
British American tobacco malaysia’s in-house distribution to exclusive 
distribution partners.
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GRI 
Code Issue Area Response for 2012

en4 indirect energy consumption by primary 
source.

total: 322,985 gigajoules

non-renewable: electricity – 322,985 gigajoules

normalised: 14.02 gigajoules/million cigarette equivalent

An increase of 5.3 percent in indirect energy consumption was recorded 
in 2012 from 306,659 gigajoules in 2011. this was due to higher 
volumes of output in production operations.

en6 initiatives to provide energy-efficient or 
renewable energy based products and 
services, and reductions in energy 
requirements as a result of these 
initiatives.

British American tobacco malaysia initiatives:

1. replacement of air dryer and cooling tower infill.

2. replacement of air washer and vacuum located in the factory 
premises.

3. replacement of normal t8 fluorescent lights in factory premises 
with energy efficient t5 fluorescent lights.

estimated recorded reductions:

1. Air dryer and cooling tower infill replacement estimated to deliver 
a three percent improvement in air compressor and boiler 
efficiency.

2. Air washer and vacuum replacement estimated to improve 
performance efficiency by two percent.

3. replacement of energy efficient fluorescent lights estimated to 
deliver 15 percent reduction in energy consumption.

en7 initiatives to reduce indirect energy 
consumption and reductions achieved.

please refer to gri g3 reference en6.

en8 total water withdrawal by source. total: 224,383 cubic metres

normalised: 9.7 cubic metres/million cigarette equivalent

British American tobacco malaysia recorded a 0.5 percent increase in 
water withdrawal due to a higher production volume in 2012 as 
compared to 2011.

en9 water sources significantly affected by 
withdrawal of water.

British American tobacco malaysia facilities sourced water from its 
respective government authorised state water supplier. the water 
withdrawal did not affect any of the six sites designated as ramsar list 
of wetlands of international importance in malaysia.

en11 location and size of land owned, leased, 
managed in, or adjacent to, protected 
areas and areas of high bio-diversity 
value outside protected areas.

information not reported as British American tobacco malaysia does 
not operate near protected areas or areas of high biodiversity value 
outside protected areas.
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GRI 
Code Issue Area Response for 2012

en12 description of significant impacts of 
activities, products, and services on 
biodiversity in protected areas and areas 
of high biodiversity value outside 
protected areas.

information not reported as British American tobacco malaysia does 
not operate near protected areas or areas of high biodiversity value 
outside protected areas.

en13 habitats protected or restored. British American tobacco malaysia has sponsored an afforestation 
programme in forest management unit no. 4 located in ulu tungud, 
sabah since 2002. for the year 2012, the focus was set on maintenance 
works on the 6,635 hectares of various species of trees planted to date 
(the equivalent of 9,089 football fields).

*size of one football field is approximately 0.73 hectares.

the project partner for this afforestation programme was tsh resources 
Berhad.

en14 strategies, current actions, and future 
plans for managing impacts on 
biodiversity.

please refer to page 90 on minimising our environmental impact for a 
sustainable future.

en15 number of iucn red list species and 
national conservation list species with 
habitats in areas affected by operations, 
by level of extinction risk.

information not reported as British American tobacco malaysia does 
not operate near protected areas or areas of high biodiversity value 
outside protected areas.

en16 total direct and indirect green-house 
gas emissions by weight.

total: 35,147 tonnes of carbon dioxide

normalised: 1.53 tonne/million cigarette equivalent

A decrease of 8.8 percent in direct and indirect green-house gas 
emissions was recorded in 2012 mainly due to the five weeks shut 
down of diet plant operations for the diet impregnator upgrading 
works. in spite of the shut down, reductions were still recorded although 
the diet plant had higher production volumes compared to 2011.

en17 other relevant indirect green-house gas 
emissions by weight.

total: 23,508 tonnes of carbon dioxide

An decrease of 16.8 percent in indirect green-house gas emissions was 
recorded in 2012 as a result of positive reductions in air freight usage.

en18 initiatives to reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions and reductions achieved.

please refer to gri g3 reference en6.

en19 emissions of ozone-depleting substances 
by weight.

All British American tobacco malaysia air conditioning equipment are 
chlorofluorocarbon (cfc) free.
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GRI 
Code Issue Area Response for 2012

en21 total water discharge by quality and 
destination.

British American tobacco malaysia facilities discharged water through 
these routes:

1. public waterways (22,370 cubic metres) after the water that was 
used in factory operations has been treated at our effluent 
treatment plant to adhere to stringent corporate standards.

2. sewage system, water that has been used for amenities, such as 
toilets and office pantry (202,107 cubic metres).

en22 total weight of waste by type and 
disposal method.

2011
: hazardous waste – 25 tonnes
: non-hazardous waste – 1,810 tonnes

2012
: hazardous waste – 18 tonnes
: non-hazardous waste – 2,309 tonnes

All our hazardous wastes were sent to kualiti Alam facility in Bukit 
nanas, negeri sembilan for disposal while a majority of our non-
hazardous wastes are sent to recycle energy malaysia in semenyih for 
conversion into refuse derived fuel pellets. the remainder of our non-
hazardous wastes which are not sent to semenyih are recycled (e.g. 
paper, plastic and metal materials).

en23 total number and volume of significant 
spills.

British American tobacco malaysia did not have any significant spills in 
2012.

en24 weight of transported, imported, 
exported, or treated waste deemed 
hazardous under the terms of the Basel 
convention Annex i, ii, iii, and viii, and 
percentage of transported waste 
shipped internationally.

total: 18 tonnes (2011: 25 tonnes)

All hazardous wastes were sent to government approved site (kualiti 
Alam facility in Bukit nanas, negeri sembilan) for disposal.

en25 identity, size, protected status, and 
biodiversity value of water bodies and 
related habitats significantly affected by 
the reporting organisation’s discharges 
of water and runoff.

British American tobacco malaysia treated water that was used in 
factory operations through its upgraded effluent treatment plant 
(increased 20 percent capacity) to meet stringent corporate standards 
before discharging it into public waterways which are located outside 
water catchment zones and other protected areas.
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en26 initiatives to mitigate environmental 
impacts of products and services, and 
extent of impact mitigation.

British American tobacco malaysia’s comprehensive environment, 
health and safety programme achieved improvements in minimising its 
business environment footprint during the year through the 
implementation of initiatives in the areas of process and practices:

a. water usage increased by only 0.5 percent from 223,383 cubic 
metres in 2011 to 224,477 cubic metres in 2012 despite a 
production volume increase of 30.9 percent.

b. scheduled waste (hazardous waste) had reduced from 25 tonnes 
in 2011 to 18 tonnes in 2012.

c. energy index improved from 14.07 gJ/mille equivalent in 2011 to 
12.14gJ/mille equivalent.

en28 monetary value of significant fines and 
total number of non-monetary sanctions 
for non-compliance with environmental 
laws and regulations.

in June 2012, a check conducted by the department of environment 
(doe) at tobacco importers and manufacturers sdn Bhd (tim) noted 
three non-compliances to the environmental Quality (industrial 
effluent) regulation 2009. this was namely the (i) industrial effluent 
treatment system which was not in good working condition with two 
discharge points (due to the upgrade in end 2011); (ii) no display of 
required signage indicating the point of discharge of industrial effluent 
and; (iii) failure to notify the doe of the malfunction of the system of 
effluent treatment plant (which was under maintenance). All necessary 
compliances were immediately rectified and adhered to. A total of 
three compound notices of rm2,000 each was issued to tim. An appeal 
was made to the doe and reduced the total compound from rm6,000 
to rm3,500.

en29 significant environmental impacts of 
transporting products and other goods 
and materials used for the organisation’s 
operations, and transporting members 
of the workforce.

there were no significant environmental impacts recorded resulting 
from transporting products and other goods and materials used for the 
organisation’s operations, and transporting members of the workforce.
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GRI 
Code Issue Area Response for 2012

en30 total environmental protection 
expenditures and investments by type.

total: rm2.55 million
Below is the breakdown for total environmental protection expenditures 
and investments:

1) Afforestation maintenance: rm587,800

2) Bio filter wood bark replacement: rm300,000

3) replacement of t8 to t5 energy-efficient fluorescent lighting at 
factory floor and warehouses: rm386,048

4) turbo air compressor replacement: rm478,999

5) factory c air washer no. 3 replacement: rm550,000

6) factory c centralised vacuum plant replacement: rm249,999

lA1 total workforce by employment type, 
employment contract, and region.

total workforce: 1,032

Employment type
permanent/full-time: 853
– management: 586
– non-management: 267

temporary/consultants/contracts: 179

British American tobacco malaysia’s workforce broken down by 
regions:

a. north (kedah, pulau pinang, perak, perlis) = 89

b. south (melaka, Johor) = 66

c. east coast (pahang, terengganu, kelantan) = 114

d. east malaysia (sabah, sarawak) = 68

e. central (kuala lumpur, selangor, negeri sembilan) = 695
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lA2 total number and rate of employee 
turnover by age group, gender, and 
region.

As at 31 december 2012:

the total number of employees who left employment in 2012 by age 
group:

a. less than 30 years old = 106

b. 30-50 years old = 191

c. above 50 years old = 25

the total number of employees who left employment in 2012 by 
gender:

a. male = 272

b. female = 50

the total number of employees who left employment in 2012 by 
region:

a. east coast = 49

b. north = 87

c. south = 6

d. east malaysia = 72

e. central = 108

out of the total number of employees which left employment in 2012, 
161 employees were part of the second phase of an employee transition 
from British American tobacco malaysia’s in-house distribution to 
exclusive distribution partners.
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GRI 
Code Issue Area Response for 2012

lA3 Benefits provided to full-time employees 
that are not provided to temporary or 
part-time employees, by major 
operations.

the following benefits were provided to British American tobacco 
malaysia’s fulltime management and non-management employees:

a. medical benefits

b. cigarette ration

c. free meals

d. Annual, calamity, compassionate, examination, hospitalisation, 
maternity, paternity, marriage, sick, study, sports and pilgrimage 
leave

e. Bonus

f. group term life insurance scheme

g. company vehicle and monthly cash allowance (depending on 
grade)

h. corporate club membership (depending on grade)

i. housing loan interest subsidy (depending on grade)

j. car loan interest subsidy (depending on grade)

lA4 percentage of employees covered by 
collective bargaining agreements.

the percentage of total employees covered by collective bargaining 
agreements is 21 percent. All eligible employees amounting to 221 
non-management staff were covered by the collective Agreement, 
effective from 1st July 2004 to 30th June 2007.

in october 2007, the director general of the trade unions (dgtu) of 
the ministry of human resources had decided that British American 
tobacco employees union (BAteu) could only represent employees of 
the holding company, British American tobacco (malaysia) Berhad. 
the ex-general secretary of BAteu (an employee of tobacco importers 
and manufacturers sdn. Bhd. (tim)) had filed a judicial review on 
behalf of BAteu in the high court challenging the decision of the 
dgtu. in July 2010, the high court has set aside the Judicial review 
application made by BAteu and BAteu made an appeal to the court of 
Appeal. subsequently in february 2012, the court of Appeal ruled in 
favour of the dgtu.

with the court of Appeal decision, employees from British American 
tobacco malaysia’s subsidiary companies, tim and commercial 
marketers and distributors sdn. Bhd. (cmd) cannot be represented by 
BAteu and would have to form their respective unions. 

notwithstanding the dgtu’s decision, all the terms and conditions of 
the current collective Agreement have been honoured by British 
American tobacco (malaysia) Berhad and duly extended to the 
employees of tim and cmd on a personal to holder (pth) basis 
pending their respective new collective Agreements.
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lA5 minimum notice period(s) regarding 
significant operational changes, 
including whether it is specified in 
collective agreements.

the minimum notice period for retrenchment was not less than 3 
months. the notice period was specified in Article 61 of the collective 
Agreement between British American tobacco malaysia and  
British American tobacco employees union (BAteu), effective from  
1 July 2004 to 30 June 2007.

(please refer to lA4 on judicial review filed on behalf of BAteu)

lA6 percentage of total workforce 
represented in formal joint management-
worker health and safety committees 
that help monitor and advise on 
occupational health and safety 
programmes.

100 percent of the total workforce was represented by a senior manager 
representing each function in our corporate environmental health and 
safety (ehs) committee.

six representatives (from management and non-management 
employees respectively) were members of the petaling Jaya ehs 
committee. this committee is headed by a chairman (head of 
production) and also includes representatives from occupational 
health, security and an appointed secretary (ehs manager).

lA7 rates of injury, occupational diseases, 
lost days, and absenteeism, and total 
number of work-related fatalities by 
region.

British American tobacco malaysia lost workday case injury incidence 
rate (lwcir) for 2012 was two lost workday cases per 1,889,480  
man-hours (January to december 2012) worked by its employees.

the two lost workday case accidents (lwc) reported during the year 
were slip and fall and entrapment incidents involving an employee 
from British American tobacco Australia and our own employee 
respectively.

By comparison, in 2011 there was one lost workday cases reported 
during the year which was an accident involving an employee driving a 
company vehicle.

lA8 education, training, counseling, 
prevention, and risk-control programs 
in place to assist workforce members, 
their families, or community members 
regarding serious diseases.

Assistance Programme

education/
training counselling

prevention/
risk control treatment

programme 
recipients

yes no yes no yes no yes no

workers √ √ √ √

workers’ 
families

√ √ √ √

community 
members

√ √ √ √
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GRI 
Code Issue Area Response for 2012

For Workers :
education/training
a. chemical exposure
b. ergonomics
c. noise conservation programme
d. cough etiquette and importance of hand washing

counselling
a. chronic diseases
b. sickness absenteeism
c. overseas travel

Prevention/risk control
a. immunisations
b. updates on infectious diseases on intranet, notice boards, email
c. routine – annual/biennial medical examinations
d. early detection of non-communicable diseases – coronary care/

hypertension/diabetes/gout
e. statutory medical examinations
f. vaccinations against hepatitis A, hepatitis B, tetanus toxoid
g. provision of hand sanitisers and face masks and notice of 

precautions for overseas travel
h. chemical hazardous regulation Act surveillance (chrA)
i. Breast examination, pap smear, mammogram/ultrasound

treatment
a. medications for daily sickness report
b. medications for chronic diseases
c. investigations
d. referral to specialists

For Workers’ Families:
education/training
a. on adhoc basis

counselling
a. on adhoc basis
b. on confidentiality basis

Prevention/risk control
a. on adhoc basis

treatment
a. clinic/hospitalisation
b. medications
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lA9 health and safety topics covered in 
formal agreements with trade unions.

environment, health and safety topics were covered in a formal 
agreement which was specified in various articles contained in the 
collective Agreement between British American tobacco malaysia 
Berhad and British American tobacco malaysia employees union 
(BAteu), effective from 1st July 2004 to 30th June 2007. (collective 
Agreement)

Articles 20-23 cover employees maximum working hours, Article 27, 
30-31 cover employees’ leave entitlement and Article 40 covers 
employees’ entitlement to appropriate personal protective equipment 
while at work. Article 54 states that the company’s working environment 
is to be in compliance with relevant regulations including providing for 
medical examination for employees.

lA10 Average hours of training per year per 
employee by employee category.

Management
2.33 hours

management attendee
central programmes: 9.84 hours
functional programmes:

operations – 0 hour
marketing – 0 hour

Non-management
8.36 hours

non-management attendee
central programme: 9.59 hours
functional programmes:

operations – 11.67 hours
marketing – 24.22 hours

the central programmes were under the purview of British American 
tobacco malaysia’s human resources department and covered all 
other functions within the company with the exception of operations 
and marketing, as these two functions conduct their individual 
functional programmes.

however, the marketing and operations management employee 
programmes were conducted at a central level in 2012 instead of 
functional level, hence the record of nil for marketing and operations 
management employees.
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Code Issue Area Response for 2012

lA11 programs for skills management and 
lifelong learning that support the 
continued employability of employees 
and assist them in managing career 
endings.

British American tobacco malaysia provided assistance to employees 
who have been terminated via its career transition or outplacement 
programme. plans for restructuring were communicated to the relevant 
labour Authorities (i.e. director general of industrial relations and 
director general of labour) and briefing sessions were conducted to 
employees communicating the business rationale for restructuring and 
details of the outplacement programme itself. this programme was a 
collaboration between British American tobacco malaysia and 
careersolutions Asia sdn. Bhd., which provided counselling to affected 
employees and carried out a transition skills programme.

lA12 percentage of employees receiving 
regular performance and career 
development reviews.

100 percent of employees, both management and non-management 
staff, received a formal performance appraisal and review during the 
reporting period.

lA13 composition of governance bodies and 
breakdown of employees per category 
according to gender, age group, 
minority group membership, and other 
indicators of diversity.

the percentage of British American tobacco malaysia’s Board of 
directors by gender:
male = 78 percent female = 22 percent

the percentage of British American tobacco malaysia’s Board of 
directors by age groups:
under 30 years old = 0 percent
30-50 years old = 11 percent
over 50 years old = 89 percent

the percentage of employees in British American tobacco malaysia by 
gender:
male = 81 percent  female = 19 percent

the percentage of employees in British American tobacco malaysia by 
age groups:
under 30 years old = 29 percent
30-50 years old = 57 percent
over 50 years old =14 percent

lA14 ratio of basic salary of men to women 
by employee category.

male and female employees of the same grade shared the same salary 
scale, but their starting salary might differ based on talent, experience 
and skills set.

male and female management trainees were paid equal basic salaries.
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hr1 percentage and total number of 
significant investment agreements that 
include human rights clauses or that 
have undergone human rights 
screening.

British American tobacco malaysia’s significant investments were with 
its suppliers. our philosophy on supplier partnership was not just about 
procurement but how we could increase value in the supply chain. we 
use the Business enabler survey tool (Best) to select the best supplier 
based on high operation standards including consideration of human 
rights aspects such as a safe working environment, good labour 
relations, provision of education and training, regulatory compliances, 
business ethics and environment, health and safety responsibility. the 
top 90 percent of vendors (by volume) were all surveyed using Best.

other significant investments also included the contracts we have with 
tobacco leaf farmers. our contracts cover good agricultural practices, 
appropriate use of agrochemicals, environmental, occupational health 
and safety and termination of contracts should farmers be employing 
child labour.

hr2 percentage of significant suppliers and 
contractors that have undergone 
screening on human rights and actions 
taken.

please refer to gri g3 reference hr1.

hr4 total number of incidents of 
discrimination and actions taken.

there were no incidences of discrimination reported to British American 
tobacco malaysia.

we also have a grievance procedure under Article 5 of the collective 
Agreement between British American tobacco malaysia Berhad and 
British American tobacco malaysia employees union (BAteu), effective 
from 1st July 2004 to 30th June 2007, for non-management employees 
to escalate matters of discrimination to senior management

in addition, our standards of Business conduct provides for a 
comprehensive whistleblowing procedure which enables any employee 
to raise any concern including that of discrimination. our code of 
practise on sexual harassment protects employees from gender 
discrimination.

hr5 operations identified in which the right 
to exercise freedom of association or 
collective bargaining may be at 
significant risk, and actions taken to 
support these rights.

in 2012, there were no significant risks in exercising freedom of 
association or collective bargaining in British American tobacco 
malaysia.

BRITISH AMERICAN TOBACCO (MALAYSIA) BERHAD
annual report 2012

pg 107
O

verview
Perform

ance
Leadership

G
overnance

G
row

th
Productivity

Resp
onsibility

W
inning O

rganisation
Financial Statem

ents
O

ther Inform
ation



GRI 
Code Issue Area Response for 2012

hr6 operations identified as having 
significant risk for incidents of child 
labour, and measures taken to contribute 
to the elimination of child labour.

British American tobacco malaysia has identified its leaf supply as at risk 
for incidents of child labour, as it was not under its direct employment.

to mitigate this risk, the company has gone into an agreement with 
the local leaf suppliers as part of our social responsibility in tobacco 
production (srtp) to ensure that no child labour was used to perform 
activities related to tobacco production. Any breach of the terms and 
conditions of the agreement would result in a cease in supplies to the 
company.

hr7 operations identified as having 
significant risk for incidents of forced or 
compulsory labour, and measures taken 
to contribute to the elimination of 
forced or compulsory labour.

please refer to gri g3 reference hr6.

hr8 percentage of security personnel trained 
in the organisation’s policies or 
procedures concerning aspects of 
human rights that are relevant to 
operations.

there was no formalised training specifically on human rights issues 
provided to security personnel. the focus of their responsibilities was to 
ensure a safe and secure working environment for employees and the 
core need to treat every individual with respect in the execution of their 
duties.

hr9 total number of incidents of violations 
involving rights of indigenous people 
and actions taken.

British American tobacco malaysia has identified its leaf supply as at risk 
for incidents of compulsory/forced labour, as it was not under our 
direct employment.

to mitigate this risk, British American tobacco malaysia’s employment 
principles builds on its commitment to good employment practices 
and workplace related human rights. it sets out a common approach to 
the development of policies and procedures, while recognising that we 
must take account of local labour laws and practices and the local 
political, economic and cultural context. topics covered by our 
employment principles include:

a. equality of opportunity and non-discrimination.

b. internal communications and the free flow of ideas.

c. worker representation and freedom of association.

d. fairness at work and the unacceptability of harassment and 
bullying.

e. do not condone or employ child labour.

f. forced or bonded labour is completely unacceptable.

g. performance responsibility.

h. health, safety and environmental responsibility.

i. community contributions and skills development for employees 
and communities in markets where our companies operate.

j. personal development and learning.

k. reasonable working hours and family friendly policies.

l. fair, clear and competitive remuneration and benefits.
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so1 nature, scope, and effectiveness of any 
programmes and practices that assess 
and manage the impacts of operations 
on communities, including entering, 
operating, and exiting.

British American tobacco malaysia aimed to address the social and 
environmental issues associated with tobacco growing and processing 
by guiding tobacco farmers on good agricultural practices, the 
appropriate use of agrochemicals and consideration for environmental, 
occupational health and safety issues through the social responsibility 
in tobacco production (srtp) policy. we were also active in maintaining 
our afforestation initiatives.

so2 percentage and total number of business 
units analysed for risks related to 
corruption.

please refer to page 33 on standards of Business conduct.

so3 percentage of employees trained in 
organisation’s anti-corruption policies 
and procedures.

20 personnel underwent an induction programme throughout 2012 
and were informed about British American tobacco malaysia’s 
standards of Business conduct (soBc) which included information on 
anti-corruption and bribery.

so4 Actions taken in response to incidents of 
corruption.

there were no incidences of corruption reported to British American 
tobacco malaysia.

so5 public policy positions and participation 
in public policy development and 
lobbying.

As a responsible company, British American tobacco malaysia believes 
that we can contribute, through information and ideas to help 
regulators address the key issues surrounding our product.

in 2012, we undertook the following through the confederation of 
malaysian tobacco manufacturers, of which British American tobacco 
malaysia is a member:

• distribution of leaflets to some 80,000 retailers nationwide to 
educate them on certain local illegal cigarette brands that were 
selling below the minimum price of rm7.00 which also used false 
trade descriptions and fake security ink. this was conducted under 
the purview of the ministry of domestic trade, consumer Affairs 
and co-operatives.

• presentations to various government agencies (e.g. royal malaysian 
customs, malaysian maritime enforcement Agency, ministry of 
domestic trade, co-operatives and consumerism, etc.) on the illicit 
cigarette study in malaysia, the severity of illicit cigarettes trade 
and the issues affecting the industry.

• involvement in discussion groups and campaigns which were 
conducted together with the royal malaysian customs and its task 
forces (both national and state level) to raise awareness on the issue 
of illicit trade to retailers and also to society at large. these discussions 
focused on levels of illicit trade in malaysia, current challenges faced 
by enforcement/task forces and solutions to addressing illicit trade.

• discussions with the national kenaf and tobacco Board on leaf 
issues, of which the company’s head of leaf is a member.

At a global level, these and other issues and our core positions with 
regards to public policy development can be found on www.bat.com.
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so7 total number of legal actions for anti-
competitive behaviour, anti-trust, and 
monopoly practices and their outcomes.

there were no legal actions against British American tobacco malaysia 
for anti-competitive behaviour, anti-trust, and monopoly practices.

British American tobacco malaysia’s standard of Business conduct 
(soBc) embeds the principles of fair competition rules in conducting 
our business. in addition, British American tobacco malaysia’s 
competition guidelines which was rolled out company-wide on 18 
June 2009 also ensures that our business activities are not in any manner 
anti-competitive nor in breach of the competition Act 2011.

so8 monetary value of significant fines and 
total number of non-monetary sanctions 
for non-compliance with laws and 
regulations.

there were no significant fines or any non-monetary sanctions imposed 
on British American tobacco malaysia.

however, three compound notices of rm2,000 each was issued to 
tobacco importers and manufacturers sdn Bhd in June 2012 for non-
compliances to the environmental Quality (industrial effluent) 
regulation 2009. kindly refer to gri g3 reference en28 for more 
information.

pr1 life cycle stages in which health and 
safety impacts of products and services 
are assessed for improvement, and 
percentage of significant products and 
services categories subject to such 
procedures.

please refer to information on smoking and health which can be found 
on our website at www.bat.com. information on tobacco ingredients 
can be found on www.bat-ingredients.com.

British American tobacco malaysia’s products were in full compliance 
with the control of tobacco product regulations 2004.

the company also went into an agreement with the local leaf suppliers 
as part of the social responsibility in tobacco production (srtp) to 
ensure that there was appropriate utilisation of agrochemicals with 
respect to the environment and operator safety. therefore, where 
agrochemicals were deemed necessary, selection and usage adhered to 
the relevant British American tobacco Agrochemical procedures that 
included the selection of approved chemicals.

pr2 total number of incidents of non-
compliance with regulations and 
voluntary codes concerning the health 
and safety impacts of products and 
services during their life cycle, by type of 
outcomes.

British American tobacco malaysia’s products were in full compliance 
with the control of tobacco product regulations 2004.
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pr3 type of product and service information 
required by procedures, and percentage 
of significant products and services 
subject to such information 
requirements.

2012

yes no

the sourcing of components of the product or service √

content, particularly with regard to substances that 
might produce an environmental or social impact

√

safe use of the product or service √

disposal of the product and environmental/social 
impacts

√

other (explain) n.A n.A

in 2012, British American tobacco malaysia was in full compliance with 
the control of tobacco product regulations 2004 which required 
health warnings and further textual warnings and/or labeling 
requirements on every cigarette pack.

pr4 total number of incidents of non-
compliance with regulations and 
voluntary codes concerning product 
and service information and labelling, 
by type of outcomes.

in 2012, British American tobacco malaysia was in full compliance with 
the control of tobacco product regulations 2004 which required 
health warnings and further textual warnings and/or labeling 
requirements on every cigarette pack.

pr6 programmes for adherence to laws, 
standards, and voluntary codes related 
to marketing communications, 
including advertising, promotion, and 
sponsorship.

the control of tobacco product regulations (ctpr) 2004 regulates the 
tobacco industry in terms of prohibition of tobacco product 
advertisement, regulation on the sale of tobacco products, labeling and 
packaging requirements among others.

compliance with the regulations was further enhanced by British 
American tobacco malaysia’s adherence to the British American 
tobacco international marketing standards (ims) which embodies in 
detail our commitment to marketing appropriately and only to adult 
smokers. the standards aim to ‘raise the bar’ by establishing a 
benchmark for the industry worldwide and in some countries they are 
stricter than local laws.

the British American tobacco international tobacco products 
marketing standards were updated on 1 July 2007 (currently ims 2) 
and a yearly refresher course is conducted to brief the marketing 
department and their relevant agencies on the standards. British 
American tobacco will continue to raise the bar on compliance to 
marketing standards when it introduces the international marketing 
principles globally in 2013.
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GRI 
Code Issue Area Response for 2012

pr7 total number of incidents of non-
compliance with regulations and 
voluntary codes concerning marketing 
communications, including advertising, 
promotion, and sponsorship, by type of 
outcomes.

there were no incidents of non-compliance with regulations concerning 
marketing communications.

pr8 total number of substantiated 
complaints regarding breaches of 
customer privacy and losses of customer 
data.

no complaints were received regarding breaches of customer privacy 
and losses of customer data.

pr9 monetary value of significant fines for 
non-compliance with laws and 
regulations concerning the provision 
and use of products and services.

British American tobacco malaysia’s products were in full compliance 
with the control of tobacco product regulations 2004.
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uninhibited commitment in developing a team of 
passionate, well-informed and highly trained professionals.

100years of 

WINNING 
ORGANISATION



British AMericAn toBAcco MAlAysiA’s focus on its PeoPle in 2012 WAs to deVeloP An 
outstAndinG teAM And creAte A GreAt PlAce to WorK to deliVer excellent Business 
PerforMAnce.

• recognised 86 recipients in 
the long service Awards.

• recognised the 
contribution of over 164 
employees through our 
employee recognition 
awards.

• conducted more than 30 
international, regional and 
local trainings for 
management and non-
management employees.

• held activities for more 
than 1000 employees 
under the company’s 
great place to work 
initiative to promote 
employee wellbeing.

KEY HIGHLIGHTS OF 2012

our human resource and organisational strategy plays a 
critical part in enabling British American tobacco malaysia to 
achieve its vision of maintaining market leadership and to 
grow shareholder value.

we strongly believe that our business growth and continued 
success is fuelled by our people. A winning organisation 
delivers winning results. As such, we are committed to create 
the right environment that can nurture a winning organisation.

our focus for 2012 was to provide employees with robust and 
challenging development opportunities, recognition, and a 
solid understanding on how they contribute towards the 
business’ strategic direction. we foster a high performing 
workforce through robust talent and performance 
management. our long-term career and succession planning 
has enabled us to develop our talent into the leaders of today.

RECOGNISING LONG SERVING EMPLOYEES
British American tobacco malaysia believes in recognising 
our long serving employees and their contribution to the 
company’s success throughout the years. in 2012, the 
annual long service Award ceremony was held in conjunction 
with British American tobacco malaysia’s centennial 
celebration in december to honour long serving and retiring 
employees.

A total of 86 employees were awarded the long service 
Award. out of the total recipients, 25 were recipients for 10 
years’ service, 13 were for 20 years’ service, 29 were for 30 
years’ service and 19 were retirees.

EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION SCHEME TO REWARD 
EXCELLENT PERFORMANCE
in line with British American tobacco malaysia’s commitment 
to motivate, recognise, and reward high performing 
employees, the company presented awards to 164 employees 
who demonstrated exceptional work commitment and 
delivered significant achievements in 2012. these employee 
recognition schemes serve to reward and nurture a high 
performing work culture amongst all levels of employees.

in 2012, British American tobacco Malaysia’s longest serving active employee 
has been with the company for more than 35 years, which is equivalent to 
around 1,832 weeks or 12,819 days!

100 YEARS  
AS A WINNING 

ORGANISATION:

Attracting, developing and nurturing talent to fuel  
our growth agenda

did you
know?
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DEVELOPING TALENT AND CONTINUOUSLY UPSKILLING EMPLOYEES
British American tobacco malaysia offers various learning and development opportunities, which include line manager 
coaching, on-the-job learning, in-house training, employee self-service portals, classroom-based training programmes, as well 
as secondments to other British American tobacco entities abroad.

our employee development portfolio includes functional competency training to improve work performance, and exposure 
to other functions to enhance cross-functional business appreciation. we also focus on management skills and leadership 
development, which includes senior leadership programmes. in 2012, the company invested more than rm5 million into 
various employee development initiatives and continues to commit similar levels of investment each year towards upskilling 
and self-improvement programmes for our employees.

we have conducted more than 30 international, regional, and local training programmes for over 300 employees in 2012. 

o Preferred factory in Asia Pacific
 in supply chain, emphasis was placed on upskilling new employees fast in order to meet increased production demand. 

capacity building initiatives were put in place to strengthen their fundamental competencies. our focus on upskilling our 
supply chain team is aligned to the company’s vision of maintaining our factory as the preferred source of manufacturing 
for the region.

o Listed here are some of our international, regional, and local training programmes which were organised 
throughout 2012.  

a) international training

NAME OF TRAINING OBJECTIVE

Advanced product 
knowledge

Building a deeper understanding of the role of our product within the integrated 
supply chain.  

corporate and regulatory 
Affairs campaign 
management

Building campaigning capabilities, better understanding on regulation, campaign 
strategy and planning, and stakeholder dialogues.

finance development 
centre

initiating a development plan that is owned and driven by participants to equip 
them for stretched future roles.

legal excellence 
programme

enhancing understanding of the main challenges and risks facing the company, 
developing legal competencies, and strategic thinking skills.

marketing ABc understanding basic mechanics of marketing. 

marketing Academy stretching and challenging participants’ strategic thinking in shaping company 
strategies. 

marketing negotiation 
skills

understanding principles of negotiation.

tier 2 leadership 
Accelerator programme: 
Leadership Excellence 
Accelerator Programme

delivering critical experience and skills required for high-potential senior managers 
to successfully transition to the next level. 

tier 3 leadership 
development programme:
Leading a Global Business 

Accelerating development of participants’ awareness of their leadership behaviour 
and the effect it can have on others.
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b) regional training

NAME OF TRAINING OBJECTIVE

Business presentation  
– masterclass

training on creating and delivering compelling business presentations.

human resources 
Business partners 
capability workshop 
– change management

explaining the benefits of change management and providing practical skills for 
managing change.

leading self program Building fundamental skills under the Manage Self development stage.

leadership discovery 
course

Accelerating the development of participants’ awareness of their leadership 
behaviour and its impact on others. 

c) local training

NAME OF TRAINING OBJECTIVE

Behavioural-Based forklift 
safety operations

training non-management employees on proper forklift handling.

Business english course 
(British council)

developing employees’ Business english skills.

defensive driving identifying defensive driving concepts to trade marketing employees.

forecasting & demand 
planning excellence

maximising best practices and strategies on forecasting and cost saving.

high impact presentations learning to deliver and create impactful presentations.

integrated management 
systems (ims) Auditor

learning competencies to conduct ims audits based on iso standards.

introduction to proquis coaching for operations employees on using the proquis system. 

licensed manufacturing 
warehouse

deploying knowledge of the facilities on manufacturing warehouse processes.

mechanical maintenance training non-management employees on mechanical maintenance. 
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TALENT SOURCING: ATTRACTING AND 
RECRUITING THE BEST

we believe that attracting and recruiting the best talent for 
British American tobacco malaysia fuels our business 
sustainability. our focus on talent sourcing is driven under 
the company’s great place to work strategic agenda to 
create a winning organisation.

in 2012, we hired 25 management employees and 10 
management trainees across the company. Approximately 
130 technical trainees and technical assistants were hired 
into the operations function throughout 2012 to meet the 
increase in production volumes.

we have also improved our recruitment lead time and raised 
the bar on our recruitment standards. in 2012, we also 
experienced better retention rate of new employees.

outlined below are key initiatives and focus areas in attracting, 
recruiting and retaining our best talent:

• Graduate recruitment – management trainees recruited 
under British American tobacco malaysia’s global 
management trainee programme undergo two years of 
intensive preparation in a selected function, which 
develops them to assume management roles.

• differentiated recruitment approach – we believe that 
sourcing the best talent requires a differentiated approach, 
depending on the level and profile of talent we seek. the 
company leverages on 12 different recruitment channels 
to attract potential talent from targeted groups.

• stringent recruitment standards – All management 
hires are required to undertake online ability assessments, 
undergo real time face-to-face assessments by our trained 
assessors, and experience competency-based interviews 
as part of our recruitment process.

• improved corporate induction – in 2012, we revamped 
the employee onboarding framework, which aims at 
improving the process of inducting new joiners into the 
company.

EMPLOYEE ENGAGEMENT: YOUR VOICE 
SURVEY 2012
British American tobacco malaysia conducted an employee 
opinion survey called the your voice survey in 2012 with the  
following key objectives:

1. to understand how employees view the organisation, 
its practices, policies, etc.

2. to understand if there are areas employees are 
concerned with.

3. to address areas of concern and strive towards delivering 
a great place to work.

the survey results provided us with a better understanding of 
the company’s key strengths and areas for development. 
some of our key strengths include:

• our employees taking pride in working for British 
American tobacco.

• employees understanding how their roles contribute to 
British American tobacco malaysia’s sustainability 
agenda.

• employees being satisfied with the level of teamwork 
collaboration and support provided at work.

our key focus areas for development for 2013 include the 
areas outlined below:

• providing transparency and clarity on policies and 
practices pertaining to talent sourcing, talent 
management, and career progression.

• incorporating activities to further reinforce a positive 
work culture for employees to voice their concerns and 
comments.
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EMPLOYEE ENGAGEMENT: CREATING A 
GREAT PLACE TO WORK
in 2012, British American tobacco malaysia identified and 
set up two key workstreams to help foster a truly winning 
organisation aimed at creating a more positive and 
productive work environment. these two workstreams are 
driven under the Great Place to Work umbrella, which is part 
of the company’s strategic agenda for the year. it includes:

a) Accelerating the People Agenda – to drive a relevant 
and compelling employee value proposition.

b) Creating a Winning Mindset – to harness leadership 
skills and further fuel a high performing work 
environment.

in order to deliver these Must Wins, senior managers across the 
business were tasked with leading various initiatives under the 
Great Place to Work campaign. relevant and realistic actionable 
plans were initiated to increase employee engagement and 
communications across the organisation. these plans included 
improving corporate induction, recruitment strategies and 
leadership development, amongst others.

listed below are key initiatives that took place in 2012 under 
the two workstreams:

Accelerate People Agenda

a) nationwide Rewards road shows – human resources 
Business partners engaged employees across malaysia 
on employment terms and benefits (rewards) to 
increase transparency and provide better clarity on the 
terms and process.

b) employee onboarding framework – revamped the 
new company wide onboarding framework to improve 
the onboarding experiences for new joiners.

c) improved recruitment – refreshed and reviewed our 
company recruitment campaigns and channels to 
increase effectiveness of recruitment strategies.

Winning Mindset

a) in order to create a winning mindset, the company 
initiated the ‘we care’ campaign to promote employees’ 
welfare and wellbeing.

b) The Accelerated Leadership Programme was piloted to 
enhance employees’ leadership skills and was aimed at 
increasing senior leaders’ awareness of their leadership 
styles and enabling participants to work out 
developement plans to improve their leadership 
effectiveness.

Face-to-face employee engagement
throughout 2012, British American tobacco malaysia also 
focused on enhancing face-to-face engagement with our 
employees. in the operations function, regular team talks 
were reintroduced to production cell employees. these team 
talks aimed to:

• create a consistent platform for employees within 
operations to share ideas, opinions and experiences.

• provide a standard forum for the management to provide 
updates on performance, feedback and review solutions 
with the production team.

• ensure all employees have the opportunity to voice their 
views and ideas.

Great Place to Work initiatives
through the British American tobacco malaysia sports club, 
a total of 10 major activities were carried out in 2012, which 
saw the participation of over 1000 employees across the 
company. the year culminated with a major celebration to 
commemorate British American tobacco malaysia’s 100 
years in the country.

Employees participate in the Annual Tresure Hunt organised by the 
British American Tobacco Malaysia Sports Club.

Employees participating in the Company’s 100 years Family Day activity.
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INDONESIA

planning and 
reporting manager

chief planning and 
integration officer

head of trade 
marketing and 
distribution

team leaders

president director, 
export leaf

corporate and 
regulatory Affairs 
projects manager

operations director

BANGLADESH

finance director

UNITED 
KINGDOM

head of Brand 
strategy 
development

SOUTH KOREA

group Brand 
manager 

SINGAPORE

regional supply 
planning manager

head of singapore 
manufacturing 

head of trade

British American tobacco Malaysia 
takes great pride in listing our 
Malaysian employees who are 
currently in other operating centres 
around the globe.

Our International assignee experience

three years had passed since i came to indonesia and it 
certainly did not feel that long. this assignment in indonesia 
has enriched me beyond words both from personal and 
professional point of view. personally, i have the privilege to 
know the country, its people and culture a lot better. 
professionally, i know myself a lot better and it takes a lot 
work in a top tier British American tobacco market. it is 
extremely enriching and it differentiates a man from a boy so 
to speak. All these experiences will definitely position anyone 
who have worked in indonesia better in their next role. 

with British American tobacco, i have travelled not only 
within malaysia, but also to other parts of the world. i have 
covered all the main islands of indonesia which include 
sumatera, Java, sulawesi, kalimantan and various outer 
islands. if not because of this assignment and British 
American tobacco, i would have probably visited Bali at 
best! is British American tobacco a great place to work? you 
tell me!

Jimmy ding
Head of Business Development, Bentoel Group, Indonesia

BRITISH AMERICAN TOBACCO (MALAYSIA) BERHAD
annual report 2012

pg 119



121 directors’ report

127 statement by directors

127 statutory declaration

128 independent Auditors’ report

130 income statements

131 statements of comprehensive income

132 Balance sheets

133 consolidated statement of changes in equity

135 company statement of changes in equity

137 statements of cash flows

138 summary of significant Accounting policies

153 notes to the financial statements

REPORTS AND
FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS



directors’ report

the directors are pleased to submit their annual report to the members together with the audited financial statements 
of the group and company for the financial year ended 31 december 2012.

Principal Activities
the company provides day-to-day management and administrative services to its subsidiaries which are principally 
engaged in the manufacture, importation and sale of cigarettes, pipe tobaccos and cigars.

there have been no significant changes in the nature of the group’s and the company’s activities during the financial year.

Financial Results

Group
RM’000

Company
RM’000

profit before tax 1,054,383 732,241
(tax expense)/tax credit (256,637) 105
 
net profit for the financial year 797,746 732,346
  

Dividends

RM’000

the dividends paid or declared by the company since 31 december 2011 were as follows:

in respect of the financial year ended 31 december 2011, as shown in the  
  directors’ report of that year:

fourth interim dividend of 66.00 sen per share, tax exempt under the single-tier system,  
  paid on 23 march 2012 188,450
 

in respect of the financial year ended 31 december 2012:

first interim dividend of 65.00 sen per share, tax exempt under the single-tier system,  
  paid on 25 may 2012 185,594

second interim dividend of 65.00 sen per share, tax exempt under the single-tier system,  
  paid on 24 August 2012 185,594

third interim dividend of 65.00 sen per share, tax exempt under the single-tier system,  
  paid on 30 november 2012 185,595
 
 556,783
 

the directors declared a fourth interim dividend of 77.00 sen per share, tax exempt under the single-tier tax system 
amounting to rm219,858,100 in respect of the financial year ended 31 december 2012, payable on 27 march 2013, 
to all shareholders whose names appear on the register of members and record of depositors on 14 march 2013.  
these financial statements do not reflect the fourth interim dividend which will be accounted for in the financial year 
ending 31 december 2013.

the directors do not recommend a final dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31 december 2012.
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Reserves and Provisions

All material transfers to and from reserves and provisions during the financial year are shown in the financial statements.

Directors
the directors who held office during the period since the date of the last report are as follows:

tan sri Abu talib bin othman (chairman) (retired on 29 February 2012)
datuk mohamad salim Bin fateh din (chairman) (appointed on 11 April 2012)
datuk toh Ah wah
dato’ Ahmad Johari bin tun Abdul razak 
Andreas michael thompson 
dato’ chan choon ngai
James richard suttie
datuk oh chong peng
datuk Zainun Aishah Binti Ahmad (appointed on 1 March 2012)
lee oi kuan (appointed on 1 March 2012)

in accordance with Article 103 of the company’ Articles of Association, datuk mohamad salim bin fateh din will retire 
from the Board at the forthcoming Annual general meeting and being eligible, has offered himself for re-election.

in accordance with Article 97(1) and (2) of the company’s Articles of Association, datuk toh Ah wah, James richard 
suttie and Andreas michael thompson will retire by rotation from the Board at the forthcoming Annual general meeting 
and being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election.

datuk oh chong peng who has served as an independent non-executive director of the company for a cumulative 
term of more than nine years, will seek for re-election to continue to act as an independent non-executive director of 
the company. the Board recommends that datuk oh chong peng be re-elected as an independent non-executive 
director of the company and to hold office until the conclusion of the next Annual general meeting.

Directors’ Benefits
during and at the end of the financial year, no arrangements subsisted to which the company is a party, being 
arrangements with the object or objects of enabling directors of the company to acquire benefits by means of the 
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the company or any other body corporate pursuant to provisions under the 
companies Act, 1965, other than as may arise from equity-settled share-based compensation plans offered by British 
American tobacco p.l.c (British American tobacco p.l.c is deemed to be the ultimate holding company) as disclosed in 
note 31 to the financial statements.

since the end of the previous financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive any benefit (other 
than the benefits shown in note 4 to the financial statements) by reason of a contract made by the company or a 
related corporation with the director or with a firm of which the director is a member, or with a company in which 
the director has a substantial financial interest, other than by virtue of transactions entered into in the ordinary course 
of business as disclosed in note 28 to the financial statements.
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Directors’ Interests in Shares

According to the register of directors’ shareholdings, particulars of interests of directors who held office at the end of 
the financial year in shares and share options in the company and its related corporations are as follows:

 The Company

Number of ordinary shares of 50 sen each in Company

At 1.1.12 Bought Sold At 31.12.12

Shareholdings in the name of the Director:
datuk oh chong peng 1,000 – – 1,000
James richard suttie 1,500 – – 1,500
dato’ chan choon ngai 1,000 – – 1,000

Shareholdings in which the Director  
  is deemed to have an interest:
dato’ chan choon ngai 6,000 – – 6,000

Ultimate Holding Company  
  – British American Tobacco p.l.c

Number of ordinary shares of 25p each in  
British American Tobacco p.l.c

At 1.1.12
Bought/
Granted Sold At 31.12.12

Shareholdings in the name of the Director:
James richard suttie 7,154 – – 7,154
dato’ chan choon ngai 28,961 – 28,961 –
Andreas michael thompson 1,120 3,726 5 4,841
datuk toh Ah wah 47,641 60,131 8,422 99,350

Ultimate Holding Company  
  – British American Tobacco p.l.c

Number of ordinary shares of 25p each in  
British American Tobacco p.l.c

At 1.1.12/
Date of

Appointment Awarded Vested At 31.12.12

Deferred Share Bonus Scheme & 
  International Share Reward Scheme:

Shareholdings in the name of the Director:
Andreas michael thompson 7,306 2,288 3,622 5,972
datuk toh Ah wah 16,054 4,736 6,629 14,161
lee oi kuan (appointed on 1 March 2012) 5,631 1,902 2,484 5,049
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Directors’ Interests in Shares (Cont’d.)

Ultimate Holding Company
–  British American  

  Tobacco p.l.c

Number of ordinary shares of 25p each in  
British American Tobacco p.l.c

At 1.1.12/
Date of

Appointment Granted Exercised Lapsed At 31.12.12

Shareholdings in the name  
  of the Director,

Exercise Price and Expiry Date:

Andreas Michael Thompson
ltip – nil (13 march 2018) 2,500 – – – 2,500
ltip – nil (27 march 2019) 6,982 – – – 6,982
ltip – nil (25 march 2020) 5,144 – – – 5,144
ltip – nil (25 march 2021) 5,228 – – – 5,228
ltip – nil (28 march 2022) – 4,067 – – 4,067

Datuk Toh Ah Wah
ltip – nil (17 march 2014) 10,856 – 10,856 – –
ltip – nil (17 may 2015) 9,244 – 9,244 – –
ltip – nil (15 march 2016) 8,642 – 8,642 – –
ltip – nil (13 march 2017) 8,517 – 8,517 – –
ltip – nil (27 march 2019) 14,098 – 14,098 – –
ltip – nil (25 march 2020) 10,317 – – – 10,317
ltip – nil (25 march 2021) 11,724 – – – 11,724
ltip – nil (28 march 2022) – 8,771 – – 8,771

Lee Oi Kuan
ltip – nil (27 march 2019) 5,443 – – – 5,443
ltip – nil (25 march 2020) 3,870 – – – 3,870
ltip – nil (25 march 2021) 4,377 – – – 4,377
ltip – nil (28 march 2022) – 3,524 – – 3,524

some of the shares and options in the ultimate holding company held by directors arose as a result of the directors’ 
participation in the employee share schemes offered by British American tobacco p.l.c (British American tobacco p.l.c 
indirectly through British American tobacco holdings (malaysia) B.v., owns fifty percent (50%) equity interest in the 
company and is deemed to be the company’s ultimate holding company). further details on the employee share 
schemes offered by British American tobacco p.l.c are contained in note 31 to the financial statements.
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Statutory Information on the Financial Statements

Before the financial statements of the group and of the company were made out, the directors took reasonable steps:

a) to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of 
allowance for doubtful debts and satisfied themselves that all known bad debts had been written off and that 
adequate allowance had been made for doubtful debts; and

b) to ensure that any current assets, other than debts, which were unlikely to realise in the ordinary course of business 
at their values as shown in the accounting records of the group and of the company had been written down to 
an amount which they might be expected so to realise.

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances:

a) which would render the amounts written off for bad debts or the amount of the allowance for doubtful debts in 
the financial statements of the group and of the company inadequate to any substantial extent; or

b) which would render the values attributed to current assets in the financial statements of the group and of the 
company misleading; or

c) which have arisen which render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the group 
and of the company misleading or inappropriate.

no contingent or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within the period of 12 
months after the end of the financial year which, in the opinion of the directors, will or may affect the ability of the 
group or of the company to meet their obligations when they fall due.

At the date of this report, there does not exist:

a) any charge on the assets of the group or of the company which has arisen since the end of the financial year 
which secures the liability of any other person; or

b) any contingent liability of the group or of the company which has arisen since the end of the financial year.

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this report or 
the financial statements which would render any amount stated in the financial statements of the group or of the 
company misleading.

in the opinion of the directors:

a) the results of the group’s and company’s operations during the financial year were not substantially affected by 
any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature; and

b) there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any item, 
transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely to affect substantially the results of the operations of 
the group or of the company for the financial year in which this report is made.
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Ultimate Holding Company

the directors regard British American tobacco p.l.c, which is incorporated in england and wales, to be the ultimate 
holding company of the company.

Auditors

the auditors, pricewaterhousecoopers, have expressed their willingness to continue in office.

signed on behalf of the Board of directors in accordance with a resolution dated 26 february 2013.

 
 
Datuk Toh Ah Wah Andreas Michael Thompson
Managing Director Finance Director

petaling Jaya
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statement by directors
pursuant to section 169(15) of the companies Act, 1965

statutory declaration
pursuant to section 169(16) of the companies Act, 1965

we, dAtuk toh Ah wAh and AndreAs michAel thompson, two of the directors of British American tobacco 
(malaysia) Berhad, state that, in the opinion of the directors, the financial statements set out on pages 130 to 197 are 
drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and of the company as at 31 december 
2012 and of the results and cash flows of the group and of the company for the financial year ended on that date in 
accordance with the malaysian financial reporting standards, international financial reporting standards and the 
provisions of the companies Act, 1965.

the supplementary information set out on page 198 have been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with 
guidance on special matter no.1, determination of realised and unrealised profits or losses in the context of disclosure 
pursuant to Bursa malaysia securities Berhad listing requirements, as issued by the malaysian institute of Accountants.

signed on behalf of the Board of directors in accordance with a resolution dated 26 february 2013.

 
 
Datuk Toh Ah Wah Andreas Michael Thompson
Managing Director Finance Director

i, AndreAs michAel thompson, the director primarily responsible for the financial management of British American 
tobacco (malaysia) Berhad, do solemnly and sincerely declare that the financial statements set out on pages 130 to 197 
are, in my opinion, correct and i make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true, and by 
virtue of the provisions of the statutory declarations Act, 1960.

Andreas Michael Thompson
Finance Director

subscribed and solemnly declared by the abovenamed Andreas michael thompson at petaling Jaya in the state of 
selangor on 26 february 2013.

Before me:

Commissioner for Oaths
petaling Jaya
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independent Auditors’ report
to the members of British American tobacco (malaysia) Berhad
(incorporated in malaysia) (company no. 4372-m)

Report on the Financial Statements

we have audited the financial statements of British American tobacco (malaysia) Berhad on pages 130 to 197 which 
comprise the balance sheet as at 31 december 2012 of the group and of the company, and the statements of income, 
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows of the group and of the company for the year then ended, 
and a summary of significant accounting policies as set out on pages 138 to 152 and other explanatory notes, as set 
out on notes 1 to 33.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements
the directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view 
in accordance with malaysian financial reporting standards, international financial reporting standards and the 
companies Act, 1965, and for such internal control as the directors determine are necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility
our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. we conducted our audit 
in accordance with approved standards on auditing in malaysia. those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free 
from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. the procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of risks of material misstatement 
of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. in making those risk assessments, we consider internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements.

we believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

Opinion
in our opinion, the financial statements have been properly drawn up in accordance with malaysian financial reporting 
standards, international financial reporting standards and the companies Act, 1965 so as to give a true and fair view 
of the balance sheets of the group and of the company as of 31 december 2012 and of their income statements and 
cash flows for the year then ended.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

in accordance with the requirements of the companies Act, 1965 in malaysia, we also report the following:

(a) in our opinion, the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act to be kept by the company 
and its subsidiaries of which we have acted as auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions 
of the Act.

(b) we have considered the financial statements and the auditors’ reports of all the subsidiaries of which we have not 
acted as auditors, which are indicated in note 13 to the financial statements.
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements (Cont’d.)

(c) we are satisfied that the financial statements of the subsidiaries that have been consolidated with the company’s 
financial statements are in form and content appropriate and proper for the purposes of the preparation of the 
financial statements of the group and we have received satisfactory information and explanations required by us 
for those purposes.

(d) the audit reports on the financial statements of the subsidiaries did not contain any qualification or any adverse 
comment made under section 174(3) of the Act.

Other Reporting Responsibilities

the supplementary information set out in on page 198 is disclosed to meet the requirement of Bursa malaysia securities 
Berhad and is not part of the financial statements. the directors are responsible for the preparation of the supplementary 
information in accordance with guidance on special matter no. 1, determination of realised and unrealised profits or 
losses in the context of disclosure pursuant to Bursa malaysia securities Berhad listing requirements, as issued by the 
malaysian institute of Accountants (“miA guidance”) and the directive of Bursa malaysia securities Berhad. in our 
opinion, the supplementary information is prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the miA guidance and 
the directive of Bursa malaysia securities Berhad.

Other Matters

1.  As stated in note 32 to the financial statements, British American tobacco (malaysia) Berhad adopted malaysian 
financial reporting standards on 1 January 2012 with a transition date of 1 January 2011. these standards were 
applied retrospectively by directors to the comparative information in these financial statements, including the 
balance sheets as at 31 december 2011 and 1 January 2011, and the statement of income, comprehensive income, 
statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 december 2011 and related 
disclosures. we were not engaged to report on the restated comparative information and it is unaudited. our 
responsibilities as part of our audit of the financial statements of the group and of the company for the year ended 
31 december 2012 have, in these circumstances, included obtaining sufficient appropriate audit evidence that the 
opening balances as at 1 January 2012 do not contain misstatements that materially affect the balance sheet as of 
31 december 2012 and income statements and cash flows for the year then ended.

2. this report is made solely to the members of the company, as a body, in accordance with section 174 of the 
companies Act, 1965 in malaysia and for no other purpose. we do not assume responsibility to any other person 
for the content of this report.

 

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LOH LAY CHOON
(no. Af: 1146) (2497/03/14(J))
Chartered Accountants Chartered Accountant

kuala lumpur
26 february 2013
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income statements
for the financial year ended 31 december 2012

Group Company

Note

Year ended
31.12.12
RM’000

Year ended
31.12.11
RM’000

Year ended
31.12.12
RM’000

Year ended
31.12.11
RM’000

revenue 2 4,364,786 4,127,245 773,510 802,832
cost of sales  (2,865,590) (2,635,104) – –

gross profit  1,499,196 1,492,141 773,510 802,832
other operating income  11,887 14,243 7,216 9,214
distribution and marketing costs  (271,747) (358,432) – –
Administrative expenses  (156,376) (152,662) (22,033) (8,700)
other operating expenses  (3,065) (11,622) (230) (668)

profit from operations 3 1,079,895 983,668 758,463 802,678
finance cost – interest expense  (25,512) (27,400) (26,222) (27,400)

profit before tax  1,054,383 956,268 732,241 775,278
(tax expense)/tax credit 6 (256,637) (236,653) 105 (1,034)

profit for the financial year  797,746 719,615 732,346 774,244

profit attributable to:     
owners of the company  797,746 719,615 732,346 774,244

earnings per share (sen) 7 279.4 252.0 – –

net dividends per share (sen) 8 272.0 276.0 272.0 276.0

the accounting policies on pages 138 to 152 and the notes on pages 153 to 197 form an integral part of these financial 
statements.
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statements of comprehensive income
for the financial year ended 31 december 2012

Group Company

Note

Year ended
31.12.12
RM’000

Year ended
31.12.11
RM’000

Year ended
31.12.12
RM’000

Year ended
31.12.11
RM’000

profit for the financial year  797,746 719,615 732,346 774,244

other comprehensive income:
changes in fair value of cash flow
  hedges  1,022 1,510 4 588
defined benefit plan actuarial (loss)/gain  (159) 59 (287) 337
deferred tax movement on other
  comprehensive income 14
– deferred tax on fair value changes
    on cash flow hedges  (255) (378) (1) (147)
– deferred tax on defined benefit
    plan actuarial actuarial gain  40 — 72 –

total other comprehensive income
  for the financial year  648 1,191 (212) 778
 

total comprehensive income
  for the financial year  798,394 720,806 732,134 775,022
 

total comprehensive income for the
  financial year attributable to:
owners of the company  798,394 720,806 732,134 775,022

the accounting policies on pages 138 to 152 and the notes on pages 153 to 197 form an integral part of these financial 
statements.
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Balance sheets
As at 31 december 2012

Group Company

Note 2012 2011  1.1.2011 2012 2011  1.1.2011 
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Non current assets
property, plant and equipment 9 416,014 424,332 405,826 15,064 13,959 16,567
investment property 10 134 138 1,636 – – –
computer software 11 2,801 4,742 4,336 2,801 4,742 4,336
goodwill 12 411,618 411,618 411,618 – – –
subsidiaries 13 – – – 973,389 1,022,389 1,022,389
deferred tax assets 14 21,089 20,102 15,158 5,276 4,349 4,166
loan to a subsidiary 15 – – – 80,000 80,000 80,000

851,656 860,932 838,574 1,076,530 1,125,439 1,127,458

Current assets
Assets held for sale 16 417 – 888 – – –
inventories 17 312,217 192,959 193,572 – – –
receivables 18 200,400 206,925 179,489 38,420 6,352 104,501
derivative financial instruments 23 2,287 – – – – –
tax recoverable 418 – – 418 766 –
deposits, cash and bank balances 19 78,391 306,647 356,623 21,826 145,866 258,517

594,130 706,531 730,572 60,664 152,984 363,018

Current liabilities
payables 20 317,828 361,295 314,208 590,763 319,358 526,098
deferred income 21 3,304 2,095 – – – –
derivative financial instruments 23 2,670 322 1,832 – 4 592
current tax liabilities 85,828 67,566 66,758 – – 220
Borrowings (interest bearing) 22 250,000 400,000 – – 400,000 –

659,630 831,278 382,798 590,763 719,362 526,910

Net current (liabilities)/assets (65,500) (124,747) 347,774 (530,099) (566,378) (163,892)

786,156 736,185 1,186,348 546,431 559,061 963,566

Capital and reserves
share capital 24 142,765 142,765 142,765 142,765 142,765 142,765
cash flow hedge reserve 525 (242) (1,374) – (3) (444)
retained earnings 341,606 289,212 349,035 150,873 163,975 168,891

Shareholders’ funds 484,896 431,735 490,426 293,638 306,737 311,212

Non current liabilities
Borrowings 22 250,000 250,000 650,000 250,000 250,000 650,000
deferred income 21 9,628 7,683 – – – –
post employment benefit obligations 25 5,115 4,511 4,117 2,793 2,324 2,354
deferred tax liabilities 14 36,517 42,256 41,805 – – –

786,156 736,185 1,186,348 546,431 559,061 963,566

the accounting policies on pages 138 to 152 and the notes on pages 153 to 197 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the financial year ended 31 december 2012 

Note

Issued and fully paid
ordinary shares of

50 sen each
Cash flow

hedge
reserve
RM’000

Share based
payment

reserve
RM’000

Retained
earnings
RM’000

Total
attributable

to Owners
RM’000

Number of
shares

’000

Nominal
value

RM’000

At 1 January 2012 285,530 142,765 (242) – 289,212 431,735

profit for the financial year ended
  31 december 2012 – – – – 797,746 797,746
other comprehensive income:
  – changes in fair value of cash flow hedges 23 – – 1,022 – – 1,022
  – defined benefit plan actuarial loss 25 – – – – (159) (159)
  –  deferred tax on fair value changes 

  on cash flow hedges 14 – – (255) – – (255)
  – deferred tax on defined benefit plan 14 – – – – 40 40

total comprehensive income – – 767 – 797,627 798,394

transaction with owners:
expense arising from equity-settled share  

based payment transactions 31 – – – 5,135 – 5,135
recharge of share based payment 31 – – – (5,135) – (5,135)
dividends for financial year ended
  31 december 2011
  – fourth interim 8 – – – – (188,450) (188,450)
dividends for financial year ended
  31 december 2012
  – first interim 8 – – – – (185,594) (185,594)
  – second interim 8 – – – – (185,594) (185,594)
  – third interim 8 – – – – (185,595) (185,595)

total transaction with owners – – – – (745,233) (745,233)

At 31 december 2012 285,530 142,765 525 – 341,606 484,896

the accounting policies on pages 138 to 152 and the notes on pages 153 to 197 form an integral part of these financial statements.

BRITISH AMERICAN TOBACCO (MALAYSIA) BERHAD
annual report 2012

pg 133
O

verview
Perform

ance
Leadership

G
overnance

G
row

th
Productivity

Resp
onsibility

W
inning O

rganisation
Financials

O
ther Inform

ation



Note

Issued and fully paid
ordinary shares of

50 sen each
Cash flow

hedge
reserve
RM’000

Share based
payment

reserve
RM’000

Retained
earnings
RM’000

Total
attributable

to Owners
RM’000

Number of
shares

’000

Nominal
value

RM’000

At 1 January 2011 285,530 142,765 (1,374) – 349,035 490,426
profit for the financial year ended
  31 december 2011 – – – – 719,615 719,615
other comprehensive income:
  – changes in fair value of cash flow hedges 23 – – 1,510 – – 1,510
  – defined benefit plan actuarial gain 25 – – – – 59 59
  – deferred tax on fair value changes on
      cash flow hedges 14 – – (378) – – (378)

total comprehensive income – – 1,132 – 719,674 720,806

transaction with owners:
expense arising from equity-settled  

share based payment transactions 31 – – – 4,439 – 4,439
recharge of share based payment 31 – – – (4,439) – (4,439)
dividends for financial year ended
  31 december 2010
  – third interim – – – – (179,884) (179,884)
dividends for financial year ended
  31 december 2011
  – first interim 8 – – – – (171,318) (171,318)
  – second interim 8 – – – – (171,318) (171,318)
  – special dividend 8 – – – – (85,659) (85,659)
  – third interim 8 – – – – (171,318) (171,318)

total transaction with owners – – – – (779,497) (779,497)

At 31 december 2011 285,530 142,765 (242) – 289,212 431,735

the accounting policies on pages 138 to 152 and the notes on pages 153 to 197 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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company statement of changes in equity
for the financial year ended 31 december 2012

Note

Issued and fully paid
ordinary shares of

50 sen each
Cash flow

hedge
reserve
RM’000

Share based
payment

reserve
RM’000

Retained
earnings
RM’000

Total
attributable

to Owners
RM’000

Number of
shares

’000

Nominal
value

RM’000

At 1 January 2012 285,530 142,765 (3) – 163,975 306,737

profit for the financial year ended 
31 december 2012

– – – – 732,346 732,346

other comprehensive income:
– changes in fair value of cash flow hedges 23 – – 4 – – 4
– defined benefit plan actuarial loss 25 – – – – (287) (287)
– deferred tax on defined benefit plan 72 72
– deferred tax on fair value of changes  

  on cash flow hedges 14 – – (1) – – (1)

total comprehensive income – – 3 – 732,131 732,134

transaction with owners:
expense arising from equity-settled  

share based payment transactions 31 – – – 3,532 – 3,532
recharge of share based payment 31 – – – (3,532) – (3,532)
dividends for financial year ended  

31 december 2011
– fourth interim 8 – – – – (188,450) (188,450)

dividends for financial year ended  
31 december 2012
– first interim 8 – – – – (185,594) (185,594)
– second interim 8 – – – – (185,594) (185,594)
– third interim 8 – – – – (185,595) (185,595)

total transaction with owners – – – – (745,233) (745,233)

At 31 december 2012 285,530 142,765 – – 150,873 293,638

the accounting policies on pages 138 to 152 and the notes on pages 153 to 197 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Note

Issued and fully paid
ordinary shares of

50 sen each
Cash flow

hedge
reserve
RM’000

Share based
payment

reserve
RM’000

Retained
earnings
RM’000

Total
attributable

to Owners
RM’000

Number of
shares

’000

Nominal
value

RM’000

At 1 January 2011 285,530 142,765 (444) – 168,891 311,212

profit for the financial year ended  
31 december 2011 – – – – 774,244 774,244

other comprehensive income:
– changes in fair value of cash flow hedges 23 – – 588 – – 588
– defined benefit plan actuarial gain 25 – – – – 337 337
– deferred tax on fair value changes on cash  

  flow hedges 14 – – (147) – – (147)

total comprehensive income – – 441 – 774,581 775,022

transaction with owners:
expense arising from equity-settled  

share based payment transactions 31 – – – 3,193 – 3,193
recharge of share based payment 31 – – – (3,193) – (3,193)
dividends for financial year ended  

31 december 2010
– third interim – – – – (179,884) (179,884)

dividends for financial year ended  
31 december 2011
– first interim 8 – – – – (171,318) (171,318)
– second interim 8 – – – – (171,318) (171,318)
– special dividend 8 – – – – (85,659) (85,659)
– third interim 8 – – – – (171,318) (171,318)

total transaction with owners – – – – (779,497) (779,497)

At 31 december 2011 285,530 142,765 (3) – 163,975 306,737

the accounting policies on pages 138 to 152 and the notes on pages 153 to 197 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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statements of cash flows
for the financial year ended 31 december 2012

Group Company

Note

Year ended
31.12.12
RM’000

Year ended
31.12.11
RM’000

Year ended
31.12.12
RM’000

Year ended
31.12.11
RM’000

Operating activities
cash receipts from customers and 
  related companies  4,331,138  3,974,095  6,540  11,424
cash paid to suppliers, employees 
  and related companies  (3,351,934)  (2,925,388)  (39,110)  (4,493)
dividends received from subsidiaries   –  –  765,100  791,408

cash from operations 26 979,204  1,048,707  732,530  798,339
income tax paid  (245,734)  (240,716)  (403) (2,109)

net cash flow from operating activities  733,470  807,991  732,127  796,230

Investing activities
property, plant and equipment
– additions  (48,288)  (80,774)  (4,865)  (1,780)
– disposals  5,024  21,404  108  323
computer software
– additions  (613)  (2,305)  (613) (2,305)
proceeds from capital reduction 
  in subsidiaries   –  –  49,200  –
interest income received   7,296  10,501  5,324  4,272
repayment from/(to) subsidiaries   –  –  272,500  (102,598)

net cash flow (used in)/from 
  investing activities  (36,581)  (51,174)  321,654  (102,088) 

Financing activities
dividends paid to shareholders  (745,233)  (779,497)  (745,233)  (779,497)
interest expense paid  (29,912)  (27,296)  (32,588)  (27,296)
proceeds from revolving credit  250,000  –  –  –
repayment of medium term notes  (400,000)  –  (400,000)  –

net cash flow used in financing activities  (925,145)  (806,793)  (1,177,821)  (806,793)

Decrease in cash and cash  
  equivalents  (228,256)  (49,976)  (124,040)  (112,651)
Cash and cash equivalents 
  as at 1 January  306,647  356,623  145,866  258,517

Cash and cash equivalents 
  as at 31 December 19 78,391  306,647  21,826  145,866

the accounting policies on pages 138 to 152 and the notes on pages 153 to 197 form an integral part of these financial 
statements.
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A. Basis of Preparation

the financial statements of the group and company have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the 
malaysian financial reporting standards (‘mfrs’), international financial reporting standards and the requirements 
of the companies Act 1965 in malaysia.

the financial statements of the group and the company for the year ended 31 december 2012 are the first set 
of financial statements prepared in accordance with the mfrs, including mfrs 1, ‘first-time Adoption of malaysian 
financial reporting standards’. subject to certain transition elections disclosed in note 32, the group and company 
have consistently applied the same accounting policies in its opening mfrs balance sheet at 1 January 2011 
(transition date) and throughout all years presented, as if these policies had always been in effect. comparative 
figures for 2011 in these financial statements have been restated to give effect to these changes. note 32 discloses 
the impact of the transition to mfrs on the group and company’s reported balance sheet, income statement and 
cash flows.

the financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation 
of land and buildings and financial assets and financial liabilities (including derivative instruments) at fair value 
through profit or loss.

the preparation of financial statements in conformity with mfrs requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the reported period. it also requires directors to exercise their judgment in the process of applying the 
group and company’s accounting policies. Although these estimates and judgment are based on the directors’ 
best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results may differ. the areas involving a higher degree of 
judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are 
disclosed in note 33.

the group will apply the new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations in the following period:

(i) Financial Year Beginning on/after 1 January 2013

• mfrs 10, ‘consolidated financial statements’ (effective from 1 January 2013) changes the definition of 
control. An investor controls an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the 
investee. it establishes control as the basis for determining which entities are consolidated in the 
consolidated financial statements and sets out the accounting requirements for the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements. it replaces all the guidance on control and consolidation in mfrs 127, 
‘consolidated and separate financial statements’ and ic interpretation 112, ‘consolidation – special 
purpose entities’.

• mfrs 12, ‘disclosures of interests in other entities’ (effective from 1 January 2013) sets out the required 
disclosures for entities reporting under the two new standards, mfrs 10 and mfrs 11, and replaces the 
disclosure requirements currently found in mfrs 128, ‘investments in Associates’. it requires entities to 
disclose information that helps financial statement readers to evaluate the nature, risks and financial effects 
associated with the entity’s interests in subsidiaries, associates, joint arrangements and unconsolidated 
structured entities.
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A. Basis of Preparation (Cont’d.)

(i) Financial Year Beginning on/after 1 January 2013 (cont’d.)

• mfrs 13, ‘fair value measurement’ (effective from 1 January 2013) aims to improve consistency and reduce 
complexity by providing a precise definition of fair value and a single source of fair value measurement 
and disclosure requirements for use across mfrss. the requirements do not extend the use of fair value 
accounting but provide guidance on how it should be applied where its use is already required or 
permitted by other standards. the enhanced disclosure requirements are similar to those in mfrs 7, 
‘financial instruments: disclosures’, but apply to all assets and liabilities measured at fair value, not just 
financial ones.

• the revised mfrs 127, ‘separate financial statements’ (effective from 1 January 2013) includes the 
provisions on separate financial statements that are left after the control provisions of mfrs 127 have been 
included in the new mfrs 10.

• Amendment to mfrs 101, ‘presentation of items of other comprehensive income’ (effective from 1 July 
2012) requires entities to separate items presented in ‘other comprehensive income’ (‘oci’) in the 
statement of comprehensive income into two groups, based on whether or not they may be recycled 
income statement in the future. the amendments do not address which items are presented in oci.

• Amendment to mfrs 119, ‘employee Benefits’ (effective from 1 January 2013) makes significant changes 
to the recognition and measurement of defined benefit pension expense and termination benefits, and to 
the disclosures for all employee benefits. Actuarial gains and losses will no longer be deferred using the 
corridor approach. mfrs 119 shall be withdrawn on application of this amendment.

• Amendment to mfrs 7, ‘financial instruments: disclosures’ (effective from 1 January 2013) requires more 
extensive disclosures focusing on quantitative information about recognised financial instruments that are 
offset in the balance sheet and those that are subject to master netting or similar arrangements irrespective 
of whether they are offset.

(ii) Financial Year Beginning on/after 1 January 2014

• Amendment to mfrs 132, ‘financial instruments: presentation’ (effective from 1 January 2014) does not 
change the current offsetting model in mfrs 132. it clarifies the meaning of ‘currently has a legally 
enforceable right of set-off’ that the right of set-off must be available today (not contingent on a future 
event) and legally enforceable for all counterparties in the normal course of business. it clarifies that some 
gross settlement mechanisms with features that are effectively equivalent to net settlement will satisfy the 
mfrs 132 offsetting criteria.

(iii) Financial Year Beginning on/after 1 January 2015

• mfrs 9, ‘financial instruments – classification and measurement of financial Assets and financial liabilities’ 
(effective from 1 January 2015) replaces the multiple classification and measurement models in mfrs 139 
with a single model that has only two classification categories: amortised cost and fair value. the basis of 
classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual 
cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

 the accounting and presentation for financial liabilities and for de-recognising financial instruments has been 
relocated from mfrs 139, without change, except for financial liabilities that are designated at fair value 
through profit or loss (‘fvtpl’). entities with financial liabilities designated at fvtpl recognise changes in the 
fair value due to changes in the liability’s credit risk directly in oci. there is no subsequent recycling of the 
amounts in oci to income statement, but accumulated gains or losses may be transferred within equity.

BRITISH AMERICAN TOBACCO (MALAYSIA) BERHAD
annual report 2012

pg 140



A. Basis of Preparation (Cont’d.)

(iii) Financial Year Beginning on/after 1 January 2015 (cont’d.) 

the guidance in mfrs 139 on impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting continues to apply.

mfrs 7 requires disclosures on transition from mfrs 139 to mfrs 9.

 unless otherwise disclosed, the above standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations to existing 
standards are not anticipated to have any significant impact on the financial statements of the group and of the 
company in the year of initial application.

B. Basis of Consolidation

the consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the company and all its subsidiaries made 
up to the end of the financial year.

subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities) over which the group has the power to govern the 
financial and operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. 
the existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when 
assessing whether the group controls another entity.

inter-company transactions, balances, income and expenses on transactions between group companies are 
eliminated. profits and losses resulting from inter-company transactions that are recognised in assets are also 
eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the 
policies adopted by the group.

subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the group. they are 
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

the group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. the consideration transferred for 
the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners 
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the group. the consideration transferred includes the fair value 
of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. identifiable assets acquired and 
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at 
the acquisition date. the group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognised 
amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

C. Revenue Recognition

revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and services in 
the ordinary course of the group’s activities. revenue is shown net of goods and services tax, returns, rebates and 
discounts and after eliminating sales within the group.

the group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future 
economic benefits will flow to the entity. the group bases its estimates on historical results, taking into consideration 
the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.
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C. Revenue Recognition (Cont’d.)

revenue earned from the sale of the group’s products are recognised upon passing of title to the customer, which 
generally coincides with their delivery and acceptance and after eliminating sales within the group. revenue from 
sale of cigarettes, pipe tobaccos and cigars is presented at the invoiced value of goods sold, including all 
government duties and excluding sales taxes and trade discounts.

other revenue earned by the group and company are recognised on the following basis:

• interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis, taking into account the principal outstanding and the 
effective rate over the period to maturity, when it is determined that such income will accrue to the group.

• dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.
• revenue from services rendered is recognised as and when the services are performed.

D. Property, Plant and Equipment

property, plant and equipment are initially stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.  
the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment initially recognised includes its purchase price and any cost 
that is directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended by management.

subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the group and company 
and the costs of the item can be measured reliably. All repairs and maintenance are charged to the income 
statement during the financial year in which they are incurred.

freehold land is not depreciated as it has an indefinite life. leasehold land classified as finance lease is amortised 
in equal installments over the period of the respective leases that range from 15 to 45 years.

depreciation on capital work in progress commences when the assets are ready for their intended use. depreciation 
is provided to their residual values on all other property, plant and equipment on a straight line basis over their 
estimated useful lives, which are as follows:

leasehold land – 15 to 45 years
Buildings – 35 to 40 years
machinery and equipment – 10 to 14 years
furniture and fittings – various periods not exceeding 10 years
  (including computer equipment and peripherals)
motor vehicles – 5 years

small value items are fully depreciated in the year of purchase. in the year 2011, the group changed its depreciation 
policy for merchandising units from a three year straight line method to expensed immediately as incurred to align 
to the group accounting policies of the ultimate holding company.

residual values and useful lives of assets are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. if 
the residual value of an asset increases to an amount equal or greater than the asset’s carrying amount, the asset’s 
depreciation charge is nil unless and until its residual value subsequently decreases to an amount below the asset’s 
carrying amount.
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D. Property, Plant and Equipment (Cont’d.)

At each balance sheet date, the group assesses whether there is any indication of impairment. if such indications 
exist, an analysis is performed to assess whether the carrying amount of the asset is fully recoverable. A write down 
is made if the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. likewise, when the conditions for impairment no 
longer exist after considering indications from both external and internal sources, a writeback on the asset values 
will be performed. the impairment loss is charged to income statement unless it reverses a previous revaluation in 
which case it is charged to the revaluation surplus.

gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are included in the 
income statement.

E. Investment Property

investment properties, comprising principally of a building, are held for long term rental yields or for capital 
appreciation or both, and are not occupied by the group.

investment property is measured initially at its cost, including related transaction costs and borrowing costs if the 
investment property meets the definition of qualifying asset.

After initial recognition, investment property is stated at cost less any accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses. investment property is depreciated on the straight line basis to allocate the cost to their residual values over 
their estimated useful lives of 35 to 40 years.

subsequent expenditure is capitalised to the asset’s carrying amount only when it is probable that future economic 
benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 
All other repairs and maintenance costs are expensed when incurred. when part of an investment property is 
replaced, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.

investment property is derecognised either when it has been disposed of or when the investment property is 
permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal.

gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing net disposal proceeds with the carrying amount and 
are included in the income statement.

property is subject to impairment review whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. the impairment loss is charged to income statement unless it reverses a previous 
revaluation in which case it is charged to the revaluation surplus.
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F. Leases

A lease is an agreement whereby the lessor conveys to the lessee in return for a payment, or series of payments, 
the right to use an asset for an agreed period of time.

Accounting by Lessee

(i) Operating Leases

 leases of assets where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor 
are classified as operating leases. payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from 
the lessor) are charged to the income statement on the straight line basis over the lease period. initial direct 
costs incurred by the group in negotiating and arranging operating leases are recognised in income statement 
when incurred.

(ii) Finance Leases

 leases of property, plant and equipment where the group has substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership are classified as finance leases. finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s commencement at the 
lower of the fair value of the leased property and the present value of the minimum lease payments.

 each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate of 
interest on the remaining balance of the liability. the corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, 
are included in other long-term payables. the interest element of the finance cost is charged to income 
statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance 
of the liability for each period. the property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated 
over the shorter of the useful life of the asset and the lease term.

G. Assets Held for Sale

property, plant and equipment and investment property are classified as assets held for sale and stated at the lower 
of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell if their carrying amount is expected to be recovered principally 
through a sale transaction and sale is considered highly probable rather than through continuing use. these assets 
held for sale cease to be depreciated as their economic benefits are no longer consumed.

on disposal of an asset held for sale, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount 
is recognised in income statement in the period of the disposal.

if there are changes to a plan of sale, the asset held for sale will be reclassified as property, plant and equipment 
or investment property with its carrying amount at the lower of its carrying amount before the asset was classified 
as held for sale, adjusted for any depreciation that would have been recognised had the asset not been classified 
as held for sale and its recoverable amount at the date of the change to the plan of sale.
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H. Intangible Assets

i. Goodwill

 goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents the excess of the consideration transferred over 
the group’s interest in net fair value of the net identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the 
acquiree and the fair value of the non-controlling interest in the acquiree.

 for the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to each of 
the cash generating units (“cgus”), or groups of cgus, that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
combination. each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within 
the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. goodwill is monitored at the 
operating segment level.

 goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate a potential impairment. the carrying value of goodwill is compared to the recoverable amount, which 
is the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs to sell. Any subsequent increase in recoverable amount 
is recognised in the income statement unless it reverses an impairment loss on a revalued asset in which case 
it is taken to revaluation surplus reserve. impairment is recognised immediately as an expense and is not 
subsequently reversed.

ii. Computer Software

 costs that are directly associated with identifiable and unique computer software products controlled by the 
group, and that will probably generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year, and are not 
integral to other property, plant and equipment are recognised as intangible assets. these costs include the 
software development employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads. the computer 
software development costs recognised as assets are amortised upon completion of the computer software 
products on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives of three years.

 costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense when 
incurred.

I. Investments in Subsidiaries

 in the company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries is carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses.

 on disposal of investments in subsidiaries, the difference between disposal proceeds and the carrying amounts of 
the investments is recognised in income statement.

J. Inventories

 inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. cost is determined using the first in, first out 
method. the cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises design costs, raw materials, direct labour, other 
direct costs and related production overheads and gains/losses on qualifying cash flow hedges for purchases of raw 
materials. it excludes borrowing costs. net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of 
business, less the costs of completion and applicable variable selling expenses. costs of inventories include the 
transfer from equity of any gains/losses on qualifying cash flow hedges for purchases of raw materials.
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K. Receivables

 trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less provision for impairment. the provision for impairment is established when there is 
objective evidence that the group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of 
receivables. if collection is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), 
they are classified as current assets. if not, they are presented as non-current assets.

L. Cash and Cash Equivalents

 cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short term, highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. in the balance sheet, banks 
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities.

M. Employee Benefits

(i) Short Term Benefits

 wages, salaries, bonuses and other staff related expenses are recognised as an expense in the year in which 
the associated services are rendered by employees of the group. short term accumulating compensated 
absences such as paid annual leave are recognised when services are rendered by employees. A provision is 
made for the estimated liability for employee entitlements to annual leave up to the reporting date. short term 
non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave are recognised when the absences occur.

(ii) Defined Contribution Plan

 the group’s contributions to defined contribution plans are charged to income statement in the period to 
which they relate. once the contributions have been paid, the group has no further payment obligations. 
prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future 
payments is available.

(iii) Defined Benefit Plan

 the group operates a defined benefit plan for employees who joined the group prior to 1 January 2006, the 
assets of which are held in a separate trustee-administered fund. this fund is funded by payments from the 
relevant group companies. the group’s retirement benefit obligation is determined based on a biennial 
actuarial valuation (with annual updates) where the amount of the benefit that eligible employees have earned 
in return for their service in the current and prior years is estimated.

 the defined benefit liability recognised in the balance sheet is the present value of the defined benefit obligation 
at the end of the reporting period, less the fair value of plan assets, together with adjustments for unrecognised 
past service cost. the group determines the present value of the defined benefit obligation and the fair value 
of any plan assets with sufficient regularity such that the amounts recognised in the financial statements do not 
differ materially from the amounts that would be determined at the end of the reporting period.

 the defined benefit obligation, calculated using the projected unit credit method, is determined by independent 
actuaries, by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using market yields at the end of the reporting 
period on investment grade bonds which have currency and terms to maturity approximating the terms of 
the related liability.
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M. Employee Benefits (Cont’d.)

(iii) Defined Benefit Plan (cont’d.)

 Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are 
recognised in retained earnings in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. the actuarial 
gains and losses are not subsequently reclassified to income statement in subsequent period.

 past service costs are recognised immediately in income statement, unless the changes to the plan are 
conditional on the employees remaining in service for a specified period of time (the vesting period). in this 
case, the past service costs are amortised on a straight line basis over the vesting period.

(iv) Termination Benefits

 termination benefits are payable whenever an employee’s employment is terminated before the normal 
retirement date or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. the 
group recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either terminate the employment 
of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal or to provide 
termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more 
than 12 months after end of the reporting period are discounted to present value.

(v) Share-Based Payments

 A number of employees of the group participate in equity-settled share-based compensation plans offered by 
British American tobacco p.l.c (British American tobacco p.l.c indirectly through British American tobacco 
holdings (malaysia) B.v., owns fifty percent equity interest in the company and is deemed to be the 
company’s ultimate holding company).

 equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair value at the date of grant and are expensed off over 
the vesting period, based on British American tobacco p.l.c’s estimate of awards that will eventually vest. fair 
value is measured by the use of the Black-scholes and monte-carlo pricing models. the expected life used in 
the models has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, 
exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations, forfeiture and historical experience.

 the grant by British American tobacco p.l.c of options over its equity instruments to the employees of the 
group is treated as a capital contribution. the fair value of employee services received, measured by reference 
to the grant date fair value, is recognised over the vesting period as an expense in the income statement, 
with a corresponding credit to equity.

N. Payables

 payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business 
from suppliers. payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in 
the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). if not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.
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O. Provisions

provisions are recognised when:

(i) the group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
(ii) it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and
(iii) a reliable estimate of the amount can be made.

P. Deferred Income

 deferred income relates to distribution rights fee payable up front by third party distributors to the group for the right 
to distribute the groups’ products for a minimum contract period of five years. the distribution rights fee is recognised 
into the income statement over the five years contractual period on a straight line basis. deferred income are classified 
as current liabilities if they are earned within one year or less. if not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Q. Taxation

current tax expense is determined according to the tax laws of the jurisdiction in which the group operates and 
include all taxes based upon the taxable profits. tax expense is the aggregate amount included in the determination 
of profit for the period in respect of current tax and deferred tax. tax is recognised in the income statement, except 
to the extent it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. in this case the tax 
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

deferred tax assets and liabilities are provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. however, 
deferred tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than 
a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.  
the principal temporary differences arise from depreciation on property, plant and equipment, revaluations of certain 
non-current assets, provisions for pensions and other post retirement benefits, allowance for doubtful debts and tax 
losses and unutilised capital allowances. deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profits will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

deferred tax is determined using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and are 
expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax liability is settled.

deferred and income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to taxes levied by 
the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to 
settle the balances on a net basis.
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R. Foreign Currencies

(i) Functional and Presentation Currency

 the financial statements are presented in ringgit malaysia, which is the group’s and company’s functional 
and presentation currency.

(ii) Foreign Currency Transactions and Balances

 foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at 
the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are remeasured. foreign exchange gains and losses 
resulting from the rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in 
income statement, except when deferred in other comprehensive income as qualifying cash flow hedges and 
qualifying net investment hedges.

 foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are presented in 
the income statement within ‘finance income or cost’.

(iii) Foreign Entities

 Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated at closing rates for purposes of consolidation. income 
statement items are translated at average rates during the financial year and resulting exchange differences are 
dealt with in equity for the financial year.

(iv) Closing Rates

the principal closing rates used in translation of foreign currency amounts were as follows:

Foreign Currency 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

1 us dollar 3.0580 3.1700
1 pound sterling 4.9708 4.9265
1 euro 4.0317 4.1150

S. Financial Assets

(i) Classification

 the group classifies its financial assets in as loans and receivables. the classification depends on the purpose 
for which the financial assets were acquired. management determines the classification at initial recognition.

 Loans and Receivables

 loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. they are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months 
after the end of the reporting period. these are classified as non-current assets. the group’s loans and 
receivables comprise ‘receivables’ and ‘cash and bank balances’ in the balance sheet.

BRITISH AMERICAN TOBACCO (MALAYSIA) BERHAD
annual report 2012

pg 149
O

verview
Perform

ance
Leadership

G
overnance

G
row

th
Productivity

Resp
onsibility

W
inning O

rganisation
Financials

O
ther Inform

ation



S. Financial Assets (Cont’d.)

(ii) Recognition and Measurement

 regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade-date, the date on which the group 
commits to purchase or sell the asset.

 financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at 
fair value through profit or loss.

(iii) Subsequent Measurement – Impairment of Financial Assets

 Assets Carried at Amortised Cost

 the group assesses at the end of the reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset 
or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and 
impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more 
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) 
has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can 
be reliably estimated.

 the criteria that the group uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss include 
indications that the debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or 
delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganisation, and where observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future 
cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

 the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at 
the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. the asset’s carrying amount of the asset is reduced and the 
amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement. if ‘loans and receivables’ or a ‘held-to-maturity 
investment’ has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current 
effective interest rate determined under the contract. As a practical expedient, the group may measure 
impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair value using an observable market price.

 if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s 
credit rating), the reversal of the previously recognised impairment loss is recognised in the income statement.

 when an asset is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance account. such assets are written 
off after all the necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has been determined.

(iv) De-recognition

 financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or 
have been transferred and the group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.
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T. Offsetting Financial Instruments

financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the balance sheet when there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

U. Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 
carried at amortised cost; any difference between inital recognised amount and the redemption value is recognised 
in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method, except for 
borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying asset.

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that 
is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are recognised 
in income statement in the period in which they are incurred.

fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it 
is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. in this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down 
occurs. to the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the 
fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

V. Share Capital

ordinary shares are classified as equity.

W. Dividends

interim dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in which they are declared. final dividends are 
recognised in the period approval of members is obtained.

X. Segment Reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the group that is engaged in providing products or services within 
a particular economic environment. operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal 
reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker. the group regards its Board of directors as its chief 
operating decision maker, as the Board is responsible for allocating resources, assessing performance, and making 
strategic decisions.

the group is a single product business primarily engaged in the manufacture, importation and sale of cigarettes 
and other tobacco products and this forms the focus of the group’s internal reporting systems. while the group 
has clearly differentiated brands, segmentation within a wide portfolio of brands is not part of the regular internally 
reported financial information to the chief operating decision maker and it is not possible to segment the group 
results by brand without a high degree of estimation.
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Y. Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities

derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
re-measured at their fair value.

the method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging 
instrument, and the nature of the item being hedged. derivatives in the group that qualify for hedge accounting 
are designated as cash flow hedge.

the group documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between hedging instruments and 
hedged items, as well as its risk management objectives and strategy for undertaking various hedging transactions. 
the group also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the 
derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash 
flows of hedged items.

the fair values of various derivative instruments used for hedging purposes are disclosed in note 23. movements 
on the hedging reserve are shown in other comprehensive income. the full fair value of a hedging derivative is 
classified as a current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged item is less than 12 months.

Cash Flow Hedge

the effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualified as cash flow 
hedges is recognised in other comprehensive income. the gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is 
recognised immediately in income statement within ‘other gains/(losses) – net’.

Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified to the income statement in the periods when the hedged item 
affects the income statement. when the forecast transaction that is hedged results in the recognition of a non-
financial asset, the gains and losses previously deferred in equity are transferred from equity and included in the 
initial measurement of the cost of the asset. the deferred amounts are ultimately recognised in cost of goods sold 
in the case of inventories or in depreciation in the case of property, plant and equipment.

when a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, 
any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast 
transaction is ultimately recognised in the income statement. when a forecast transaction is no longer expected to 
occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is immediately transferred to the income statement 
within ‘other gains/(losses) – net’.
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1. General Information

the company provides day-to-day management and administrative services to its subsidiaries which are principally 
engaged in the manufacture, importation and sale of cigarettes, pipe tobaccos and cigars.

the company is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in malaysia, and listed on the main 
Board of Bursa malaysia securities Berhad.

the company deems British American tobacco p.l.c, which is incorporated in england and wales, to be its ultimate 
holding company.

the address of the registered office and principal place of business of the company is as follows:

virginia park, Jalan universiti
46200 petaling Jaya
selangor darul ehsan

2. Revenue

Group Company

Year ended
31.12.12
RM’000

Year ended
31.12.11
RM’000

Year ended
31.12.12
RM’000

Year ended
31.12.11
RM’000

sale of cigarettes, pipe tobaccos and cigars 4,364,786 4,127,245 – –
dividend income from unquoted subsidiaries – – 765,100 791,408
management fee received from subsidiaries – – 4,868 5,407
fee for usage of property, plant and
  equipment received from subsidiaries – – 3,542 6,017

  
 4,364,786 4,127,245 773,510 802,832

 

notes to the financial statements
As at 31 december 2012
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3. Profit from Operations

Group Company

Year ended
31.12.12
RM’000

Year ended
31.12.11
RM’000

Year ended
31.12.12
RM’000

Year ended
31.12.11
RM’000

profit from operations is arrived at:

After charging:

raw materials and consumables used 522,236 288,425 – –
excise payment 2,167,776 2,163,937 – –
Auditors’ remuneration:
– statutory audit 268 230 80 78
– audit related fees 125 76 125 76
property, plant and equipment:
– depreciation (note 9) 49,450 58,380 3,725 3,952
– loss on disposal 125 – 157 113
investment property
– depreciation (note 10) 4 76 – –
– loss on disposal – 122 – –
computer software
– amortisation (note 11) 2,554 1,899 2,554 1,899
impairment of asset 18,706 – – –
Amortisation of prepayment 1,200 – – –
rental of land and buildings 3,556 5,523 – –
inventories written off 2,608 2,132 – –
Bad debts written off 74 412 – –
net foreign exchange loss 5,694 1,432 252 –
staff costs (note 5) 118,034 165,392 26,462 31,100

 

And crediting:

property, plant and equipment:
– gain on disposal – 1,603 – –
recovery of impairment costs – 13,580 – –
reversal on provision for litigation 11,062 5,800 – –
interest income on loan to subsidiary – – – 5,040
interest income on deposits 7,110 10,425 1,955 4,174
net foreign exchange gain – – – 68
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4. Directors’ Remuneration

Group Company

Year ended
31.12.12
RM’000

Year ended
31.12.11
RM’000

Year ended
31.12.12
RM’000

Year ended
31.12.11
RM’000

fees 667 517 667 517
other emoluments 12,741 9,073 10,920 3,909

 
 13,408 9,590 11,587 4,426

the estimated monetary value of benefits in kind provided to directors of the group and company during the 
financial year amounted to rm3,368,077 (2011: rm3,175,271) and rm957,879 (2011: rm193,745) respectively.

share-based payments made to certain directors of the group and company (during their employment with the 
group) in the financial year are by way of their participation in employee share schemes (note 31) offered by 
British American tobacco p.l.c.

details of the movements of certain directors’ equity-settled share-based payment arrangements during the year 
ended 2012, covering the deferred share Bonus scheme and international share reward scheme are as follows, 
representing costs incurred by the group and company during the tenure of the directors’ service with the group 
and company.

Number of ordinary shares of 25p each in  
British American Tobacco p.l.c

At 1.1.12
Awarded in

2012
Vested in

2012
Other

movements* At 31.12.12

Executive Directors

deferred share Bonus scheme 23,001 8,834 (12,567) 5,631 24,899
international share 
  reward scheme 359 92 (168) – 283

 
 23,360 8,926 (12,735) 5,631 25,182

 

* other movements relate to changes due to movement of directors during the financial year.
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4. Directors’ Remuneration (Cont’d.)
details of the movements of the directors’ participation in the equity-settled long term incentive plan and share 
option scheme are as follows, representing costs incurred by the group and company during the tenure of the 
directors’ service with the group and company:

Number of options in ordinary shares of 25p each in  
British American Tobacco p.l.c

 Grant Price At 1.1.12
Granted in

2012
Exercised in

2012
Other

movements* At 31.12.12

£5.98 – – – – –
£8.09 10,856 – (10,856) – –
£10.37 9,244 – (9,244) – –
£14.34 8,642 – (8,642) – –
£15.41 8,517 – (8,517) – –
£19.03 2,500 – – – 2,500
£15.79 21,080 – (14,098) 5,443 12,425
£22.58 15,461 – – 3,870 19,331
£23.58 16,952 – – 4,377 21,329
£32.08 – 16,362 – – 16,362

 
 93,252 16,362 (51,357) 13,690 71,947

 

* other movements relate to changes due to movement of directors during the financial year.

5. Staff Costs

Group Company

Year ended
31.12.12
RM’000

Year ended
31.12.11
RM’000

Year ended
31.12.12
RM’000

Year ended
31.12.11
RM’000

wages, salaries and bonuses 85,002 120,054 22,423 23,816
defined contribution plan 19,146 27,073 3,470 3,432
voluntary redundancy package 681 12,349 – 288
other staff related expenses 13,205 5,916 569 3,564

 
 118,034 165,392 26,462 31,100

 

the group voluntarily provide additional 4.0 percent employees provident fund (epf) contributions over the 
statutory requirement for a significant number of existing employees who participate in a defined contribution 
scheme offered by the group.

included in staff costs is an amount for other emoluments as part of directors’ remuneration disclosed in note 4 
to the financial statements.

staff costs recharged by the company to the subsidiaries amounted to rm22,628,000 (2011: rm21,598,917).
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6. Tax Expense

the tax charge on the profit for the financial year consists of the following:

Group Company

Year ended
31.12.12
RM’000

Year ended
31.12.11
RM’000

Year ended
31.12.12
RM’000

Year ended
31.12.11
RM’000

in respect of current year

current tax
– malaysian income tax 262,742 242,984 751 1,403
– foreign tax 5 12 – –
deferred tax (note 14 (i)) (6,941) (4,871) (856) (330)

in respect of prior years

under/(over) provision in respect
  of prior years
– malaysian income tax 836 (1,472) – (39)
– foreign tax (5) – – –

 
 256,637 236,653 (105) 1,034

 

the average effective tax rates of the group and company are reconciled to the statutory tax rate as follows:

Group Company

Year ended
31.12.12
RM’000

Year ended
31.12.11
RM’000

Year ended
31.12.12
RM’000

Year ended
31.12.11
RM’000

statutory tax rate 25% 25% 25% 25%
expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1% 1% 1% 1%
utilisation of reinvestment allowances – -1% – –
income not subject to tax -2% – -26% -26%

 
Average effective tax rate 24% 25% – –
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7. Earnings Per Share

earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit for the financial year by the number of ordinary shares in issue.

Group

Year ended
31.12.12

Year ended
31.12.11

profit for the financial year (rm’000) 797,746 719,615
number of ordinary shares of 50 sen each in issue (‘000) 285,530 285,530
earnings per share (sen) 279.4 252.0

 

8. Dividends

dividends paid, declared or proposed in respect of the financial year are as follows:

Group and Company

Year ended 31.12.12 Year ended 31.12.11

Gross per
share

Net per
share

Amount of
dividend

Gross per
share

Net per
share 

Amount of
dividend

Sen Sen RM’000 Sen Sen RM’000

first interim dividend 65.0 65.0 185,594 60.0 60.0 171,318
second interim dividend 65.0 65.0 185,594 60.0 60.0 171,318
special dividend – – – 30.0 30.0 85,659
third interim dividend 65.0 65.0 185,595 60.0 60.0 171,318
fourth interim dividend 77.0 77.0 219,858 66.0 66.0 188,450

272.0 272.0 776,641 276.0 276.0 788,063

the first, second and third interim dividends are paid and accounted for in shareholders’ equity as an appropriation 
of retained earnings in the financial year they are declared.

the directors declared a fourth interim dividend of 77.0 sen per share at the Board of directors’ meeting on  
26 february 2013 amounting to rm219,858,100, in respect of the financial year ended 31 december 2012 which 
will be paid on 27 march 2013 to shareholders registered in the company’s register of members at the close of 
business on 14 march 2013. these financial statements do not reflect the fourth interim dividend which will be 
accounted for in the financial year ending 31 december 2013.

the directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend in respect of the financial year ended  
31 december 2012.
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9. Property, Plant and Equipment

Machinery Furniture Capital
Land and and and Motor Work In
Buildings Equipment Fittings Vehicles Progress Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Group

Net book value at
  1 January 2011 80,142 268,073 20,707 22,402 14,502 405,826

Additions 906 41,679 1,565 8,806 27,818 80,774
disposals (7) (1,587) (11,864) (4,898) – (18,356)
reversal of impairment – 13,580 – – – 13,580
reclassifications 66 14,877 11,424 – (26,367) –
depreciation charge (2,685) (33,478) (15,014) (7,203) – (58,380)
transfer from assets
  held for sale 888 – – – – 888

Net book value at
  31 December 2011 79,310 303,144 6,818 19,107 15,953 424,332

Additions 126 18,174 5,066 7,909 17,013 48,288
Disposals – – (142) (5,007) – (5,149)
Impairment – – (1,590) – – (1,590)
Depreciation charge (5,508) (33,017) (5,317) (5,608) – (49,450)
Transfer to assets
  held for sale (417) – – – – (417)

Net book value at
  31 December 2012 73,511 288,301 4,835 16,401 32,966 416,014

At 31 December 2011

cost/deemed cost 152,988 540,494 166,960 42,927 15,953 919,322
Accumulated depreciation
  and impairment (73,678) (237,350) (160,142) (23,820) – (494,990)

Net book value 79,310 303,144 6,818 19,107 15,953 424,332

At 31 December 2012

Cost/Deemed Cost 152,697 558,668 163,439 35,820 32,966 943,590
Accumulated depreciation
  and impairment (79,186) (270,367) (158,604) (19,419) – (527,576)

Net book value 73,511 288,301 4,835 16,401 32,966 416,014

BRITISH AMERICAN TOBACCO (MALAYSIA) BERHAD
annual report 2012

pg 159
O

verview
Perform

ance
Leadership

G
overnance

G
row

th
Productivity

Resp
onsibility

W
inning O

rganisation
Financials

O
ther Inform

ation



9. Property, Plant and Equipment (Cont’d.)

Machinery Furniture
Land and and and Motor
Buildings Equipment Fittings Vehicles Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Company

Net book value at
  1 January 2011 6,611 880 4,930 4,146 16,567
Additions – – 1,492 288 1,780
disposals – (60) (2) (374) (436)
depreciation charge (250) (56) (2,785) (861) (3,952)

Net book value at
  31 December 2011 6,361 764 3,635 3,199 13,959
Additions – – 4,865 – 4,865
Transfer from subsidiary – – – 230 230
Disposals – – (3) (262) (265)
Depreciation charge (255) (47) (2,761) (662) (3,725)

Net book value at
  31 December 2012 6,106 717 5,736 2,505 15,064

At 31 December 2011
cost/deemed cost 10,476 1,213 23,130 5,691 40,510
Accumulated depreciation (4,115) (449) (19,495) (2,492) (26,551)

Net book value 6,361 764 3,635 3,199 13,959

At 31 December 2012
Cost/Deemed cost 10,476 1,213 21,691 5,336 38,716
Accumulated depreciation (4,370) (496) (15,955) (2,831) (23,652)

Net book value 6,106 717 5,736 2,505 15,064
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9. Property, Plant and Equipment (Cont’d.)

Freehold
Land
Cost

RM’000

Leasehold
Land
Cost

RM’000

Buildings
Cost

RM’000

Total
Land and
Buildings

RM’000

Group

Net book value at 1 January 2011 105 18,337 61,700 80,142
Additions – – 906 906
reclassifications – – 66 66
depreciation charge – (368) (2,317) (2,685)
disposals – – (7) (7)
transfer from assets held for sale – – 888 888

 
Net book value at 31 December 2011 105 17,969 61,236 79,310
Additions – – 126 126
Depreciation charge – (368) (5,140) (5,508)
Transfer to assets held for sale – – (417) (417)

 
Net book value at 31 December 2012 105 17,601 55,805 73,511

 

At 31 December 2011
cost/deemed cost 105 27,521 125,362 152,988
Accumulated depreciation and impairment – (9,552) (64,126) (73,678)

 
Net book value 105 17,969 61,236 79,310

 

At 31 December 2012
Cost/Deemed cost 105 27,521 125,071 152,697
Accumulated depreciation
  and impairment – (9,920) (69,266) (79,186)

 
Net book value 105 17,601 55,805 73,511
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9. Property, Plant and Equipment (Cont’d.)

Freehold
Land
Cost

RM’000

Leasehold
Land
Cost

RM’000

Buildings
Cost

RM’000

Total
Land and
Buildings

RM’000

Company

Net book value at 1 January 2011 105 967 5,539 6,611
depreciation charge – (21) (229) (250)

 
Net book value at 31 December 2011 105 946 5,310 6,361
Depreciation charge – (21) (234) (255)

 
Net book value at 31 December 2012 105 925 5,076 6,106

 

At 31 December 2011
cost/deemed cost 105 1,435 8,936 10,476
Accumulated depreciation – (489) (3,626) (4,115)

 
Net book value 105 946 5,310 6,361

 

At 31 December 2012
Cost/Deemed cost 105 1,435 8,936 10,476
Accumulated depreciation – (510) (3,860) (4,370)

 
Net book value 105 925 5,076 6,106

 

10. Investment Property

Group

2012
RM’000

2011
RM’000

Net book value at 1 January 138 1,636
disposal – (1,422)
depreciation (4) (76)

 
Net book value at 31 December 134 138

 

Cost 162 162
Accumulated depreciation (28) (24)

 
Net book value 134 138

 

Fair value of investment property 134 138
 

the group’s property as at 31 december 2012 is a building at pasir puteh, kelantan.
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11. Computer Software

Group Company

2012
RM’000

2011
RM’000

2012
RM’000

2011
RM’000

Net book value at 1 January 4,742 4,336 4,742 4,336
Additions 613 2,305 613 2,305
Amortisation charge (2,554) (1,899) (2,554) (1,899)

 
Net book value at 31 December 2,801 4,742 2,801 4,742

 

Cost 36,844 36,231 36,844 36,231
Accumulated amortisation 
  and impairment (34,043) (31,489) (34,043) (31,489)

 
Net book value 2,801 4,742 2,801 4,742

 

12. Goodwill

Group

2012
RM’000

2011
RM’000

1.1.2011
RM’000

Carrying Amount at 31 December  411,618 411,618 411,618
 

goodwill arose from the acquisition of the business of malaysian tobacco company Berhad (mtc), which represents 
the cash generating units, and represents the excess of the fair value of the purchase consideration over the group’s 
share of the fair values of the net assets of the subsidiary companies (i.e. commercial marketers and distributors 
sdn. Bhd. (cmd) for the marketing business and tobacco Blenders and manufacturers sdn. Bhd. (tBm) for the 
tobacco manufacturing business) acquired on 2 november 1999, the date of acquisition.

the carrying amount of goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually. impairment is determined for goodwill by 
assessing the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the goodwill relates. the recoverable 
amount has been determined based on value-in-use calculations. the key assumptions for the recoverable amount 
of all units are management’s current estimates of net cash flows over a period of five years (2011: five years) 
based on historical growth rate, taking into account industry developments and at the discount rate of 9.1 percent 
(2011: 6.1 percent). no impairment charges were recognised in 2012 (2011: nil) and no significant difference in 
the recoverable amount is expected should the discounted cash flows change by 5.0 percent (2011: 5.0 percent).
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13. Subsidiaries

Group

2012
RM’000

2011
RM’000

1.1.2011
RM’000

unquoted investments, at cost 975,256 1,024,456 1,024,456
impairment losses (1,867) (2,067) (2,067)

 
 973,389 1,022,389 1,022,389

 

the reduction in the cost of investments in the subsidiaries is due to the capital reduction in ordinary shares owned 
by the group in the wholly-owned subsidiaries rothmans Brand sdn. Bhd. and commercial importers and 
distributors sdn. Bhd.

the subsidiaries, all of which are wholly-owned, are as follows:

Incorporated in Malaysia

operating

commercial importers and distributors sdn. Bhd.
commercial marketers and distributors sdn. Bhd.

rothmans Brands sdn. Bhd.
the leaf tobacco development corporation
  of malaya sdn. Berhad
tobacco importers and manufacturers sdn. Berhad

principal Activities

investment holding
marketing and importation of cigarettes, 
  pipe tobaccos and cigars
holding of trademarks
purchase of tobacco leaf on behalf of a subsidiary

manufacture and sale of cigarettes and other tobacco 
  related products

non-operating

contemporary force sdn. Bhd.
lucky strike originals sdn. Bhd.
tobacco Blenders and manufacturers sdn. Bhd.

principal Activities

dormant
dormant
dormant

Incorporated in Negara Brunei Darussalam
operating

commercial marketers and distributors sdn. Bhd.*

principal Activities

provision of advertising and promotional services

* the financial statements were not audited by pricewaterhousecoopers, malaysia.
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14. Deferred Tax

Group Company

2012 2011 1.1.2011 2012 2011 1.1.2011
Note RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Deferred tax assets
At 1 January 20,102 15,158 19,295 4,349 4,166 8,520
credited/(charged) to
  income statement 14(i) 895 4,944 (4,137) 856 330 (4,502)
(charged)/credited
  to statement of
  comprehensive income 14(ii) 92 – – 71 (147) 148

At 31 december 21,089 20,102 15,158 5,276 4,349 4,166

Represented by:
excess of depreciation
  over capital allowances 970 2,631 2,309 (1,899) 3,412 2,309
provisions and
  retirement benefit 20,090 17,471 12,849 7,175 936 1,709
cash flow hedge 29 – – – 1 148

21,089 20,102 15,158 5,276 4,349 4,166

Deferred tax liabilities
At 1 January 42,256 41,805 46,752 – – –
(credited)/charged to
  income statement 14(i) (6,046) 73 (578) – – –
charged/(credited) to
  statement of
  comprehensive income 14(ii) 307 378 (4,369) – – –

As at 31 december 36,517 42,256 41,805 – – _

Represented by:
excess of capital
  allowances over
  depreciation 41,235 44,333 42,171 – – –
provisions and
  retirement benefit (4,922) (1,997) 92
cash flow hedge 204 (80) (458) – – –

36,517 42,256 41,805 – – –
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14. Deferred Tax (Cont’d.)

the amounts above have been reconciled to the income statements and statements of changes in equity as follows:

Group Company

2012 2011 1.1.2011 2012 2011 1.1.2011
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

(i) (Credited)/Charged to
  income statement
(credited)/charged in respect of
  deferred tax assets (895) (4,944) 4,137 (856) (330) 4,502
(credited)/charged in respect of
  deferred tax liabilities (6,046) 73 (578) – – –

 net (credit)/charge to income
  statement (note 6) (6,941) (4,871) 3,559 (856) (330) 4,502

(ii) Charged/(credited) to statement 
  of comprehensive income

 charged/(credited) in respect of
   deferred tax liabilities & assets 215 378 (4,369) (71) 147 (148)

net charge/(credit) to statement of
  comprehensive income 215 378 (4,369) (71) 147 (148)

15. Loan to a Subsidiary

on 17 August 2009, the company issued a five-year rm80,000,000 unsecured loan to its subsidiary, commercial 
marketers and distributors sdn. Bhd. bearing interest of 6.3 percent per annum receivable semi-annually. the loan 
is receivable in a lump sum in 2014.

credit risk with respect to the loan to commercial marketers and distributors sdn. Bhd. is limited taking into 
account its financial position and historical results.

16. Assets Held for Sale

Group

2012
RM’000

2011
RM’000

At 1 January – 888
transfer from/(to) property, plant and equipment (note 9) 417 (888)

At 31 December 417 –

this financial year, property, plant and equipment transferred to asset held for sale relates to leasehold building.
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17. Inventories

Group

2012
RM’000

2011
RM’000

1.1.2011
RM’000

At cost
raw materials 182,960 108,188 82,895
work-in-progress 25,872 4,428 6,772
finished goods 96,508 75,030 99,484
consumable stores 6,877 5,313 4,421

 
 312,217 192,959 193,572

 

18. Receivables

Group Company

2012 2011 1.1.2011 2012 2011 1.1.2011
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

trade receivables 116,750 118,746 92,099 – – –
impairment for doubtful debts (4,551) (5,093) (3,095) – – –

trade receivables (net) 112,199 113,653 89,004 – – –
Amounts due from related 
  companies* 58,144 46,783 28,356 34,525 4,327 102,666
prepayments 24,285 42,882 59,865 162 1,754 1,493
other receivables 4,559 2,507 641 3,460 – –
deposits 1,213 1,100 1,623 273 271 342

200,400 206,925 179,489 38,420 6,352 104,501

credit terms of trade receivables range from 1 to 60 days (2011: 1 to 60 days).

* fellow subsidiaries through a common ultimate major shareholder, British American tobacco p.l.c.
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18. Receivables (Cont’d.)

As at 31 december 2012, trade receivables of rm55,602,000 (2011: rm74,515,000) were past due their contractual 
payment date but are considered to be recoverable. these relate to a number of external parties where there is 
no expectation of default. the age analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:

Group

2012
RM’000

2011
RM’000

past due within 1 month 54,628 48,820
past due more than 1 month but within 1 year 974 25,695

 
 55,602 74,515

 

movements of the allowance for doubtful debts during the year are as follows:

Group

2012
RM’000

2011
RM’000

At 1 January 5,093 3,095
provision for receivables impairment 2,040 1,998
receivables written off during the year 74 –
unused amounts reversed (2,656) –

 
At 31 December 4,551 5,093

 

As of 31 december 2012, the group trade receivables rm56,466,000 (2011: rm69,144,000) were impaired. the 
amount of provisions was rm4,551,000 (2011: rm5,903,000). the aging of these receivables is as follows:

Group

2012
RM’000

2011
RM’000

1 to 2 months 52,093 62,418
3 to 6 months 9 2,597
over 6 months 4,364 4,129

 
 56,466 69,144
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18. Receivables (Cont’d.)

the creation and release of provision for impaired receivables have been included in “distribution and marketing 
costs” in the income statement. the other classes within receivables do not contain impaired assets.

the group’s amounts due from related companies arose mainly from export sales which have a credit term of 60 
days (2011: 60 days) and prepayments for leaf purchases which are not subject to any terms of repayment. these 
amounts are unsecured and interest-free.

the company’s amounts due from related companies arose mainly from payments made on behalf of certain 
related companies. these amounts are unsecured, interest-free and not subject to any terms of repayment.

Amounts due from related companies of the group are mainly denominated in us dollars. All other receivables of 
the group and company are mainly denominated in ringgit malaysia.

Approximately 49.0 percent (2011: 48.0 percent) of the group’s trade receivables are derived from its sales to eight 
(2011: eight) of its key customers. the group closely monitors collections from these customers. in addition, the 
group’s historical experience in collection of trade receivables falls within the recorded allowances.

the maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the total carrying value of receivables disclosed above. 
the group does not hold any collateral as security.

19. Deposits, Cash and Bank Balances

Group Company

2012 2011 1.1.2011 2012 2011 1.1.2011
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

deposits with licensed banks – 289,606 275,020 – 140,000 210,000
cash and bank balances 78,391 17,041 81,603 21,826 5,866 48,517

78,391 306,647 356,623 21,826 145,866 258,517

Group Company

2012 2011 1.1.2011 2012 2011 1.1.2011
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

the currency exposure profile of 
deposits, cash and bank balances 
is as follows:

  – us dollar 52,048 28,297 6,533 298 5,432 487
  – pound sterling 2,982 5,652 – 193 266 –
  – Brunei dollar 4 359 5,983 – – –

55,034 34,308 12,516 491 5,698 487
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19. Deposits, Cash and Bank Balances (Cont’d.)

Group Company

2012 2011 1.1.2011 2012 2011 1.1.2011
% % % % % %

the weighted average interest
  rates of deposits with licensed 

banks that were effective during 
the year (per annum) 2.9% 2.8% 2.4% 2.9% 2.8% 2.6%

deposits of the group as at the balance sheet date have an average maturity period of 30 days (2011: 30 days).

20. Payables

Group Company

2012 2011 1.1.2011 2012 2011 1.1.2011
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

trade payables 167,444 155,584 119,407 – – –
trade accruals 17,996 19,575 18,428 – – –
Amounts due to subsidiaries – – – 560,623 276,369 491,012
Amounts due to related companies 51,628 70,772 18,783 3,842 393 –
other payables 80,760 115,364 157,590 26,298 42,596 35,086

317,828 361,295 314,208 590,763 319,358 526,098

the currency exposure profile of trade payables for currencies other than the group and company functional 
currency is as follows:

Group Company

2012 2011 1.1.2011 2012 2011 1.1.2011
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

us dollar 27,334 5,026 81 – – –
pound sterling 3,339 78 33 – – –
euro 18,198 3,353 5,435 – – –
others 5,818 432 68 – – –

54,689 8,889 5,617 – – –
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20. Payables (Cont’d.)

the currency exposure profile of amounts due to related companies is as follows:

Group Company

2012 2011 1.1.2011 2012 2011 1.1.2011
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

us dollar 15,002 19,467 91 – – –
pound sterling 3,892 49,980 37 – – –
others 32,677 1,325 62 – – –

51,571 70,772 190 – – –

All other amounts within payables are mostly denominated in ringgit malaysia.

credit terms of trade payables and suppliers of property, plant and equipment granted to the group vary from no 
credit to 120 days (2011: no credit to 120 days).

Amounts due to related companies are repayable within credit terms granted of 60 days (2011: 60 days), are 
unsecured and interest-free.

21. Deferred Income

 the group changed its distribution model from company-owned distribution to exclusive third party distributorship 
starting in 2011 by stages and this continued in the current financial year. distribution rights fee is payable up 
front by the distributors to the group in return for the rights granted to distribute the group’s products for a 
minimum contract period of five years. this income to the group is recognised over the five years period on a 
straight line basis.
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22. Borrowings (Interest Bearing)

(a) the group’s and company’s borrowings as at 31 december 2012 are as follows:

(i) rm250,000,000 five-year unsecured medium-term notes 2009/2014 with a coupon rate of 4.48 percent 
per annum, maturing on 15 August 2014 pursuant to an issuance programme of up to rm700 million 
nominal value medium-term notes (mtns programme).

(ii) rm250,000,000 revolving credit with tenure ranging from one week to one month.

(b) (i) maturity of the group and company borrowings is as follows:

Group Company

2012 2011 1.1.2011 2012 2011 1.1.2011
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Total borrowings
medium-term notes 250,000 650,000 650,000 250,000 650,000 650,000
revolving credit 250,000 – – – – –

maturity of borrowings:
within one year 250,000 400,000 – – 400,000 –
more than 1 year and less than 2 years 250,000 – 400,000 250,000 – 400,000
more than 2 years and less than 5 years – 250,000 250,000 – 250,000 250,000

 (ii) classification of the group and company borrowings is as follows:

Group Company

2012 2011 1.1.2011 2012 2011 1.1.2011
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Unsecured

Current
medium-term notes – 400,000 – – 400,000 –
revolving credit 250,000 – – – – –

Non current
medium-term notes 250,000 250,000 650,000 250,000 250,000 650,000

(c) the group and company’s borrowings are denominated in ringgit malaysia.

(d) the fair value of borrowings are detailed in note 30(b).
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23. Derivative Financial Instruments

Group Company

2012
Assets

RM’000

2012
Liabilities

RM’000

2012
Assets

RM’000

2012
Liabilities

RM’000

forward foreign exchange contracts 
  – cash flow hedges 2,287 2,670 – –

 

Group Company

2011
Assets

RM’000

2011
Liabilities

RM’000

2011
Assets

RM’000

2011
Liabilities

RM’000

forward foreign exchange contracts
  – cash flow hedges – 322 – 4

 

Group Company

1.1.2011
Assets

RM’000

1.1.2011
Liabilities

RM’000

1.1.2011
Assets

RM’000

1.1.2011
Liabilities

RM’000

forward foreign exchange contracts
  – cash flow hedges – 1,832 – 592

 

the fair values of derivative financial instruments are determined based on the quoted market price of similar 
derivatives, as they are not traded on an active market. these derivatives are classified as level 2 financial 
instruments in accordance with mfrs 7 classification hierarchy.

the ineffective portion recognised in the profit or loss that arises from cash flow hedges amounts to a loss of  
rm1,083,000 (2011: nil).

the group’s cash flow hedges are principally in respect of future payment for leaf, wrapping materials, machinery 
and services over the next 12 months. the company’s cash flow hedges are principally in respect of future 
payments of services over the next 12 months. the timing of expected cash flows in respect of derivatives 
designated as cash flow hedges is expected to be comparable to the timing of when the hedged item will affect 
the income statement, which are expected to occur at various dates during the next 12 months.

gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive income on forward foreign exchange contracts are recognised 
in the income statement in the period or periods during which the hedged forecast transaction affects the income 
statement. this is generally within 12 months from the end of the reporting period unless the gain or loss is 
included in the initial amount recognised for the purchase of fixed assets, in which case recognition is over the 
lifetime of the asset.
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23. Derivative Financial Instruments (Cont’d.)

the notional principal amounts of the outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts at 31 december 2012 were 
as follows:

Hedged item Currency to be paid
RM’000

equivalent
Average contracted

rate

2012
Group

future payment for leaf, wrapping 
materials, machinery and services over 
the next 12 months
usd  27,460,000
gBp  6,820,000
eur  3,125,000

us dollar
pound sterling

euro

83,370
34,133
12,540

1 usd = rm3.0361
1 gBp = rm5.0048
1 eur = rm4.0128

2011
Group

future payment for leaf, wrapping 
materials, machinery and services over 
the next 12 months
usd  8,330,000
gBp  5,750,000
eur  4,460,000

us dollar
pound sterling

euro

25,693
28,372
19,312

1 usd = rm3.0844
1 gBp = rm4.9342
1 eur = rm4.3302

Company

future payment for services over the 
next 12 months
gBp 150,000 pound sterling 739 1 gBp = rm4.9248

1.1.2011
Group

future payment for leaf, wrapping 
materials, machinery and services over 
the next 12 months
usd 9,000,000
gBp 6,250,000
eur 7,290,000

us dollar
pound sterling

euro

28,993
30,706
30,027

1 usd = rm3.2215
1 gBp = rm4.9130
1 eur = rm4.1189

Company

future payment for services over the 
next 12 months
gBp 6,250,000 pound sterling 30,706 1 gBp = rm4.9130
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24. Share Capital

Group and Company

2012
RM’000

2011
RM’000

1.1.2011
RM’000

Authorised
770,000,000 ordinary shares of 50 sen each 385,000 385,000 385,000

 

Issued and fully paid
285,530,000 ordinary shares of 50 sen each 142,765 142,765 142,765

 

25. Post Employment Benefit Obligations

Defined Benefit Plan

the group operates a defined benefit plan for its eligible employees in malaysia (who joined the group prior to  
1 January 2006), the assets of which are held in a separate trustee administered fund. the company and certain 
subsidiaries in the group make contributions to the British American tobacco malaysia retirement scheme, a tax 
approved fund independent of the group.

the defined benefit plan is valued by an independent actuary using the projected unit credit method. the latest 
actuarial valuation that was conducted on 31 december 2012 showed that the value of the net assets held in the 
fund together with the book provisions in the group’s financial statements, adequately met the actuarial liabilities 
arising from the defined benefit plan as at 31 december 2012.

the amounts recognised in the balance sheet are determined as follows:

Group Company

2012 2011 1.1.2011 2012 2011 1.1.2011
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

present value of defined
  benefit obligations 12,085 11,487 10,882 6,129 5,889 5,972
fair value of plan assets (6,970) (6,976) (6,765) (3,336) (3,565) (3,618)

net liability 5,115 4,511 4,117 2,793 2,324 2,354

Analysed as:
  non-current 5,115 4,511 4,117 2,793 2,324 2,354

5,115 4,511 4,117 2,793 2,324 2,354
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25. Post Employment Benefit Obligations (Cont’d.)

Defined Benefit Plan (cont’d.)

the amounts recognised in the income statement under other operating expenses are as follows:

Group Company

Year ended
31.12.12
RM’000

Year ended
31.12.11
RM’000

Year ended
31.12.12
RM’000

Year ended
31.12.11
RM’000

current service cost (615) (629) (259) (295)
interest cost (538) (692) (208) (382)
expected return on plan assets 134 196 34 106

 
total, included within staff cost (1,019) (1,125) (433) (571)

 

movements in defined benefit obligations were as follows:

Group Company

2012
RM’000

2011
RM’000

2012
RM’000

2011
RM’000

At 1 January 4,511 4,117 2,324 2,354
charge for the year 1,019 1,125 433 571
contributions paid (574) (587) (251) (264)
Benefits paid – (85) – –
Actuarial loss/(gain) recognised 159 (59) 287 (337)

 
At 31 december 5,115 4,511 2,793 2,324
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25. Post Employment Benefit Obligations (Cont’d.)

Defined Benefit Plan (cont’d.)

changes in the present value of defined benefit obligations were as follows:

Group Company

2012
RM’000

2011
RM’000

2012
RM’000

2011
RM’000

At 1 January 11,487 10,882 5,889 5,972
service cost 615 629 259 295
interest cost 538 692 208 382
Benefits paid (746) (648) (622) (216)
liability transferred to subsidiary – – 99 (201)
Actuarial loss due to assumption change – 287 – 93
Actuarial loss/(gain) due to actual experience 191 (355) 296 (436)

 
At 31 december 12,085 11,487 6,129 5,889

 

defined benefit obligations expected to
  be payable in the next year 6,604 5,036 5,267 4,842

 

changes in the fair value of plan assets were as follows:

Group Company

2012 2011 1.1.2011 2012 2011 1.1.2011
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

At 1 January 6,976 6,765 6,213 3,565 3,618 1,444
expected return on plan assets 134 196 143 34 106 41
contributions by employer 574 587 646 251 264 263
Benefits paid (746) (563) (233) (622) (216) (209)
Assets transferred from/(to)  

a subsidiary – – – 99 (201) 2,080
Actuarial gain/(loss) on plan assets 32 (9) (4) 9 (6) (1)

At 31 december 6,970 6,976 6,765 3,336 3,565 3,618

contribution payable  
in the next year 565 596 631 234 255 298
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25. Post Employment Benefit Obligations (Cont’d.)

Defined Benefit Plan (cont’d.)

the developments of actuarial gains and losses as at 31 december were as follows:

Group Company

2012 2011 1.1.2011 2012 2011 1.1.2011
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Actuarial loss/(gain)  
from prior year 539 598 508 (35) 302 271

Actuarial loss/(gain)  
recognised in year 159 (59) 90 287 (337) 31

cumulative actuarial loss 
recognised 698 539 598 252 (35) 302

the actual return on plan assets is rm166,000 (2011: rm187,000).

principal actuarial assumptions used at the balance sheet date in respect of the group’s and the company’s defined 
benefit plan were as follows:

2012 2011 1.1.2011
% % %

discount rate 6.0 6.0 6.5
expected return on plan assets 3.0 3.0 3.0
expected rate of salary increases 6.0 6.0 6.0

the expected rate of return on scheme assets in 2012 is derived from an investment allocation of 20.0 percent 
into malaysian government bonds, and 80.0 percent into money market instruments yielding annual rates of 
investment returns of 3.2 percent and 3.1 percent respectively.
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26. Cash from Operations

Group Company

Year ended
31.12.12
RM’000

Year ended
31.12.11
RM’000

Year ended
31.12.12
RM’000

Year ended
31.12.11
RM’000

profit for the financial year 797,746 719,615 732,346 774,244

Adjustments for:

  defined benefit plan charge (note 25) 1,019 1,125 433 571
  interest income (7,110) (10,425) (1,955) (9,214)
  property, plant and equipment
    – depreciation 49,450 58,380 3,725 3,952
    – recovery of impairment – (13,580) – –
    – loss/(gain) on disposal 125 (1,603) 157 113
  investment property
    – depreciation 4 76 – –
    – loss on disposal – 122 – –
  computer software
    – amortisation 2,554 1,899 2,554 1,899
  impairment of asset 18,706 – – –
  Amortisation of prepayment 1,200 – – –
  Bad debts written off 74 412 – –
  (writeback)/allowance for doubtful debts (616) 1,998 – –
  inventories written off 2,608 2,132 – –
  reversal for litigation (11,062) (5,800) – –
  interest expense 25,512 27,400 26,222 27,400
  tax expense/(credit) 256,637 236,653 (105) 1,034
  changes in working capital:
    – inventories (121,866) (1,519) – –
    – receivables 6,881 (29,922) (35,437) 103,091
    – payables (42,658) 61,744 4,590 (104,751)

 
  cash from operations 979,204 1,048,707 732,530 798,339
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27. Capital Commitments

capital expenditure not provided for in the financial statements are as follows:

Group Company

2012
RM’000

2011
RM’000

2012
RM’000

2011
RM’000

property, plant and equipment:
– Authorised and contracted for – 13,373 – –
– Authorised but not contracted for 20 432 – 432

 
 20 13,805 – 432

 

28. Significant Related Party Disclosures

in addition to related party disclosures mentioned elsewhere in the financial statements, set out below are other 
significant related party transactions.

the group’s and company’s transactions are with member corporations of British American tobacco p.l.c (British 
American tobacco p.l.c indirectly through British American tobacco holdings (malaysia) B.v., owns 50.0 percent 
equity interest in the company and is deemed to be the company’s ultimate holding company).

(a) Group’s Transactions

Group

Year ended
31.12.12
RM’000

Year ended
31.12.11
RM’000

(i) Sale of Goods
 sale of cigarettes and tobacco products to:

 – British-American tobacco company (hk) ltd. 5,265 4,255
 – rothmans far east B.v. 7,405 9,812
 – British American tobacco marketing (singapore) pte. ltd. 85,228 69,082
 – B.A.t. china ltd. 909 1,062
 – British American tobacco international ltd. 53,074 18,107
 – British American tobacco korea manufacturing co. ltd. 4,542 14,965
 – india tobacco company ltd. 1,911 1,817
 – British American tobacco taiwan logistics ltd. 2,933 –
 – rothmans far east Japan (a division of rothmans far east B.v.) 475 –
 – British American tobacco Japan ltd. 87,589 –
 – British American tobacco (new Zealand) ltd. 2,257 –
 – British American tobacco (Australia) ltd. 89,201 –
 – British American tobacco papua new guinea 14,178 –
 – soloman islands tobacco 4,929 –
 – British American tobacco phillipines ltd. 1,915 –

 
  361,811 119,100
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28. Significant Related Party Disclosures (Cont’d.)

(a) Group’s Transactions (cont’d.)

Group

Year ended
31.12.12
RM’000

Year ended
31.12.11
RM’000

(ii) Purchase of Goods
 purchase of leaf, cigarette packaging and wrapping materials
   and tobacco products from:

 – British American tobacco marketing (singapore) pte. ltd. 138,142 82
 – British American tobacco (germany) gmbh – 7
 – B.A.t (glp) ltd. 194,373 66,800
 – pt export leaf indonesia 47,400 47,914
 – B.A.t. (u.k. & export) ltd. 356 2,151
 – BAt supply chain we ltd. 2,527 –
 – British American tobacco (Australia) ltd. 11,537 –
 – British American tobacco international ltd. 232 296
 – BAt theodorus niemeyer B.v. 791 1,462
 – British American tobacco korea manufacturing co. ltd. 61 –

 
  395,419 118,712

 

(iii) Procurement of Services
 procurement of information technology services from:

 – British American shared services ltd. 29,735 15,353
 – BAt gsd (kl) sdn. Bhd. 542 –

 
  30,277 15,353

 

(iv) Technical and Advisory  
(includes share based payment charges)

 payment of fees for technical and advisory support services to:

 – British American tobacco (investments) ltd. 42,440 53,950
 – British American tobacco international ltd. – 1,552
 – British American tobacco AspAc service centre sdn. Bhd. 11,391 9,472
 – British American tobacco (singapore) pte. ltd. 474 425
 – British American tobacco Asia pacific region ltd. 2,237 4,303
 – British American tobacco (holdings) ltd. 5,029 –
 – British American tobacco marketing (singapore) pte ltd. 8,562 –
 – BAt Asia pacific 203 –

 
  70,336 69,702
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28. Significant Related Party Disclosures (Cont’d.)

(a) Group’s Transactions (cont’d.)

Group

Year ended
31.12.12
RM’000

Year ended
31.12.11
RM’000

(v) Royalties
 royalties paid/payable to:

 – dunhill tobacco of london ltd.* 91,043 88,729
 – Benson & hedges (overseas) limited* 3,176 4,583
 – British American tobacco (investments) inc. – 7,168
 – the American-cigarette company (overseas) ltd.** 4,187 4,259
 – st. regis tobacco corporation ltd.** 188 289
 – the house of edgeworth inc. 6,436 –

 
  105,030 105,028

 

(vi) Sale and Purchase of Equipment
 (sale)/purchase of equipment (to)/from:

 – British American tobacco Australasia limited – 1,294
 – British American tobacco denmark – 115
 – B.A.t. mexico, s.A. de c.v. 1,555 (11,425)
 – British American tobacco tuntun mamulleri sanayi 
     ve ticaret Anonim sirketi – 19,424
 – British American tobacco korea (5,467) –
 – British American tobacco (singapore) pte. ltd. 488 –

 
  (3,424) 9,408
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28. Significant Related Party Disclosures (Cont’d.)

(a) Group’s Transactions (cont’d.)

Group

Year ended
31.12.12
RM’000

Year ended
31.12.11
RM’000

(vii) Provision of Technical and Advisory Support Services to:
 – B.A.t china ltd. 79 95
 – British American tobacco – vinataba (Jv) ltd. 26 42
 – British-American tobacco company (hk) ltd. 120 114
 – British American tobacco cambodia ltd. 48 48
 – British American tobacco services limited, taiwan Branch – 89
 – rothmans of pall mall myanmar pte. ltd. – 128
 – British American tobacco (vietnam) ltd. 108 1,107
 – British American tobacco (singapore) pte. ltd. 1,293 3
 – British American tobacco marketing (singapore) pte. ltd. 830 826
 – British American tobacco Japan, ltd. 35 54
 – British American tobacco (thailand) ltd. – 1
 – ceylon tobacco company ltd. 3 5
 – British American tobacco (png) limited – 240
 – British American tobacco AspAc service centre sdn. Bhd. 85 –
 – British American tobacco Bangladesh company ltd. – 18
 – British American tobacco international ltd. 10 69
 – British American tobacco services limited, taiwan Branch 59 –
 – British American tobacco (new Zealand) ltd. 17 –
 – British American tobacco papua new guinea 5 –

 
  2,718 2,839

* payments in respect of royalty agreements with these entities were made to B.A.t. (u.k. & export) ltd.

** payments in respect of royalty agreements with these entities were made to B.A.t. (Brands) inc. 
(previously made to British American tobacco international holdings (switzerland) ltd., Zug.)
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28. Significant Related Party Disclosures (Cont’d.)

(b) Company’s Transactions

Company

Year ended
31.12.12
RM’000

Year ended
31.12.11
RM’000

(i) Management Fee
 management fee received from:

 – commercial marketers and distributors sdn. Bhd. 4,327 4,880
 – tobacco importers and manufacturers sdn. Bhd. 541 527

 
  4,868 5,407

 

(ii) Fee for Usage of Property, Plant and Equipment:
 fee for usage of property, plant and equipment received from:

 – commercial marketers and distributors sdn. Bhd. 2,428 5,158
 – tobacco importers and manufacturers sdn. Bhd. 1,114 859

 
  3,542 6,017

 

(iii) Procurement of Services*
 procurement of information technology services from:

 – British American shared services ltd. 29,735 15,353
 – B.A.t. (u.k. & export) ltd. 542 –

 
  30,277 15,353

 

(iv) Technical and Advisory
   (includes shared based payment charges)*
 payment of fees for technical and advisory support services to:

 – British American tobacco (investments) ltd. 42,440 53,950
 – British American tobacco international ltd. – 1,552
 – British American tobacco AspAc service centre sdn. Bhd. 11,391 9,472
 – British American tobacco (singapore) pte. ltd. 474 425
 – British American tobacco Asia pacific region ltd. 2,237 4,303

 
  56,542 69,702

 

(v) Interest Income
 interest income from loan to a subsidiary:

 – commercial marketers and distributors sdn. Bhd. 5,040 5,040
 

* these costs have been fully re-charged to certain subsidiaries during the year.
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28. Significant Related Party Disclosures (Cont’d.)

key management personnel of the group and company are the directors of which their compensation has been 
disclosed in note 4 of the financial statements.

the above transactions have been entered into on terms and conditions that were negotiated among the related 
parties.

29. Segment Reporting

the company is domiciled in malaysia. the revenue from external customers in malaysia is rm3,905,451,000 
(2011: rm3,898,534,000), and the total revenue from external customers and related companies from other 
countries is rm459,334,000 (2011: rm228,711,000). the group does not have any non-current assets that are 
located in countries other than malaysia. there are also no revenue arising from transactions with a single external 
customer that comprises 10.0 percent or more of the group’s revenue for the years ended 31 december 2012 and  
31 december 2011.

segment analysis has not been prepared as the group is a single product business primarily engaged in the 
manufacture, importation and sale of cigarettes and other tobacco products and this forms the focus of the group’s 
internal reporting systems. while the group has clearly differentiated brands, segmentation within a wide portfolio 
of brands is not part of the regular internally reported financial information to the chief operational decision maker 
and it is not possible to segment the group results by brand without a high degree of estimation.

30. Financial Risk Management

(a) Financial Risk Factors

the group and company are exposed to financial risks arising from its business activities; mainly interest rate 
risks, price risk, currency exchange risks, credit risks and liquidity and cash flow risks. these risks are managed 
by the group at group level.

straightforward derivative financial instruments are utilised by the group to lower funding costs, to alter interest 
rate exposures or to achieve greater certainty of future costs. these instruments are entered into in accordance 
with objectives and policies approved by the Board of directors that expressly forbid speculative transactions.

the policy restricts the use of derivative instruments to forward foreign exchange contracts, foreign currency 
and interest rate swaps, forward rate agreements, currency options and caps. in addition to policies, guidelines 
and exposure limits, a system of delegated authority limits and extensive independent reporting covers all 
major areas of the group’s treasury activities.

(i) Interest Rate Risk Management

 the objectives of the group’s interest rate risk management policy are to lessen the impact of adverse 
interest rate movements on earnings, cash flow and economic value of the group. As at the balance sheet 
date, there were no open interest rate swap contracts. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the group 
to fair value interest rate risk. the group has both fixed and floating rate borrowings as disclosed in note 
22, and a possible 10.0 percent increase or decrease in interest rates on deposits will not result in any 
significant change in the group’s pre-tax profit.
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30. Financial Risk Management (Cont’d.)

(a) Financial Risk Factors (cont’d.)

(ii) Currency Exchange Risk Management

 the group is subject to exposures to currency exchange risk as a result of its purchases of certain raw 
materials, equipment and services in foreign currencies. the group’s primary currency exchange risk 
exposures are to the us dollar, euro and British pound. the currency profile of the assets and liabilities 
of the group are disclosed in the respective notes to the financial statements.

 the objectives of the group’s foreign exchange policies are to allow the group to manage exposures that 
arise from trading activities effectively within a framework of controls that does not expose the group to 
unnecessary foreign exchange risks. the group enters into forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge 
50 percent – 95 percent of its exposure on foreign currency sales and payables and on cash flows to be 
used in anticipated transactions denominated in foreign currencies for the subsequent 12 months.

 the group considers a 10 percent strengthening or weakening of the functional currency against non-
functional currencies as a reasonably possible change. the impact is calculated with reference to the financial 
asset or liability held as at the year end. A 10 percent increase or decrease of functional currency against 
non-functional currencies would not result in significant changes in the group’s pre-tax profit.

(iii) Price Risk Management

 the group is exposed to price risk relating to leaf purchases, which are included in raw materials disclosed 
in note 17. the group reviews sourcing strategies as and when required, to manage any adverse exposures.

 the group considers a 10 percent change in prices of leaf purchases a possible change. the impact is 
calculated with reference to the leaf purchases made during the year held as at the year end, unless this 
is unrepresentative of the position during the year. A 10 percent increase or decrease in leaf purchases 
would not result in significant changes in pre-tax profit.

 the group operates under increasingly stringent regulatory regimes in accordance with the relevant 
regulations governing sale and manufacture of tobacco products. such regulations are developed and 
driven by the framework convention of tobacco control. the overall trend of high and increasing levels 
of excise and taxes, including introduction of new taxes could impact the volumes of the legal industry 
whilst fuelling illicit trade. the group has in place strategies to ensure that regulations developed on 
governing tobacco products are sensible and enforceable, as well as contingency plans to manage the 
impact of significant excise changes.

(iv) Credit Risk Management

 credit risks, or the risk of counterparties defaulting, are controlled by the application of credit approvals, 
setting of counterparty limits and monitoring procedures. the group seeks to invest cash assets safely and 
profitably. credit risks are minimised given the group’s policy of selecting only counterparties with high 
creditworthiness.

 Approximately 49 percent of the group’s trade receivables are derived from its sales to eight of its key 
customers. the group closely monitors collections from these customers. in addition, the group’s historical 
experience in collection of trade receivables falls within the recorded allowances. due to these factors, 
management believes that no additional credit risk beyond amounts allowed for collection losses is 
inherent in the group’s trade receivables.

 the age analysis of trade receivables is disclosed in note 18.
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30. Financial Risk Management (Cont’d.)

(a) Financial Risk Factors (cont’d.)

(v) Liquidity and Cash Flow Risks

 the group actively manages its debt maturity profile, operating cash flows and the availability of funding 
so as to ensure that all refinancing, repayment and finding needs are met. As part of its overall prudent 
liquidity management, the group maintains sufficient levels of cash or cash convertible investments to 
meet its working capital requirements. in addition, the group strives to maintain available banking facilities 
of a reasonable level to its overall debt position. As far as possible, the group raises committed funding 
from both capital markets and financial institutions so as to achieve overall cost effectiveness.

the table below summarises the maturity profile of the group’s and the company’s liabilities based on 
contractual undiscounted repayment obligations.

Group Company

2012
RM’000

2011
RM’000

2012
RM’000

2011
RM’000

maturity of borrowings:
within 1 year 250,280 416,200 – 416,200
more than 1 year 
  and less than 2 years 268,165 – 268,165 –
more than 2 years
  and less than 5 years – 283,600 – 283,600

 

payables within 1 year 317,828 361,295 590,763 319,358
 

derivative financial instruments
  within 1 year 383 322 – 4

 

(b) Fair Value Estimation

the fair value measurement hierarchy for financial instruments stated in the balance sheets are as follows:

• level 1: Quoted price (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
• level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset and 

liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices).
• level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable 

inputs).

the group measures its forward foreign exchange contracts (cash flow hedges) at fair values, as disclosed in 
note 23. the fair values of forward foreign exchange contracts are determined based on the quoted market 
price of similar derivatives, as they are not traded on an active market. these derivatives are classified as level 
2 financial instruments in accordance with mfrs 7 classification hierarchy.
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30. Financial Risk Management (Cont’d.)

(b) Fair Value Estimation (cont’d.)

the carrying amounts of and fair values of the group’s borrowings are as follows:

Group Company

Carrying
Amount
RM’000

Fair
Value

RM’000

Carrying
Amount
RM’000

Fair
Value

RM’000

At 31 December 2012

current borrowings
  rm250 million revolving credit 250,000 250,000 – –

non current borrowings
  rm250 million mtns 250,000 254,075 250,000 254,075

At 31 December 2011

non current borrowings
  rm400 million mtns 400,000 402,240 400,000 402,240
  rm250 million mtns 250,000 255,550 250,000 255,550

the group measures the fair values of its borrowings based on observable yield curves.

(c) Capital Management

the group defines capital as net debt and equity.

the group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an 
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

the group assesses its financial capacity by reference to cash flow and interest cover. group policies include 
a set of financing principles including the monitoring of credit ratings, interest cover and liquidity. these 
provide a framework within which the group’s capital base is managed and, in particular, the policies on 
dividends (as a percentage of long-term sustainable earnings) and share buy-back are decided.
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31. Share-Based Payments

the group operates a number of share-based payment arrangements of which the two principal ones are:

Long-Term Incentive plan (LTIP)

nil-cost options exercisable after three years from date of grant with a contractual life of 10 years. payout is subject 
to performance conditions based on earnings per share relative to inflation (50 percent of grant) and total 
shareholder return, combining the share price and dividend performance of the company by reference to two 
comparator groups (50 percent of grant). participants are not entitled to dividends prior to the exercise of the 
options. A cash equivalent dividend accrues through the vesting period and is paid on vesting. Both equity and 
cash-settled ltips are granted in march each year. in 2012, the management board ltip award was made in 
march.

Deferred Share Bonus Scheme (DSBS)

free ordinary shares released three years from date of grant and may be subject to forfeit if participant leaves 
employment before the end of the three year holding period. participants receive a separate payment equivalent 
to a proportion of the dividend payment during the holding period. Both equity and cash-settled grants are granted 
in march each year.

the group also has a number of other arrangements which are not material for the group and these are as follows:

Share Option Scheme (ESOS)

options exercisable three years from date of grant with a contractual life of ten years, subject to earnings per share 
performance condition relative to inflation. participants are not entitled to receive dividends in the period prior to 
the exercise of the options. the granting of options under this scheme ceased with the last grant made in march 
2004 and final outstanding awards must be exercised by march 2014. the awards were both equity and cash-settled.

Share Reward Scheme (SRS) and International Share Reward Scheme (ISRS)

free shares granted in April each year (maximum £3,000 in any year) under the equity-settled scheme are subject 
to a three year holding period. participants receive dividends during the holding period which are reinvested to 
buy further shares.
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31. Share-Based Payments (Cont’d.)

Share-Based Payment Expense

the amounts recognised in the income statement in respect of share-based payments were as follows:

Group

2012
Equity-

settled in
RM’000

2011
Equity-

settled in
RM’000

ltip (note a) 2,120 1,613
dsBs (note b) 2,971 2,802
other schemes (note c) 44 24

 

total recognised in the income statement 5,135 4,439
 

Company

2012
Equity-

settled in
RM’000

2011
Equity-

settled in
RM’000

ltip (note a) 1,654 1,313
dsBs (note b) 1,848 1,866
other schemes (note c) 30 14

 

total recognised in the income statement 3,532 3,193
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31. Share-Based Payments (Cont’d.)

(a) Long-Term Incentive Plan

details of the movements for the equity and cash-settled ltip scheme during the years ended 31 december 
2012 and 31 december 2011, were as follows:

Group

2012
Equity-Settled 

Number of
options in thousands

2011
Equity-Settled 

Number of
 options in thousands

outstanding at start of year 104 129
granted during the period 22 30
exercised during the period (19) (48)
forfeited during the period (2) (7)
 
outstanding at end of year 105 104
 
exercisable at end of year 31 11

 

the weighted average British American tobacco p.l.c share price at the date of exercise for share options 
exercised during the period was £31.78 (2011: £25.60) for equity-settled options.

the outstanding shares for the year ended 31 december 2012 had a weighted average contractual life of 7.5 
years (2011: 7.7 years) for the equity-settled scheme.

Company

2012
Equity-Settled 

Number of
 options in thousands

2011
Equity-Settled 

Number of
 options in thousands

outstanding at start of year 75 74
granted during the period 17 25
exercised during the period (10) (24)
forfeited during the period (2) –

 
outstanding at end of year 80 75

 
exercisable at end of year 21 –

 

the weighted average British American tobacco p.l.c share price at the date of exercise for share options 
exercised during the period was £31.81 (2011: £24.15) for equity-settled options.

the outstanding shares for the year ended 31 december 2012 had a weighted average contractual life of 7.6 
years (2011: 8.1 years) for the equity-settled scheme.
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31. Share-Based Payments (Cont’d.)

(b) Deferred Share Bonus Scheme

details of the movements for the equity and cash-settled dsBs scheme during the years ended 31 december 
2012 and 31 december 2011, were as follows:

Group

2012
Equity-Settled 

Number of
 options in thousands

2011
Equity-Settled 

Number of
 options in thousands

outstanding at start of year 67 67
granted during the period 21 28
exercised during the period (30) (26)
forfeited during the period – (2)

 
outstanding at end of year 58 67

 

exercisable at end of year 1 –
 

the weighted average British American tobacco p.l.c share price at the date of exercise for share options 
exercised during the period was £32.05 (2011: £24.52) for equity-settled options.

the outstanding shares for the year ended 31 december 2012 had a weighted average contractual life of 1.4 
years (2011: 1.2 years) for the equity-settled scheme.

Company

2012
Equity-Settled 

Number of
 options in thousands

2011
Equity-Settled 

Number of
 options in thousands

outstanding at start of year 41 36
granted during the period 13 18
exercised during the period (19) (11)
forfeited during the period – (2)

 
outstanding at end of year 35 41

 

exercisable at end of year 1 –
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31. Share-Based Payments (Cont’d.)

(b) Deferred Share Bonus Scheme (cont’d.)

the weighted average British American tobacco p.l.c. share price at the date of exercise for share options 
exercised during the period was £32.05 (2011: £24.60) for equity-settled options.

the outstanding shares for the year ended 31 december 2012 had a weighted average contractual life of 1.3 
years (2011: 1.2 years) for the equity-settled scheme.

(c) Other Schemes

 ESOS

 Group
 the number of outstanding equity-settled options at the end of the year were 9,709 (2011: 9,709).

 Company
 the esos scheme was last awarded in 2004 and the final outstanding awards must be exercised by march 

2014. the number of outstanding equity-settled options at the end of the year were 2,538 (2011: 2,538).

 SRS and ISRS

 Group
 the number of outstanding shares at the end of the year for the international share reward scheme were 

1,804 (2011: 3,142).

 Company
 the number of outstanding shares at the end of the year for the international share reward scheme were 

566 (2011: 820).

 Valuation Assumptions

Assumptions used in the Black-scholes models to determine the fair value of share options at grant date were 
as follows:

Group and Company

2012 2011 1.1.2011

LTIP DSBS LTIP DSBS LTIP DSBS

expected volatility (%) 26.0 26.0 25.0 25.0 25.0 25.0
Average expected term to exercise (years) 3.5 3.0 3.5 3.0 3.5 3.0
risk-free rate (%) 0.7 0.6 2.0 1.8 2.1 1.8
expected dividend yield (%) 3.9 3.9 4.8 4.8 4.4 4.4
share price at date of grant (£) 32.08 32.08 23.77 23.77 22.58 22.58
fair value at grant date (£) 21.79 28.50 15.60 20.58 15.62 19.78
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31. Share-Based Payments (Cont’d.)

(c) Other Schemes (cont’d.)

market condition features were incorporated into the monte-carlo models for the total shareholder return 
elements of the ltip, in determining fair value at grant date. Assumptions used in these models were as 
follows:

Group and Company

2012 2011 1.1.2011
% % %

Average share price volatility ftse 100 comparator group 39.0 40.0 38.0
Average share price volatility fmcg comparator group 26.0 26.0 25.0
Average correlation ftse 100 comparator group 38.0 39.0 37.0
Average correlation fmcg comparator group 36.0 35.0 33.0

fair values determined from the Black-scholes and monte-carlo models use assumptions revised at the end of 
each reporting period for cash-settled share-based payment arrangements.

the expected British American tobacco p.l.c share price volatility was determined taking account of the return 
index, (the share price index plus the dividend reinvested) over a five year period. the respective fmcg and 
ftse 100 share price volatility and correlations were also determined over the same periods. the average 
expected term to exercise used in the models has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for 
the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural conditions, forfeiture and historical 
experience.

the risk-free rate has been determined from market yield curves for government gilts with outstanding terms 
equal to the average expected term to exercise for each relevant grant. the expected dividend yield was 
determined by calculating the yield from the last two declared dividends divided by the grant share price.

in addition to these valuation assumptions, ltip awards contain earnings per share performance conditions. As 
these are non-market performance conditions they are not included in the determination of fair value of share 
options at the grant date, however they are used to estimate the number of awards expected to vest. this 
payout calculation is based on expectations published in analysts’ forecasts.
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32. Transition from FRS to MFRS

(a) MFRS 1 Mandatory Exceptions

(i) MFRS Estimates

mfrs estimates as at transition date are consistent with the estimates as at the same date made in 
conformity with frs.

(ii) Hedge Accounting

hedge accounting can only be applied prospectively from the transition date to a hedging relationship 
that qualifies for hedge accounting under mfrs 139 ‘financial instruments: recognition and measurement’ 
at that date. hedging relationships cannot be designated retrospectively.

(iii) De-recognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities

for all non-derivative financial assets and liabilities de-recognised before the transition date, mfrs 139 
de-recognition requirements can be applied prospectively from the transition date.

(b) MFRS 1 Exemption Options

(i) Exemption for Previous Revaluation as Deemed Cost – Property, Plant and Equipment

in accordance with the exemption in mfrs 1, the group elected to measure certain land and buildings 
at the previous revaluation as deemed cost as at the date of revaluation. Accordingly, the carrying amount 
of these land and buildings have not been restated.

there is no material impact to the group and company at the date of transition as there were no material 
assets which had been previously revalued and has used the iAs 16 transitional provisions.

(ii) Exemption for Deemed Cost – Investment in Subsidiaries

in accordance with the exemption in mfrs 1, the group and company elected to measure certain 
investment in subsidiaries at carrying amount as at transition date as their deemed cost as at that date.

this has no impact to the group and company as investments in subsidiaries are all carried at cost 
previously.

(iii) Designation of Previously Recognised Financial Instruments

mfrs 1 permits a previously recognised financial instrument to be designated as available for sale or fair 
value through profit or loss on the transition date provided the criteria in mfrs 139 ‘financial instruments: 
recognition and measurement’ are met.

the group and company does not intend to re-designate any previously recognised financials instruments 
at date of transition.
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32. Transition from FRS to MFRS (Cont’d.)

(b) MFRS 1 Exemption Options (cont’d.)

(iv) Exemption for Employee Benefits

 mfrs 1 provides retrospective relief from applying mfrs 119 ‘employee Benefits’, in respect of the 
recognition of actuarial gains and losses. the group elected to recognise all cumulative actuarial gains 
and losses that existed at its transition date as liability in opening retained earnings for all its employee 
benefit plans.

 this has no impact on the group and on the company as both the group and company applies full 
adjustment of actuarial gains and losses to other comprehensive income prior to mfrs adoption.

(v) Share Based Payment Transactions

 the group operates a number of equity-settled, share-based compensation plan under which the entity 
receives services from employees as consideration for equity instruments (options) of the group. the fair 
value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of the options is recognised as an 
expense. the total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the options 
granted:

(i) including any market performance conditions;
(ii) excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting conditions; and
(iii) excluding the impact of any non-vesting conditions.

 the group and company also elect to apply other optional exemptions listed below from the full 
retrospective application of mfrs to facilitate transitioning to mfrs:

• insurance contracts.
• leases.
• Borrowing cost.
• impairment of assets.

 the above have no impact to the group.

(c) Explanation of Transition from FRSs to MFRSs

the transition from frs to mfrs has had no effect on the reconciliation of equity and reconciliation of total 
comprehensive income of the group and of the company and on the reported cash flows generated by the 
group and the company.
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33. Critical Accounting Estimates and Assumptions

estimates and judgements are continually evaluated based on historical experience and relevant factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. the estimates and 
judgements used in preparing the financial statements that have a significant effect on the carrying amount of 
assets and liabilities are as follows:

(i) Impairment of Goodwill

 the carrying amount of goodwill is reviewed for impairment, annually as well as more frequently if events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. this requires an estimation of the 
value-in-use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill is allocated. estimating the value-in-use requires 
the group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating units and also to 
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. the carrying amount 
of goodwill is disclosed in note 12.

(ii) Income Taxes

 current tax expense is determined according to the tax laws of the jurisdiction in which the group operates 
and include all taxes based upon the taxable profits. significant estimation is involved in determining the 
provision for income taxes. there are certain transactions and computations for which the ultimate tax 
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. the group recognises liabilities for expected 
tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. where the final tax outcome of these 
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recognised, such differences will impact the income 
tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

(iii) Deferred Tax

 deferred tax assets and liabilities are provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences 
arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amount in the financial statements. 
significant management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be 
recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning 
strategies. the carrying amount of deferred tax is disclosed in note 14.

(iv) Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment

 property, plant and equipment is reviewed for impairment losses whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that carrying amount may not be recoverable. impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which 
the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount. the recoverable amount is the higher of fair 
value less cost to sell and its value-in-use.

 likewise, when the conditions for impairment no longer exist after considering indications from both external 
and internal sources, a writeback on the assets values will be performed.

(v) Depreciation of Machinery and Equipment

 machinery and equipment are depreciated on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives. the group 
estimates the useful lives of these machinery and equipment to be within 10 to 14 years. changes in the 
expected level of usage and technological developments may result in the change of economic useful lives and 
the residual values of these assets, effecting a revision of future depreciation charges.

(vi) Provision of Retirement Benefit Obligations

 provision of retirement benefit obligations is determined using actuarial valuation prepared by an independent 
actuary. the actuarial valuation involved making assumptions including expected turnover, mortality and 
disability experiences of the current scheme members, discount rate, rate of return scheme assets, salary 
increase rate and normal retirement age.
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Supplementary Information Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements

Realised and Unrealised Profit/(Loss)

the following analysis of realised and unrealised retained profits/(accumulated losses) at the legal entity level is prepared 
in accordance with guidance on special matter no. 1, determination of realised and unrealised profits or losses in the 
context of disclosure pursuant to Bursa malaysia securities Berhad listing requirements, as issued by the malaysian 
institute of Accountants whilst the disclosure at the group level is based on the prescribed format by the Bursa malaysia 
securities Berhad.

Group Company

Financial
year ended

31.12.12
RM’000

Financial
year ended

31.12.11
RM’000

Financial
year ended

31.12.12
RM’000

Financial
year ended

31.12.11
RM’000

total retained profits of British American
  tobacco (malaysia) Berhad and its subsidiaries
– realised profits 525,882 494,238 145,897 162,731
– unrealised (loss)/profits (16,608) (36,321) 4,976 1,244
less: consolidation adjustments (167,668) (168,705) – –

total retained profits 341,606 289,212 150,873 163,975

the unrealised portion within unappropriated profits (retained earnings) for the group as at 31 december 2012 
predominantly relates to net deferred tax liability of rm15,428,000 (2011: rm22,154,000) and provisions for non-
material litigation of rm1,655,000 (2011: rm12,727,000).

the consolidation adjustments recognised for the group mainly relate to accumulated goodwill amortisation recognised 
from years 2000 to 2005.

the unrealised portion within unappropriated profits (retained earnings) for the company as at 31 december 2012 
predominantly relates to net deferred tax asset of rm5,564,000 (2011: rm4,349,000) and provisions for non-material 
litigation of rm1,665,000 (2011: rm1,665,000).

the disclosure of realised and unrealised profits/(losses) above is solely for compliance with the directive issued by the 
Bursa malaysia securities Berhad and should not be used for any other purpose.
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Share Capital

Authorised share capital : rm385,000,000 comprising 770,000,000 ordinary shares of rm0.50 each
issued and fully Paid-up share capital : rm142,765,000 comprising 285,530,000 ordinary shares of rm0.50 each
Voting rights : one vote per ordinary share

Distribution of Shareholdings

(without aggregating the securities from different securities account belonging to the same depositor)

Size of shareholdings
Number of

shareholders
% of

shareholders
Number of
shares held

% of
issued shares

1 – 99 608 13.257 9,575 0.003

100 – 1,000 2,228 48.582 987,445 0.345

1,001 – 10,000 1,209 26.362 4,685,157 1.640

10,001 – 100,000 400 8.722 12,511,722 4.381

100,001 – 14,276,499* 139 3.030 109,599,001 38.384

14,276,500 and above** 2 0.043 157,737,100 55.243

Total 4,586 100.000 285,530,000 100.000

Notes:
* less than 5% of issued shares
** 5% and above of issued shares

Directors’ Direct Interests in Shares in the Company

Name
Number of
shares held

% of
issued shares

datuk oh chong peng 1,000 0.00*

James richard suttie 1,500 0.00*

dato’ chan choon ngai 1,000 0.00*

Directors’ Indirect Interests in Shares in the Company

Name
Number of
shares held

% of
issued shares

dato’ chan choon ngai 6,000 0.00*

Note:
* less than 0.01%

Analysis of shareholdings
As at 1 march 2013
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Substantial Shareholders Based on the Register of Substantial Shareholders

Name
Number of
shares held

% of
issued shares

British American tobacco holdings (malaysia) B.v. 142,765,000 50.000

Amanahraya trustees Berhad
– Skim Amanah Saham Bumiputera 14,972,100 5.243

Top 30 Securities Account Holders

(without aggregating the securities from different securities accounts belonging to the same depositor)

No Name
Number of
shares held

% of
issued shares

1 British American tobacco holdings (malaysia) B.v. 142,765,000 50.000

2 Amanahraya trustees Berhad
– Skim Amanah Saham Bumiputera

14,972,100 5.243

3 citigroup nominees (tempatan) sdn Bhd
– Employees Provident Fund Board

13,614,502 4.768

4 kumpulan wang persaraan (diperbadankan) 7,731,100 2.707

5 cartaban nominees (Asing) sdn Bhd
– SSBT Fund 4545 For Lazard Emerging Markets Portfolio

6,121,600 2.143

6 valuecap sdn Bhd 5,888,600 2.062

7 hsBc nominees (Asing) sdn Bhd
– BNP Paribas Secs SVS Lux For Aberdeen Global

4,977,320 1.743

8 cartaban nominees (Asing) sdn Bhd
– Exempt An For State Street Bank & Trust Company (West CLT OD67)

4,124,085 1.444

9 Amanahraya trustees Berhad
– Amanah Saham Malaysia

4,000,000 1.400

10 malaysia nominees (tempatan) sendirian Berhad
– Great Eastern Life Assurance (Malaysia) Berhad (Par 1)

3,801,100 1.331

11 hsBc nominees (Asing) sdn Bhd
– BBH And Co Boston for Vanguard Emerging Markets Stock Index Fund

2,861,187 1.002

12 hsBc nominees (Asing) sdn Bhd
– Exempt An For JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association (U.S.A.)

2,552,100 0.893

13 hsBc nominees (Asing) sdn Bhd
– Exempt An For JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association (U.K.)

2,238,088 0.783

14 citigroup nominees (tempatan) sdn Bhd
– Exempt An For American International Assurance Berhad

2,113,500 0.740

15 hsBc nominees (Asing) sdn Bhd
– BNP Paribas Secs SVS Paris For Aberdeen Asia Pacific Fund

1,750,900 0.613
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No Name
Number of
shares held

% of
issued shares

16 hsBc nominees (Asing) sdn Bhd
– BNYM SA/NV For Virtus Emerging Markets Opportunities Fund

1,735,000 0.607

17 hsBc nominees (Asing) sdn Bhd
– Exempt An For The Bank Of New York Mellon (Mellon Acct)

1,508,211 0.528

18 hsBc nominees (Asing) sdn Bhd
– Exempt An For JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association (U.A.E.)

1,347,355 0.471

19 cartaban nominees (Asing) sdn Bhd
–  Government Of Singapore Investment Corporation Pte Ltd For Government of 

Singapore (C)

1,228,400 0.430

20 hsBc nominees (Asing) sdn Bhd
– Exempt An For JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association (JPMFunds)

1,223,600 0.428

21 cartaban nominees (Asing) sdn Bhd
– State Street London Fund OD75 For Ishares Public Limited Company

1,125,500 0.394

22 cartaban nominees (Asing) sdn Bhd
– Exempt An For RBC Investor Services Trust (Clients Account)

984,700 0.344

23 cartaban nominees (Asing) sdn Bhd
– RBC Investor Services Banks For Vontobel Fund - Emerging Markets Equity

960,400 0.336

24 cartaban nominees (tempatan) sdn Bhd
– Exempt An For Eastspring Investments Berhad

897,700 0.314

25 Amanahraya trustees Berhad
– As 1Malaysia

894,300 0.313

26 hsBc nominees (Asing) sdn Bhd
– Exempt An For BNP Paribas Securities Services (Jersey GBP)

889,800 0.311

27 cartaban nominees (Asing) sdn Bhd
– State Street Australia Fund 7FAF For Monetary Authority of Singapore

877,000 0.307

28 citigroup nominees (Asing) sdn Bhd
– CBNY For AGF Emerging Markets Fund

837,994 0.293

29 hsBc nominees (Asing) sdn Bhd
–  Pictet and CIE for Pictet Global Selection Fund - Global High Yield Emerging 

Equities Fund

782,000 0.273

30 citigroup nominees (Asing) sdn Bhd
– CBHK For Kuwait Investment Authority (Fund 221)

780,000 0.273

Total 235,583,142 82.507
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The properties held by the Group and Company at 28 February 2012 are as follows:-

 Location

Date of
purchase/

last
Revaluation Usage

Approx.
age of

building
(years)

Land/
Built-up

area
(square
metres)

Net Book
Value

RM’000

Freehold

no. 36A, Jalan lengkok canning, 
ipoh garden, ipoh, perak

30.11.1989 shop and
office

24 143.07 80

no. A79, Jalan telok sisek,
kuantan, pahang

28.4.1994 shop and
office

21 110.59 210

Leasehold

lots 122 and 124,
Jalan universiti,
petaling Jaya, selangor
(99 year leases expiring on
8.4.2062 and 29.9.2060 respectively)

30.9.1961 factory,
office and

store

51 46,905.44 66,588

lots p.t 683-685, 687-689
mukim panchor, district kemumin,
kawasan perindustrian pengkalan 
chepa ii, kota Bharu, kelantan
(66 year lease expiring 25.7.2048)

26.7.1982 industrial 
land, store 
and office

25 29,952.00 4,552

no. 2, Jalan foochow,
kuching, sarawak
(999 year lease expiring 31.12.2923)

3.10.1991 shop and
office

23 156.10 170

no. 120, Jalan semangat,
petaling Jaya, selangor
(99 year lease expiring 12.7.2061)

24.5.1993 office and
store

37 6,119.00 4,737

lot 1, Block A, hong tong centre,
miles 4, penampang,
kota kinabalu, sabah
(99 year lease expiring 31.12.2080)

30.9.1999 shop and
office

19 136.56 397

no. 8, Jalan melaka raya 13,
taman melaka raya, melaka
(99 year lease expiring 7.7.2093)

30.3.1996 shop and
office

18 143.00 275

Particulars of properties
As at 28 february 2013
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Head office

British AMericAn toBAcco 
(MAlAysiA) BerhAd
(company no. 4372-m)

virginia park
Jalan universiti
46200 petaling Jaya
selangor darul ehsan
tel : +60 (3) 7956 6899/7491 7100
fax : +60 (3) 7955 8416

Factory

toBAcco iMPorters And 
MAnufActurers sdn. BerhAd
(company no. 4414-u)

virginia park
Jalan universiti
46200 petaling Jaya
selangor darul ehsan
tel : +60 (3) 7956 6899/7491 7100
fax : +60 (3) 7955 8416

Branch offices

coMMerciAl MArKeters And 
distriButors sdn. Bhd.
(company no. 42316-t)

Pulau Pinang
no. 50 weld Quay
10300 penang
tel : +60 (4) 261 8840
fax : +60 (4) 261 8799

Ipoh
no. 120, Jalan silibin
30000 ipoh, perak
tel : +60 (5) 528 7680/528 7689
fax : +60 (5) 528 7648

Kuala Lumpur
unit no. BB1-1
Jalan shamelin niaga 2
shamelin heights Business park
taman shamelin perkasa
56100 kuala lumpur
tel : +60 (3) 9200 8371
fax : +60 (3) 9200 8370

Selangor
no. 3, Jalan industri pBp3
taman perindustrian 
pusat Bandar puchong
47100 puchong
selangor
tel : +60 (3) 5891 9888
fax : +60 (3) 5891 9882

Melaka
12, Jalan Abadi 3
taman malim Jaya
75250 melaka
tel : +60 (6) 337 6593/336 5435
fax : +60 (6) 335 6449

Johor Bahru
no. 4 Jalan Asas
larkin industrial estate
80350 Johor Bahru, Johor
tel : +60 (7) 232 0412
fax : +60 (7) 238 6208

Kuantan
pt64561 Jalan im 3/15
kawasan perindustrian ringan
Bandar indera mahkota
25200 kuantan, pahang
tel : +60 (9) 573 7831/573 8373
fax : +60 (9) 573 3484

Kota Bharu
lot pt 1453 & 1454, 1st floor
kawasan perindustrian  
pengkalan chepa 2
seksyen 39 kemumin
16100 kota Bharu, kelantan
tel : +60 (9) 773 8831/773 8873
fax : +60 (9) 773 8968

Kota Kinabalu
lot 1, Block A hong tong centre
mile 4, penampang
p.o. Box 11236
88813 kota kinabalu, sabah
tel : +60 (88) 722 628/722 629
fax : +60 (88) 722 630

Kuching
lot 8943, section 64, ktld
no. 2, Jalan foochow
93300 kuching, sarawak
tel : +60 (82) 481 884/481 886
fax : +60 (82) 335 490

Leaf Office

the leAf toBAcco 
deVeloPMent corPorAtion of 
MAlAyA sdn. Bhd.
(company no. 4998-p)

Kota Bharu
lot no. 2952
kawasan perindustrian
pengkalan chepa ii
Jalan padang tembak
16100 kota Bharu, kelantan
tel : +60 (9) 774 7400/774 7434
fax : +60 (9) 773 5855

corporate directory
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notice of Annual General Meeting

As ordinary business

1. to receive the Audited financial statements for the 
financial year ended 31 december 2012 and the 
reports of the directors and Auditors thereon.

 ordinary resolution 1

2. to re-elect the following directors who retire by 
rotation in accordance with Articles 97(1) and (2) of 
the company’s Articles of Association:

(a) datuk william toh Ah wah
 ordinary resolution 2

(b) James richard suttie
 ordinary resolution 3

(c) Andreas michael thompson
 ordinary resolution 4

3. to re-elect datuk mohamad salim bin fateh din who 
retires in accordance with Article 103 of the 
company’s Articles of Association.
 ordinary resolution 5

4. to re-elect datuk oh chong peng who has served as 
an independent non-executive director of the 
company for a cumulative term of more than nine 
(9) years, to continue to act as an independent non-
executive director of the company.

 ordinary resolution 6

5. to re-appoint messrs. pricewaterhousecoopers as 
Auditors of the company for the financial year ended 
31 december 2013 and to authorise the directors to 
fix their remuneration.

 ordinary resolution 7

As special business
6. to consider and if thought fit, to pass the following 

ordinary resolution:

 ProPosed reneWAl of shAreholders’ 
MAndAte for BAtM And its suBsidiAries to 
enter into recurrent relAted PArty 
trAnsActions of A reVenue or trAdinG 
nAture With relAted PArties (“ProPosed 
reneWAl of recurrent rPts MAndAte”) 

 ordinary resolution 8

 “thAt, recurrent rpt mandate (as defined in the 
circular to shareholders dated 21 march 2013) 
granted by the shareholders of the company pursuant 
to paragraph 10.09 of the main market listing 
requirements of Bursa malaysia securities Berhad 
authorising the company and/or its subsidiaries 
(British American tobacco malaysia group) to enter 
into recurrent related party transactions of a revenue 
or trading nature (recurrent rpts) of British American 
tobacco malaysia group with related parties (as 
defined in the main market listing requirements of 
Bursa malaysia securities Berhad) as set out in 
paragraph 2.2 and Appendix ii of the circular to 
shareholders dated 21 march 2013 which are 
necessary for the British American tobacco malaysia 
group’s day-to-day operations, be and is hereby 
renewed provided that:

(i) the transactions are in the ordinary course of 
business and on normal commercial terms which 
are not more favourable to the related parties 
than those generally available to the public and 
are not to the detriment of the minority 
shareholders of the company; and 

(ii) disclosure of the aggregate value of the 
transactions conducted during a financial year 
will be made in the annual report for the said 
financial year,

And thAt the authority conferred by such renewed 
mandate shall continue to be in force until:

(i) the conclusion of the next Annual general 
meeting (Agm) of the company following the 
Agm at which the proposed renewal of the 
recurrent rpts mandate is approved, at which 
time it will lapse, unless by a resolution passed 
at the next Agm, the mandate is again renewed; 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN thAt the fifty-
second AnnuAl generAl meeting of British 
AmericAn toBAcco (mAlAysiA) BerhAd (“BAtm” 
or the “compAny”) will Be held At kristAl 
BAllroom, hilton petAling JAyA, no. 2 JAlAn 
BArAt, 46200 petAling JAyA, selAngor dArul 
ehsAn on wednesdAy, 17 April 2013 At 11.00 
A.m. for the following purposes:
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(ii) the expiration of the period within which the next 
Agm of the company after the forthcoming Agm is 
required to be held pursuant to section 143(1) of the 
companies Act, 1965 (but must not extend to such 
extension as may be allowed pursuant to section 
143(2) of the companies Act, 1965); or 

(iii) revoked or varied by resolution passed by the 
shareholders in general meeting, 

whichever is earlier;

And thAt, the directors of the company be and hereby 
authorised to complete and do all such acts and things as 
they may consider expedient or necessary in the best 
interest of the company (including executing all such 
documents as may be required) to give effect to the 
proposed renewal of recurrent rpts mandate.”

By Order of the Board

CHAN MEI MAE
ls0009460
Secretary

petaling Jaya
21 march 2013

Notes:
1. only members whose names appear in the record of 

depositors as at 9 April 2013 (general meeting record of 
depositors) shall be eligible to attend the meeting or 
appoint proxy(ies) to attend and vote on his/her behalf.

2. A proxy need not be a member and the provision of section 
149(1)(b) of the companies Act, 1965 shall not apply to the 
company.

3. A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is 
entitled to appoint not more than two (2) proxies to attend 
and vote on his/her behalf. where a member appoints two 
(2) proxies, the appointment shall be invalid unless the 
percentage of the shareholding to be represented by each 
proxy is specified.

4. where a member of the company is an exempt authorised 
nominee which holds ordinary shares in the company for 
multiple beneficial owners in one securities account 
(“omnibus Account”), there is no limit to the number of 
proxies which the exempt authorised nominees may appoint 
in respect of each omnibus Account it holds. An exempt 
authorised nominee refers to an authorised nominee defined 
under the central depositories Act which is exempted from 
compliance with the provisions of subsection 25A(1) of the 
central depositories Act. 

5. the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be 
under the hand of the appointer or of his attorney duly 
authorised in writing. where the instrument appointing a 
proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be 
executed either under its seal or under the hand of any 
officer or attorney duly authorised.

6. if there is no indication as to how a member wishes his/her 
vote to be cast, the proxy will vote or abstain from voting 
at his/her discretion. in the event a member duly executes 
the form of proxy but does not name any proxy, such 
member shall be deemed to have appointed the chairman 
of the meeting as his/her proxy.

7. the original form of proxy must be duly executed and 
deposited at the registrar of the company at tricor investor 
services sdn Bhd, level 17, the gardens north tower, mid 
valley city, lingkaran syed putra, 59200 kuala lumpur not 
less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time set for 
holding the meeting or any adjourned meeting thereof.

8. Registration of Members/Proxies
 registration of members/proxies attending the meeting will 

commence at 9.00 a.m. on the day of the meeting and will 
close at 11.00 a.m. sharp. members/proxies are required to 
produce identification documents for registration.

9. Explanatory Notes on Special Business
 Recurrent Related Party Transactions Mandate

 proposed ordinary resolution 8, if passed, will enable British 
American tobacco malaysia group to enter into any of the 
recurrent related party transactions of a revenue or trading 
nature which are necessary for the British American tobacco 
malaysia group’s day-to-day operations, subject to the 
transactions being in the ordinary course of business and on 
normal commercial terms which are not more favourable to 
the related parties than those generally available to the 
public and are not to the detriment of the minority 
shareholders of the company.

 further information on the proposed renewal of the 
recurrent rpts mandate is set out in the circular to 
shareholders dated 21 march 2013, which is despatched 
together with the company’s 2012 Abridged Annual report.
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Registration

1. registration will start at 9.00 a.m. at the entrance of 
kristal Ballroom and will close at 11.00 a.m. sharp. 

2. please read the signage to ascertain which registration 
table you should approach to register yourself for the 
meeting and join the queue accordingly.

3. please produce your original identity card (ic) to the 
registration staff for verification. please make sure you 
collect your ic thereafter.

4. upon verification, you are required to write your 
name and sign on the Attendance list placed on the 
registration table.

5. you will be given a security sticker and no person will 
be allowed to enter the meeting room without the 
security sticker. there will be no replacement in the 
event that you lose or misplace the security sticker.

6. After registration, please leave the registration area 
immediately and proceed to kristal Ballroom.

7. you are not allowed to register on behalf of another 
person even with the original ic of the other person.

8. the registration counter only handles verification and 
registration. you may proceed to the help desk for 
any clarification or queries.

Entitlement to Attend and Vote

9. only members whose names appear in the record of 
depositors as at 5.00 p.m. on 9 April 2013  
(general meeting record of depositors) shall be 
entitled to attend and vote at the Annual general 
meeting in respect of the number of shares registered 
in their name at that time.

Proxy

10. if you are a member of the company at the time set 
out above, you are entitled to appoint not more than 
two (2) proxies to exercise all or any of your rights to 
attend, speak and vote at the Annual general meeting.

11. where a member of the company is an exempt 
authorised nominee which holds ordinary shares in 
the company for multiple beneficial owners in one 
securities account (“omnibus Account”), there is no 
limit to the number of proxies which the exempt 
authorised nominees may appoint in respect of each 
omnibus Account it holds. An exempt authorised 
nominee refers to an authorised nominee defined 
under the central depositories Act which is exempted 
from compliance with the provisions of subsection 
25A(1) of the central depositories Act.

12. to appoint a proxy, the original form of proxy which 
is attached together with the company’s 2012 
Abridged Annual report must be completed and 
signed, sent and delivered to the company’s share 
registrar, tricor investor services sdn. Bhd. at level 
17, the gardens north tower, mid valley city, 
lingkaran syed putra, 59200 kuala lumpur by 15 April 
2013 at 11.00 a.m.

13. in the case of a member which is a company, the 
form of proxy must be executed either under its seal 
or under the hand of any officer or attorney duly 
authorised. 

Administrative details for British American tobacco Malaysia 
fifty-second Annual General Meeting

dAte : 17 APril 2013
tiMe : 11.00 A.M.
PlAce : KristAl BAllrooM, hilton PetAlinG JAyA, no. 2 JAlAn BArAt, 
  46200 PetAlinG JAyA, selAnGor dArul ehsAn
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Revocation of Proxy

14. if you wish to appoint a proxy, please note that a 
proxy may be revoked by:-

i. attendance of the appointer at the Annual 
general meeting and exercising his/her voting 
rights at the Annual general meeting personally 
will automatically revokes the proxy;

ii. notice of revocation of the form of proxy or the 
authority served by 15 April 2013 at 11.00 a.m.;

iii. appointing new proxy by depositing a new form 
of proxy in favour of another person by 15 April 
2013 at 11.00 a.m.; and 

iv. transfer of shares by the appointer.

Corporate Member

15. Any corporate member who wishes to appoint a 
representative instead of a proxy to attend this Annual 
general meeting should lodge the certificate of 
appointment under the seal of the corporation, at the 
office of the company’s share registrar, tricor 
investor services sdn. Bhd. at level 17, the gardens 
north tower, mid valley city, lingkaran syed putra, 
59200 kuala lumpur by 15 April 2013 at 11.00 a.m.

Annual Report 2012

16. the Annual report 2012 is available on Bursa 
malaysia’s website at www.bursamalaysia.com under 
company Announcements and also at the British 
American tobacco malaysia’s website at www.
batmalaysia.com

Enquiry

17. if you have general queries prior to the meeting, 
please contact the British American tobacco malaysia 
legal and secretarial department at 603-74917100 or 
the following person during office hours:

 name : ms. lim lay kiow
 share registrar : tricor investor services sdn. Bhd. 
 telephone number : 603 – 2264 3883

BRITISH AMERICAN TOBACCO (MALAYSIA) BERHAD
annual report 2012
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i/we  (nric/passport/co. no.: )
(name as per nric/passport/certificate of incorporation in capital letters)

of 
(full Address)

being a member/members of BRITISH AMERICAN TOBACCO (MALAYSIA) BERHAD, do hereby appoint 

 (nric/passport no.: )
(name as per nric/passport in capital letters)

of 
(full Address)

and/or failing him/her  (nric/passport no.: ) 
(name as per nric/passport in capital letters)

of 
(full Address)

or failing him/her, the chairman of the meeting as my/our proxy/proxies to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the fifty-second 
Annual general meeting of the company, to be held at kristal Ballroom, hilton petaling Jaya, no. 2 Jalan Barat, 46200 petaling Jaya, 
selangor darul ehsan on wednesday, 17 April 2013 at 11.00 a.m., and at any adjournment thereof.

my/our proxy/proxies shall vote as follows:
(Please indicate with an “X” in the spaces provided below how you wish your votes to be cast on the resolutions specified in the notice of meeting.  
If you do not do so, your proxy/proxies will vote or abstain as he/she may think fit)

 Resolutions For Against

ordinary 
resolution 1

to receive the Audited financial statements for the financial year ended 31 december 2012 
and the reports of the directors and Auditors thereon.

ordinary 
resolution 2

re-elect datuk william toh Ah wah who retires by rotation in accordance with Articles 97 
(1) and (2) of the company’s Articles of Association.

ordinary 
resolution 3

re-elect James richard suttie who retires by rotation in accordance with Articles 97 (1) and 
(2) of the company’s Articles of Association.

ordinary
resolution 4

re-elect Andreas michael thompson who retires by rotation in accordance with Articles 97 
(1) and (2) of the company’s Articles of Association.

ordinary
resolution 5

re-elect datuk mohamad salim bin fateh din who retires in accordance with Article 103 of 
the company’s Articles of Association.

ordinary
resolution 6

re-elect datuk oh chong peng who has served as an independent non-executive director 
of the company for a cumulative term of more than nine (9) years, to continue to act as 
an independent non-executive director of the company.

ordinary
resolution 7

re-appoint messrs. pricewaterhousecoopers as Auditors of the company for the financial year 
ending 31 december 2013 and to authorise the directors to fix their remuneration.

ordinary
resolution 8

proposed renewal of shareholders’ mandate for British American tobacco (malaysia) Berhad 
and its subsidiaries to enter into recurrent related party transactions of a revenue or trading 
nature with related parties.

dated this ________________ day of ________________ 2013.

signature(s) of member(s)/common seal

form of Proxy
British AMericAn toBAcco (MAlAysiA) BerhAd
(company no. 4372-m)
(incorporated in malaysia)

for appointment of two proxies, percentage of 
shareholdings to be represented by the proxies:

no. of shares Percentage

proxy 1

proxy 2

totAl 100

cds Account no.



please fold here to seal

please fold here to seal

The Share Registrar
Tricor Investor Services Sdn Bhd
(Company No. 118401-V)
level 17, the gardens north tower
mid valley city, lingkaran syed putra
59200 kuala lumpur, malaysia

affix
postage
stamp

Notes:

1. only members whose names appear in the record of depositors as at 9 April 
2013 (general meeting record of depositors) shall be eligible to attend the 
meeting or appoint proxy(ies) to attend and vote on his/her behalf.

2. A proxy need not be a member and the provision of section 149(1)(b) of the 
companies Act, 1965 shall not apply to the company.

3. A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint not 
more than two (2) proxies to attend and vote on his/her behalf. where a 
member appoints two (2) proxies, the appointment shall be invalid unless the 
percentage of the shareholding to be represented by each proxy is specified.

4. where a member of the company is an exempt authorised nominee which 
holds ordinary shares in the company for multiple beneficial owners in one 
securities account (“omnibus Account”), there is no limit to the number of 
proxies which the exempt authorised nominees may appoint in respect of each 
omnibus Account it holds. An exempt authorised nominee refers to an 
authorised nominee defined under the central depositories Act which is 
exempted from compliance with the provisions of subsection 25A(1) of the 
central depositories Act.

5. the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the 
appointer or of his attorney duly authorised in writing. where the instrument 
appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed 
either under its seal or under the hand of any officer or attorney duly authorised.

6. if there is no indication as to how a member wishes his/her vote to be cast, the 
proxy will vote or abstain from voting at his/her discretion. in the event a 

member duly executes the form of proxy but does not name any proxy, such 
member shall be deemed to have appointed the chairman of the meeting as 
his/her proxy.

7. the original form of proxy must be duly executed and deposited at the 
registrar of the company at tricor investor services sdn Bhd, level 17, the 
gardens north tower, mid valley city, lingkaran syed putra, 59200 kuala 
lumpur not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time set for holding the 
meeting or any adjourned meeting thereof.

8. Registration of Members/Proxies

 registration of members/proxies attending the meeting will commence at 9.00 a.m. 
on the day of the meeting and will close at 11.00 a.m. sharp. members/proxies are 
required to produce identification documents for registration.

9. Explanatory Notes on Special Business

 Recurrent Related Party Transactions Mandate
 proposed ordinary resolution 8, if passed, will enable British American tobacco 

malaysia group to enter into any of the recurrent related party transactions of 
a revenue or trading nature which are necessary for the British American 
tobacco malaysia group’s day-to-day operations, subject to the transactions 
being in the ordinary course of business and on normal commercial terms which 
are not more favourable to the related parties than those generally available to 
the public and are not to the detriment of the minority shareholders of the 
company.

 further information on the proposed renewal of the recurrent rpts mandate is  
set out in the circular to shareholders dated 21 march 2013, which is 
despatched together with the company’s 2012 Abridged Annual report.
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